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INTRODUCTION 

I, the Chairman of the Public Accounts Committee, as autharirred 
by the Committee, do present on their behalf this 'l'wo Hundred and 
Tenth Report of the Public Accounts Committee on paragraph 11 d 
the Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India for the 
year 1973-74, Union Government (Defence services) relating to 
the Expansion Scheme of the Naval Dockyard at Bombay. 

2. The Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India 
for the year 1973-74 Union Government (Defence Services) was 
laid on the Table of the House on 30th April, 1975. The Committee 
examined this Audit Paragraph at  their sittings held on the 11th 
and 12th August, 1975. The Committee considered and flnalised this 
Report at their sitting held on 23rd March, 1976. Minutes of tbe 
sittings form Part 11* of thc Report. 

3. A statement showing the conclusions~recommendatiom of the 
Committee is appended to the Report (Appendix V). For kcility 
of reference these have been printed in thick type in the body of 
the Report. 

4. The Committee place on record their appreciation of the 
assistance rendered to them in the examination of the Audit Report 
by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India. 

5. The Committee would like to expre5s their thanks to the 
officers oi the Mhistry of Defence and the Ministry of Law for the 
cooperation extended by them in giving illformation to the 
Committee. 

Match 3Oth, 1976. 
Chcritra 10, 1898 (Saka). 

Chairman, 
Public Account Committee. 

- 
*Not printed. (One cvclos$ed copy hid on the Table of the 

House and five copies placed in the Parliament Library). 
(v) 



PRELIMINARY OBSERVATIONS 

Audit paragraph 

1.1. A scheme for the expansion of a Naval Dockyard which war. 
initiated in 1949, based on the Project Report drawn up by a foreign 
firm of consulting engineers, has been in operation since 1952 and is 
being implemented in two stages. The main items of work included' 
in these Stages were as under: - 

(a) Construction of cruiser graving dock and ancillaries. 
(b) Construction of frigate wharf and boat wharf and 

ancillaries. 
(c) Modificabion to the existing breakwater. 
(d) Constntction of barrack wharves, destroyer wharves, boat 

pond wall, dredging, reclamation, roads, railways etc. and 
ancillaries. 

(e) Construction of a patent slipway with an electrical winch 
and ancillaries. 

( f )  Extension of a pier and ancillaries. 

(a)  Construction of public mound (root of south breakwater) 
and protective retaining bund, south breakwater and deep 
water wharf and drdging. 

(b) Capital dredging and reclamation. 

(e) Construction of fitting out wharf and associated rock 
dredging. 

fFbmgraph 11 of the Report of the Comptroller & Auditor General 
of India: for the year 1973-74, Union Government (Defence 

Services) 3 



2 
AHistoriCal brckground 

1.2. The histary of the Naval Dockyard at  Bombay can be trace& 
back to the days of the Maratha Empire of Angre in the early 16th 
century when small vessels used to harbour in the creeks of Kalyan 
and Thana. As the ships increased in size and draught, the port 
facilities were shifted to the Customs basins in the present Dockyard. 
In 1670, a Senior Naval Architect had been deputed from the United 
Kingdom to be associated with a shipbuilding programme contem- 
platerl for the defence of the port. In 1735, the Naval Dockyard 
was established, followed by a glorious period of shipbuildhg 
activity in the Dockyard and a simultaneous expansion of its docking 
and berthing fadlitiee. In a span of about 175 years of its existence) 
as many as 170 ships were built at the Dockyard, which included, 
such well-known vessels of the Royal Navy as HMS Cornwallia, 
HMS Wellesley, HMS Amphitrite, HMS Melville, HMS Malabar, 
'HMS Ganges, HMS Madagascar, HMS Asia and HMS Calcutta. The 
ship building activity of the Dockyard apparently posed a serious 
competition and threat to ship builders in the United Kingdom and 
consequently. the tempo of ship-building was slowed down from 
1850 and all ship-bujlding activities stopped in 1908. Thereafter till 
1930, there was no major development at the' Dockyard which was 
essentially used as a base for the repairs and refit of ships. 

1.3. Explaining the development and growth of Dockyard during 
evidence tendered before the Commiftee, the Director General, 
Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme stated: 

"In 1748 the East India Compmy undertook the construction 
of a dry dock at Bombay to meet the requirements of its 
ships. This dry dock is located at the Naval Dockyard 
and known as Bombay Dry Dock. This dry dock was so 
successful that three other dry docks were built at 
different locations soon afterwards. One of these was the 
Duncan Dry Dock which was built in 1811 next to the 
Bombay Dry Dockyard. In 1846, three covered shipwap 
were built for building ships at Bombay. In 1846, a 
break-water was built to provide sheltered anchora*. 
This collapsed in 1896 and in 19M the present break-water 
was built to replace the old one. In the meantjme, in 
1890, the West Easin and the Torpdo Dry dock wew 
built. Over the period of years, Duncan Dry dock and 
Bombay Dry dock were extended to their mesent size. 
These, toqethcr with the Wet Basin and Torocdo Pry dwk 
and Break-water, continue to give good service to the 
Indian Navy today. 



Whilst India was under the British rule, the responsibility for 
naval defence of India was vested in the Royal Navy; an& 
it was looked after by the British East Indies Fleet b d  
at Triconamalee, in what was then known as CEYLON. 
The Commander-in-Chief of the British East Indies Fleet 
was equated with the Commander-in-Chief, India-who 
was responsible for operations on land--and these two 
Commanders-in-Chief had the honorific 'His Excellency' 
attached to them" 

B. Master Plan for expansion 

1.4. Tracing the growth of the Dockyard, in the post-Independence 
pars, the witness stated: 

"While negotiations for the transfer of power were going on, 
it was clear that responsibility for the maritime defence 
of India would have to be taken over by the Indian Navy. 
In fact, the pre-independent Government had already 
purchased a British. . . . and ordered its modernisation in 
a British Naval yard. She was commissioned as.. . in., 

Three. .... were added to the Indian Navy in . .  . . These 
expandkg requirements of the Navy .needed logistic 
support to maintain and reeair the ships. 

Accordingiy, the Government of India had started general 
discussions soon after independence and in 1949, a British 
firm of consultants, Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners, who 
had experience in building of naval bases and dockyards. 
in Scotland, in Singapore and in Sydney in Australia, was 
engaged; the report of the consultants was received by 
the Government in June 1950. This report envisaged the 
expansion of the Naval Dockyard in five stages.. . This 
was a master plan." 

1.5. According to the information furnished to the Public Accounts 
Committee (1965-66) [vide paragraph 3.16 of the 48th Report (Third 
Lok Sabha) 1, the consultants had recommend~d the expansion of 
the) Dockyard in five stages at a total cost of Rs. 25 crores and 
envisaged that all the work would he cnmrl?eted bv 1960, i.e. 9 years 
after its commencement in 1951. The Pub!lc Accounts Committee 
(1965-66) had also been informed (vide pxa.graph 3.22 ibid) that 
the project was split up into two stages, instead of five 



1.6, As regards the projectioeas made by the conriuttaate for thr 
90111kpletim-i of the project, enquired into by the Committee, the 
Director General, Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme stated: 

"Time-projection by the consultants was 9 years. They gave 
a general idea. They did not give break-up details, but 
they gave a general idea, that this covered a period d 
9 yeum." 

The Defence Secretary stated in this context: 
"The time-projection in the project report is one matter. The 

time-projection which Government had in view is some- 
thing else and this will come out in the course of the 
discussion." 

He added: 

"If I may s u b ~ W  this, the Defence Committee of the Cabinet, 
to whom a Naval Plan paper was submitted in 1948, found 
that the Plan, which the Navy had prepared, was generally 
acceptable, but the implementation was to depend upon 
the availability of resources." 

1.7. Dealing with the various components of the Expansion 
Projett and the periodical progress made in execution, the Director 
General, Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme informed the 
Committee as follows: 

"Adnlinistra-tive sanction for works costing Rs. 5 t  crores was 
h e d  in 1952 which envisaged reclamation of about. . . . 
land, building of roads, railway line, jetties, dredging and 
construction of a dry dock (including minor changes to the 

. existing breakwater). Negotiations were started with the 
Bombay Port Trust and as soon as the necessary lands 
were made available by Bombay Port Trust, the first 
contract of these works was concluded in 1954. This work 
was abandoned by the contractor in 1956 and the work 
was taken over departmentally. 

The other main civil engineering work of this stage was the 
buildixfg of the Cruiser Graving Dock which was entrusted 
to a French firm, at a cost of just under Rs. 3 mm. 

In the meantime, Government had decided to acquire.. . . TO 
meet the requirements of these ships certafn additional 
worb were added to Stage-'I. The works in Stage4 w m V  



aubs@ntially completed in 1966 an& were finally ckm- 
pleted in 1970. 

In September 1964, Government issued administrative 
approval for Stage-I1 which involved reclamation of 
about. . . . of land and construction of a jetty. Extensive 
tests were required to be carried out at the Central Water 
and Power Research Station at  Khadakvasla to ensure 
that reclamation of this land and extension of this jetty 
into the harbour would not upset the stability of the main 
entrance channel in Bombay. At the same time bore- 
holes data ha4 to be collected along the projected align- 
ment of the breakwater which was finalised sometime in 
1963-64." 

'He stated further: 

"It was initially intended that all the civil works of Stage11 
should be put out to contract as one contract. But this 
proved unsuccessful and the work had to be split into 
three parts: Works 'A' which included the constructian 
of the rubble mound breakwater, protective retaining 
bund, south breakwater and the minimum dredging and 
reclamation that was necessary for this work The second 
part of the civil engineering works was Work 'By which 
involve? dredging of soft material in the outer tidal basin 
and the reclamation of the remaining portion of the land. 
This work was to be done departmentally through acqui- 
sition of a suitable dredging equipment from abroad or by 
order on the Indian shipbuilding yards. After  these^ 
works were completed, Work 'C' were to be taken in hand 
either departmentally or by contract. 

Work 'A' were put out to contract in November 1967 and 
were substantially completed in 1973. These works are a 
very fascinating civil engineering construction and I would 
like to dwell for a minute on this particular aspect of the 
works. For the construction of the rubble mound break- 
water, stones upto a size of 4 to 8 tonnes in weight had 
to be brought from a quarry which belonged to the Navy 
across the harbour. . . . The outer layer of the rubble 
mound breakwater had to be not less than 4 tonnes in 
weight so that they should not get dislodged during the 
southwest monsoon. 



(The south breakwater consieted of a number of caissons.). . . . 
These cement concrete caissons were to be constructed in 
a dry dock which was specially built on acres of reclaimed 
land a t  that time right in the middle of the harbour. Each 
of these caissons took about forty-five days for construction 
in the dry dock. They could only be floated out a t  a 
particular state of tide and caissons had to be built accord- 
ing to a sequence so that we do not miss the particular 
stage of tide. Oiherwise, the whole operation would have 
a setback. The caissons were to be founded by preparing 
the foundations which had to go from the firm sea-bed 
where the rock or other firm material is found. I may add 
h-re that m x t  of Bombay harbour consists of soft mud 
and silt. One had to dredge down to rock or murram as 
it  was only on their hard materials that the' foundations 
could be laid. 

While this work was going on, Naval Headquarters had made 
attempts to procure the necessary dredging plant but 
these attempts proved unsuccessful. In 1972, contract was 
accepted-for works 'B' i.c. for the dredging and reclama- 
tion. While detailed planning was going on for putting 
out works 'B' to contract, it became clear, especially, 
after our experience on works 'A', that a small amount of 
rock-dredging would have to be included as part of works 
'B', which was not originally envisaged. In order to 
save money, the entire rock dredqing element, which 
was oAginally included in works 'C', was transferred to 
works 'R' and this was included as part of the contract. 
It also saved us money so that the dredged rock could 
be! used in the reclamation of the area under works 'B'. 
Works 'B' are currently in progress and are expected to 
be completed by the end of this year. 

This leaves us with works 'C' of the ori,@nal civil engineering 
works. On these, a technical report has been received 
from the Cqnsultants in April. This has been examined 
by Naval Headquarters and my department and it  has been 
accepted by the Navy. I now have to process it with the 
Ministry of Defence and Finance (Defence). 

Whilst the Ckil  Fhqineering Works provide the docking and 
berthing facilities, the most im-wrtant requirement from 



the ships' pofnt of view is the provision of services. Thm 
are necessary so that when the ship canes into harbour 
and ties up alongside, the ships' own machinery, engines 
and equipment can be shut down, firstly, to give some 
respite to the operating personnel to enable them to take 
over the maintenance work; and secondly, to conserve the 
machinery and equipment for ~perational use; and, thirdly, 
to carry out routine Planned Preventive Maintenance so 
that machinery or equipment vitally required at sea may 
not let the ship down at the crucial moment. 

For this reason, as we proceeded with the project, the services 
were provided both in Stage I and Stage II and they were 
constantly brought uptsdate to meet the requirements of 
ships that had been decided to be acquired by the Navy in 
the meantime. I may add here that as we proceeded we 
had also taken into consideration the development8 
of our industry and, to what extent, the requirements of 
services could be met from our own resources w 
that, for the replacement of spare parts required for the 
.services, we would not have to constantly depend on foreign 
resources. In this connection, I may mention that we hawe 
recently been successful 'in getting the Bharat Heavy E k e  
tricals to supply frequency converters which until recently 
we were under the in~presgon that we would have to 
import at  a cost of about Rs. 70 lakhs. This is a new design 
which Bharat Heavy Electricals are producing at our- 
request. This covers the entire scheme." 

1.B. A note subsequently furnished to the Committee in this regard 
by the Ministry of Defence is reproduced below: 

"The Consulting Engineers, Sir AGP submitted their project 
r e p r t  in May 1950. This was considered by the Cove- 
ment and in 1952, orders were issued accepting the n s c e  
sity for the project. A consultancy agreement for the 
execution of the project was s i ~ e d  with Sir AGP fn 
November 1952 and administrative approval was issued ftn 
part of the project known as Stage I Works. These works 
consisted of construction of several wharves, a graving 
dock, roads and railway lines and some dredging and 
reclamation work. The value of the administrative 
approval for these works was Rs. 5.5 mores. 



Pnqaratqn work like collection of site data, pregaration of' 
tender documentse negotiations with Bombay Port Trust 
for acquisition of land etc. was started in November, 1952. 
Tender for Contract I was advertised on a global basis in 
1953 and the consultants' recommendations on the tenders 
received were submitted to Government in December, 1953. 
Contract No. I was awarddd to M/s. Hind Construction 
Co. in September, 1954. The land and jetties for the 
execution of the project were released by the Bombay 
Port Trust in August, 1954 and works commenced soon 
thekeafter. 

Contract No. I was abandoned by the contractor in September, 
1956 and was taken up for execution by Government 
d?partmenta:ly. This involved considerable delay in 
completion of the works covered by the contract. The 
works under Contract I, which according to the contract 
were to be completed within 31 months, were actually 
completed in December, 1963. 

The rest of the works of Stxge I were executed through con- 
tractors (18 contracts in all) and these works were, except 
for one item completed according to the contract schedules. 

In 1963 Government included three additional items of work 
in Stage I. The~e  items of work as well as some further 
additions made in 1967 were all completed in 1970. 

The rest of the work of the project was termed Stage I1 works 
.orl considered of:- 

(i) Construction of rubble mound breakwater, protective 
retaining bund and South breakwater. These works were 
subsequently called Works 'A'. 

(ii) Capital dredging and reclamation of. . . . land. This work 
was subsequently called Works 'B'. 

(iii) Construction of fitthg out wharf. This work was subse- 
quently called Works 'C'. 

(iv) Provision of services like electricity, water, compressed 
air etc. for the wharves and jetties. 

The necessity for works of Stage I1 was accepted by the 
Government in October, 1959. A fresh consultancy agree- 
ment for the execution of these works was signed with 
Sir AGP in 1962. (The intervening period was taken up. 
in negotiating terms of this consultancy agreement). 



The bdmkal report on Stage 11 works was received from tbe 
consultants in August, 1963 and Government accorded 
administrative approval for the works at an estimated cost 
of Rs. 14.69 mres in September, 1964. Tenders w c e  
advertised globally soon thereafter. Only two valid 
tenders were received from foreign firms. The prices. 
quoted were almost twice the amount allocated for the 
works and required larger payment in foreign exchange 
than anticipated. There were a h  q number of other 
unacceptable conditions. In October, 1966, Government 
rejected both these tenders and decided to split the work 
into three parts. Works 'A' were to be given priority and 
carried out through contract; Works 'B' to be carried out 
departmentally and Works 'C' to be undertaken at a later 
stage either through departmental means or by contract. 

For execution of Works 'A' various Indian firms were approa- 
ched between October, 1966 and April, 1967 but all of them 
evinced no interest. Tender documents were finally 
issued to MIS. IVAN MILUTINOVIC-PIM, a Yugoslav 
firm. This firm showed interest in this work after they 
were awarded a contract under the Ministry of Defence at 
Visakhapatnam. The contract for Works 'A' was signed 
with this firm in November, 1967. Works 'A' were sub- 

stantially completed in October, 1973 according to the 
contract. 

Works 'B' which consisted of dredging and reclamation works 
were initially intended to be done departmentally witb 
dredgers to be acquired by the Navy. Dificultics were 
experienced by the Ministry of Defence in acquiring the 
necessary dredgers and in 1970 it was decided that this 
work should also be done through contract The work 
was advertised but only one valid tender was received in 
March, 1971-f,mn Mls. PIM. The Consultmt's recom- 
mendations on this tender were submitted to Government 
in August, 1971, further discussions were held with the 
tenderer in November 1971 and the contract agreement 
signed in January, 19'72. 

The works of Stage I1 still remaining to be done are Works 
'C' and provision of sewices for the wharf structures. 

The technical report and revjserl estimates for Works 'C' were 
called far from the consultants in 1974. These were. 
received in April, 1975 and are presently under examin* 



tion. A decision on 'these works is expected to be taken 
shortly. 

The provision of aervices was to be based on the revised 
requirements of the Navy as projected in 1969. The 
technical report of the consultants together with the esti- 
mates was received in 1970. The preparation of detailed 
designs was then taken in hand and because of the corn- 
plexitia of these services tenders could be issued only in 
1973. Contract agmements for crane and piling work were 
signed in November-December 1974 and that for civil 
engineering works in April, 1975. 

For electrical services, protracted negotiations had to be 
carried out and the contract was finally sign& in July 
1975. 

The contracts for services already concluded are expected to 
be completed by the end of 1978. 

The tender for mechanical and pipe work services has to be 
readvertised and the quotations received are under 
scrutiny." 

C. Cost of the Project 

1.9. At the instance of the Committee, the Ministry of Defence 
furnished a note indicating the cost of the project when it was 
;initially conceived and the periodical revision of the cost, which b 
reproduced below: 

"The cost of the project estimated at the time of acceptance 
of necessity in November, 1952 was Rs. 24 crores. Admink- 

trative approval for Stage I works was issued on 22nd 
November, 1952 for Rs. 5.55 awes .  Additional works 
were subsequently added to Stage I and the 
tive approval for this was revised as follows: 
(a) On 1st February, 1963-Rs. 10.72 crores. 
(b) On 8th May, 1967-Rs. 11.32 crores. 

Administrative approval for Stage If works, cavering the 
balance of items was accorded on 21st September, 1964 for 
Rs. 14.59 crores. It was revised in December, 1967 to 
&. 24.70 crores to cover escalation in prices, adjustment 
of quantities and the devaluation of Rupee in 1968. 



Because of further escalations since 1967 and increase in 
scope, particularly of services, to meet the requirements 
of the latest types of ships acquired by the Navy, the 
estimate is expected to go up further." 

D. Administrative arrangements 

1.10. With reference to the arrangements for the administration 
and supervision of the Expansion Scheme, the Director General, 
Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme stated in evidence: 

"Initially, when the project was started, the consulting engi- 
neers were providing the engineering supervision as we 
had no expertise in this matter. A Chief Works Officer 
was appointed as Project Administrator to look after the 
Government's interests. This organisation functioned undet 
the overall direction of the Naval Dockyard Construction 
Committee which was set up in the Ministry and at  which 
the Engineer-in-Chief was represented apart from other 
members of the Government. An Engineer Adrninistra- 
tor was appointed, when contract I was taken in hand 
departmentally. This set-up was replaced in 1958 by the 
Director General, Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme 
functioning directly under the Ministry of Defence. This 
organisation is continuing till torlay." 

1.11. As regards the administrative arrangements for the Expan- 
sion Scheme, the Estimates C~nm~it tee  (1957-58) had been inform- 
ed that the progress of work on the project was watched by a Con- 
struction Cornmittee which dealt with all policy matters concerning 
the project as a whole. The Committee consisled of the fiollowing: 

(i) A rqxesentative of t h ~  Ministry of Defence (not be!ow 
the rank of Joint Secretary) who will be Chairman of the 
Committee. 

(ii) A representative of the Ministry of Finance (Defence) ok 
appropriate rank. 

(iii) Chief of Material (Navy) or his representative. 

(iv) Engineer-in-Chief, Army Headquarters or his representa- 
tive. 

(v) The Under Secretary (Navy) in the Ministry of Defence, 
exsfficio Secretary to the Committee. 



The Estimates Committee (vide paragraph 35 of their 8th Report 
-Second Lok Sabha) had expressed regret to note that inspite of 
the existence since 1953 of such a committee which was constituted 
.specifically to expedite the execution of this project the progress on 
the work had not been satisfactory. The Committee had found that 
,out of the 40 meetings held by the Construction Committee during 
April 1953 to November 1957, only one meeting was held in Bombay. 
The Committee had, therefore, expressed regret that the Construc- 
tion Committee had not been effective in its work as it  was expected 
to  be. 



CHAPTER II 

EXECUTION LiSD PROGRESS OF WORKS UNDER STAGE-1 
Audit paragraph 

2.1. While Stage-I of the scheme was being implemented, various 
new works were added which were not included originally in this 
stage. Howe'ver, the major items of works under Stage-I were com- 
pleted by November 1966. 

2.2. Mention was made in paragraph 22 of the Audit Report, De- 
fence Services, 1965, about the work on )the first contract (value: 
Rs. 1.82 crores) pertaining to Stage-I which was started by a firm 
in September 1954 but was abandoned by it in September 1956. This 
con'tract was terminated in December 1955. The incomplete portion 
of the work was taken departmentally at the risk and cost 05 the 
firm. Stage-I of the work was completed in December 1970 a t  a cost 
of Rs. 949.46 lakhs. The firm went in for arbitration. The net claim 
of the Government against the contractor was for Rs. 265 lakhs, while 
the contractor's counter claim against the Government was for 
Rs. 84 lakhs. 

2.3. The arbitration proceedings commenced in December 1959 
when the arbitrator held the first hearing. The arbitrator died in 
March 1961 before he could proceed with the substantive matters of 
the dispute. Another arbitrator was appointed in March 1961. The 
expenditure on the arbitration proceedings upto December 1973 was 
about Rs. 19 lakhs by way of fees for the arbitrator (Rs. 1.95 lakhs) 
.and the counsels (Rs. 11.20 lakhs), travelling allowances (Rs. 3.59 
lakhs) and other miscellaneous expenses (Rs. 2.29 lakhs). The 
Government had fixed in 1961 a ceiling for the payment 05 the fees 
to the arbitrator at Rs. 30,000 which was later increased to Es. 60,000 
in August, 1962, to Rs. 1,00,000 in February, 1964, to Rs. 1,75,000 in 
May, 1965, to Rs. 2,50,000 in November 1968 and finally to Rs. 3,65,000 
in October, 1972. 

2.4. The arbitrator gave his award in February, 1974 and the 
same was filed in the High Court in April, 1974. According to the 
award Government was to receive Rs. 15.70 lakhs, being the net 
amount of the sum awarded to the Government by the Arbitrator 
(Rs. 33.55 lakhs) and that awarded by him to the contractor 
(Rs. 17.85 lakhs). 



* [Paragraph 11 of the Report of the Comptroller & Auditor Ge- 
neral of India for the year 1973-74, Union Government 

(Defence Services) 

A. General 

2.5. The various components of works programmed under Stage- 
I of the Project, as enumerated in the Audit paragraph, were as  fol- 
lqws: 

(a) Construc'tion of cruiser graving dock and ancillaries. 

(b) Construction of frigate wharg and boat wharf and ancilla- 
ries. 

(c) Modification to the existing breakwater. 

(d) Construction of barrack wharves, destroyer wharves, boat 
pond wall, dredging, reclamation, roads, railways, etc. and 
ancillaries. 

(e) Construction of a patent slipway with an electrical winch 
and ancillaries. 

(f) Extension of a pier and ancillaries. '*I 

2.6. The Public Accounts Committee (1965-66) has been informed 
that during the period from September, 1954 to May, 1964, nineteen 
contracts relating to Stage-I of the project valued at Rs. 7.11 crores 
had been concluded. The Committee were informed by Audit that 
the Ministry of Defence had stated (March, 1975) that the major por- 
tion of Stage-I of* the Project had been completed in 1%6, except for 
a portion of rock blasting and dredging alongside the barrack wharf. 
The Ministry had also informed Audit (March, 1975) that the book- 
ed expenditure' on Stage-I works amounted to Rs. 1180.79 lakhs and 
that the final cost of Stage-I would be known on completion of the 
rock-blasting which was under execution by the contractor for Stage- 
11, Works 'B'. 

2.7. The Committee desired to know the up-to-date expenditure 
on Stage-I works and whether the final cost of these works had 
since been worked out. In  a note, the Ministry of Defence informed 
the Committee that an expenditure of Rs. 1200.7 lakhs had been in- 
curred on Stage-I as on 30th June, 1975 and that the final cost was 
estimated to  be Rs. 1210 lakhs. To another question whether the 
rock-blasting work under Stage-I had been completed, the Ministry 
replied in the aifisrnative and added that the work had been com- 
pleted on 7th July, 1975. 



B. Contract No. 1 of stage-I Works 

4i) Selectior~ of contractor : 

2.8. The Audit paragraph points out that work on contract No. 1 
pertaining to Stage-I, valued at Rs. 1.82 crores, started by a firm in 
September, 1954, had been abandoned by it in  September, 1956 and 
that after terminating this contract in December, 1956, the incomplete 
.portion of the work was ltaken up departmentally a t  the risk and 
cost of the firm. The Committee desired to know the circumstances 
in which this work had been entrusted to the firm. In a note the 
Ministry of Defence stated : 

"It is the normal practice of the Government to entrust works 
of this nature to contractors. In  this particular case, glo- 
bal tenders were invited as there were no Indian contrac- 
tors with necessary expertise. The contract was awarded 
to M/s. Hind Construction Company because 'they were 
an Indian concern and had an experienced Italian firm 
M/s. Societa Italiana Per Lavoli Maritimi as their part- 
ners. This was done on the basis of the recommendations 
of the consultants. Sir Alexander Gibb & Partners." 

2.9. The Committee desired to know whether, before entrusting 
this work to Hind Construction Ltd., the antecedents of the firm 
had been gone into. The Defence Secretary stated in evidence: 

"When we entrusted this work .to them, we knew they had 
done, or were engaged in, the Konar dam in DVC. That 
gave us confidence that they would be able to do this work. 
Apart from this, they were the lowest tenderers. The con- 
sultants had, on the basis of. this and their previous work 
experience up to that time, advised that the contract be 
given to them. Another factor which weighed with the 
consultants perhaps was that they had taken as partners 
an Italian firm called SILM, and based on the assessment 
a t  the time and considering the tender, the certainly deser- 
ved to be given this particular contract. Subsequently, of 
course we have our own experience to guide us. T un- 
derstand-though I cannot vouch for it-that the firm has 
not fared very well; in fact, at this point of time, I under- 
stand the firm is in a state of being wound up." 



lii) Reasons for abandonment of the work. 
2.10. The Committee enquired into the reasons far the firm aban- 

doning the work. The Defence Secretary replied: 
"The conitractor's contention in this was that the contract was 

frustrated because the work of rock breaking, sost dredg-- 
ing and construction of barIJack wharves and destroyer 
wharves was not capable of execution on technical and 
financial grounds. He also contended that the rigid and 
unhelpful attitude of the consultants and Government had 
the effect of rescinding the contract. These were the pleas. 
which he took in the arbitration." 

In a note subsequent1 furnished to the Commiittee, the Ministry 
of Defence indicated the following reasons given by the contractor 
for stoppage of work: 

" (1) The work of rock breaking: 

(a) frustration of contract. 

(b) breach of contract terms by A.G.P. and therefore by 
Government. 

( 2 )  The wonk of soft dredging: 
Frustration of contract. 

(3) The work oJ Barracks & Destroyer Wharves: 

(a) frustration of contract. 

(b) breach and prevention by A.G.P. and therefore by &v-- 
ernment. 

(4) Supply of sand and aggregate: 
Prevention by A.G.P. and therefore by Government. 

(5) The work of boat Pond Wall: 
Prevention by A.G.P. and therefore by Government." 

The Micistry added: 
"As indicated by the Arbitrator, 'the case of the company is 

that the company was discharged from carrying out these 
works as the contract was frustrated and/or AGP and 
therefore the Government prevented the company from 
carrying out the contract works and/or AGP and therefore 
the Government committed breaches of the terms of the 
contract so as to absolve the company from proceeding 
with contraot works'." 



2.11. The Committee asked whether, at  the point of time when 
the fixm abandoned the work, Government could not have taken 
steps to take action against the default or whether the arrangement 
with the firm was not foolproof enough to enable Government to act. 
The Defence Secretary replied: 

"If I may submit, it is a unilateral act on the part of &he con- 
tractor to take up the plea of frustration of the contract 
and to abandon the work. We cannot use any physical 
compulsion on the contractor to make him work. What 
were the reasons that weighed with him, he alone knows- 
But the reasons which he put forward were that the con- 
tract was frustrated because it was incapable of execution. 
It might be asked why, he, in the first instance, undertook 
the contract. When he abandoned the contract, there were 
certain options open to us which we exercised, namely, 
that we should get the work completed at  his risk and 
cost and a31 our activity was directed to this efFort of com- 
pleting the work at his risk and cost. In that process, we 
also assumed control over the project Slte by invoking the 
particular articles of the contract. We also assumed con- 
trol of the equipmat which the contractor was using on 
the site. We, of course, took all the legal precautions fol- 
lowing this oft noting down the condition of the equip 
ment and so forth. The equipment had been abandoned 
by the contractor for a long (time. This will be evident 
from what we have pointed out somewhere else that in 
two years of his functioning, two years out of three years 
which was roughly the contract period, he has completed 
mly 15 per cent of the work. In this kind of activity or  
rather inactivity, you can very well imagine the stage in 
which the equipment was left behind. For lack of the 
it was being allowed to rust. This equipment had again 
to be put together into a shape in which we could use it. 
Therefore, work could be organised only after taking all 
the precautions. Then, we took all legal steps by invoking 
the other penal clauses of the contract. We assumed con- 
trol 05 the site, we assumed control of the equipment and 
we also put the equipment into shape. Then, we had to 
set up our organisation to take up this wrok dmartmental- 
ly. All this, if I may submit does take time." 

2.12. In reply to another question whether the contractor had 
brought to the notice of Government the difficulties and problems 
faced by him in executing the work, which did not appear to be sim-. 



ple in its scope and content, and whether any efforts had been made 
to solve these &&ulties so as 8b enable the cbntractor to dntinue 
the work, the Defence Secretary stated: 

"There are a couple of things which should be kept in mind. 
The point you are urging is that the contractor was perhaps 
precluded from completing the work. that it was not 
possible for him to camplete the work and probably we 
look no notice of his difficultids. In the first place, when 
the project was conceived, it was conceived as we have 
submitted already, with the help of a very renowned and 
reputed consultants who know their job and who had done 
several other harbour works all over the world, and in 
additian, the consultants were available to us all through 
for administration of this wry  contract. All these difficul- 
ties, thereke,  were perhaps referred to them. I am also 
advised that in order to asses the contracbr's cconplaints, 
the Government constituted a committee which heaid the 
contractor and which also carried out an enquiry. There- 
fore, it is not that we were oblivious to the difficulties of 
the wntractor. These were all gone into. But, at  the 
same time, we have to see that certain obligations which 
were undertaken by the contractor were either fulfilled 
by him directly or we fulfil them under the relevant pro- 
visions of the contract at his risk and cost. That was the 
apprdach which we had." 

2.13. Since it had been stated that a committee had been consti- 
tuted by Government to assess the contractor's complaints, the Com- 
mittee enquired into the findings of this committee and whether it 
had recomrnenw any rneasures to help the contractor to continue 
the work. The Defence Secretary replied: 

"As far as I can sqe, despite dur going into all these aspects, 
perhaps, the contratAor was really no longer interkted at 
one point 6f tirile in coqleting %the work. From Septem- 
ber 1956, there were constant negotiatiofis between the 
Gove rnmt  and the contractor, directly With 'the Ministry 
as &I1 as with the cofis~ction Cbtrllmfttee. After consi- 
dering all the points of view of the contractor, the ds- 
rnands of %he &&&tor w k ~ e  turned down. Only there- 
&er this question of taltfng alternative d@x etc. was de- 
cided upon." 

A ndte himished subsequently to the Committee in this regard by 
&he Minidtry bf I k h t e  Is ~epmduced &low: 



"The contractor abandoned the work of his own volition. Ear- 
Pier in Wober, 1955 separate and independent ndties were 
hued by the Gmternment and the consultants to %he am- 
tractor to qeed up the work and to submit- proposals for 
making up l ~ s t  time. The contractor's proposals in rwly 
to the notices were considered at site meetings during 
early December, 1955 and detailed instructions were 
issued by the consultants to the contractor in this regard. 
When the contractor stopped work in June, 1956 the Gov- 
ernment appointed a committee to go into the contractor's 
grievances and problems. All these efforts proved of no 
avail as the contractor was not prdpared to execute the 
work in terms of the contract." 

, 2.14. The Committee desired to know the quantum of work 
:;allotted to Hind Construction Ltd., the work actually executed 
-before abandonment and the work left incomplete. In a note the 
Ministry of Defence stated : 

"Statement showing the work allotted to the contractor, the 
value of work done by him as certified ,by the consultants 
and the balance 05 work left undone is given bel~w: 

Totd value Vafw of Value of 
as in work done bplpnce left 

contract by the ukdofie 
Section of w )rk with dscription conrrapXvr 

as catified 
'by consul- 
tmtS 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 
Dredging and Reclamation - 7327or312 m233,797 23,36,515 

111. Storm water Culvert . . . . 2,88,680 1~76,183 1,12,497 

IV. Bdlard Pier 5 .  T Crane Track 62,950 Nil 62,950 

V. Forming Hole & Grouting 14,250 Nil 14a250 

VI. Provisional Works . - 22,03,000 631,291 21,15,709 
VII. General Items . . . . . ag203,0So 6,34,148 2 ~ ~ 6 8 ~ 9 0 ~  

VIII. Time Account Works . . 3,25,000 12,562 321zJ438 

X. Ad'utmcnt subsequently allowed by 
kavernmcnt in respect of work done by 
coirtrslctor . . . . 22,433 (-)%433 

YOTAL . 1,82,41,933 32,77,38 1 r , 4 9 , 6 ~ ~ 2 * '  - 



2.15. Since the incomplete portion of the work had been taken up 
f q  execution departmentally, at  the risk and cost of the defaulting 
firm, the Committee desired to know the expenditure incurred on 
departmental execution. In a note, the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"The total expenditure incurred on the departmental execu- 
tion of thd incomplete portion of the work is Rs. 278.26 
lakhs." 

2.16. The final cost of works included in Contract No. 1, theremre, 
worked out to Rs. 311.03 lakhs as against the original estimate of 
about Rs. 182.42 lakhs as per details indicated below: 

Rs. in lak hs 

(a) Value of work executed departmentally 278.26 

(b)  Value of work done by the contractor 32' 77 

TOTAL . 311.03 

Total value of work originally estimated 182'42 

2.17. In view of the fact that the cost 05 the works included in 
Contract No. 1 pertaining to Stage-I had ultimately escalated to a 
large edent, affecting also the projected time schedule, the Comamit- 
tee desired to know whether it would not have been better to rene- 
gotiate the tern with the contractor and allow extension of time for 
completing the work, thereby safeguarding the financial interests of 
Government, instead of taking too rigid a view of the contractor's 
defaults. The Defence Secretary stated in evidence: 

"When the contractor abandoned the work, all the steps which 
I had detailed earlier to safeguard Govenunent's interest 
had to be taken. This involved increase in time. The very 
fact that the contractor failed to execute the work would 
show that doing it by any alternative method particularly 
aster a lapse of time was bound to cost more and also in- 
volve more time." 

He added in this context: 

"I believe the contractor's demands were not merely for time. 
He wanted an increase in the cost mentioned in the con- 
tract. He wanted changes in design and also changes in 
the method of rock breaking. All these would have in- 
creased the cost of the project and the time for completing 
it. So even if we had conceded his demand, it would have 
'cost more and taken a longer time also as the contractor 



had not given adequate evidence of doing prwortionate 
work according to the stipulated time." 

2.18. The Committee asked, whether the opinion of the consul- 
tan% on the demands of the contractor had been obtained, so as to 
ascertain the real magnitude of the difficulties pointed out by the 
contractor and whether the cost escalation was warranted. The wit- 
ness replied: 

"My miormation is that in the contract itself there were certain 
built-in clauses for escalation in the prices of essential ar- 
ticles like cement, steel etc. These he claimed and appro- 
priate escalation was given. As regards the other demands, 
the consultants did not support them and there was no- 
thing in the contract to support his contention." 

The Ministry 05 Defence also furnished to the Committee rele- 
vant extracts from the &port of the consultants which are repro- 
duced in Appendix I. 

C. Arbitration proceedings 

(i) Claims before the Arbitrator 

2.19. The Audit Report points out that after abandoning the works 
under Contract No. 1 relating to Stage-I of the Expansion Scheme, 
the defaulting firm (Hind Construction Ltd.) went in for arbitration 
and preferred a claim against the Government for Rs. 85 lakhs. 
Government, on its part, put forth a net claim of Rs. 265 lakhs against. 
the contractor. According to the award of the arbitrator given in 
February, 1974, Government was to receive only Rs. 15.70 lakhs be- 
ing the net amount of the sum awarded to the ,Government by the 
arbitrator (Rs. 33.55 lakhs) and that awarded by him to the contrac- 
tor (Rs. 17.85 lakhs) . 

2.20. Since, in the Committee's view, the final award of Rs. 23.55 
lakhs given ,to Government by the arbitrator appeared to indicate 
that the Government's case was found to be rather weak, they de- 
sired to know whether there were no clauses in the contract with 
Hind Construction Ltd., to enable Government to dictate terms and 
have the whiphand when it was decided to terminate the contract in 
December, 1956. To the Committee's observation that the outcome of 
the arbitration appeared to reveal a weakness in the Government's 
case, the Defence Secretary replied: 

"This, to my knowledge, is a very general kind of remark." 



22 
He added: 

"There are two aqxcts, which I would submit. You should 
consider before you come to *the conclusion that the Gov- 
ernment's case was weak. It  was the conh-actors themsel- 
ves who went into arbitration. Since there is always a 
clause for arbitration in disputes in such contracts, we 
naturally could not stop them from doing so." 

2.21. To another question whether the contract did not provide 
€or a penalty clause which would have enabled Government to ob- 
tain some compensation during the interim period, for the losses in- 

.curred by the stoppage of very essential works, the witness replied: 

"It was the contractors who took to arbitration. Their case 
was that they were making a claim against Government 
for Rs. 84.47 lakhs. Had. our case been weak. they would 
have got the bulk of the claim awarded. Bu.t that was 
not so." 

He stated further 

"The @sition is that they claimed h m  us Rs. 84.47 lakhs 
and the award actually given to them is Rs. 17.85 lakhs, 
about one-fifth of that claim." 

2 2 .  The Committee pointed out in this context that the arbitra- 
-tor had only awarded roughly one-eighth of the Government's 
claim of Rs. 265 lakhs and asked whether the witness would not con- 

.cede that sometliinp was perhaps wrong or carelessly done in so far 
as the legal contract with the firm was concerned which enabled it 
tc! escape its contractual obligations to a large extent. The Defence 

-Secretary replied: 

"The claims that we made consisted of a number of items. One 
was the estimated extra cost of completion-at that time 
it was estimated by the Naval HQ at Rs. 1.20 crores. an 
amaunt of about Rs. 1.04 lakhs to be paid to CI'fRA, an- 
other amount of about Rs. 4.18 lakhs which was estimated 
compensation, another amount of Rs. 1.63 lakhs payable 
to CIS"RA, another amount of about Rs. 13.82 lakhs being 
*the claim put in by C I m A .  We had also assessed the pos.. 
sible estimate' of losslthat would be incurred by the Nevp 



due to delay in completion, as about Rs. 1.35 cmm. All1 
these were estimates, made a t  a time when the work had 
not been completed. These had t o  be revised in the light 
of the aduals, a t  the time when the arbitrator made the 
award. The estimated loss of Rs. 1,35,00,000 on account of 
delay was reduced to Rs. 24,15,000. This was due to legal 
reasons. In the contract there is a clause for liquidated 
damages and the amount was restricted to a figure based 
on a rate of Rs. 7,000 per week mentioned in this clause. 
This arnount which worked out to Rs. 24.15 lakhs was ac- 
cording to legal advice, the maximum damage that could 
be claimed under the con'tract." 

1 Elaborating further the circumstances in which the Goverfiment s 
initial claim of Rs. 265 lakhs had later been reduced, the wlitness 
stated: 

"Two major items were there. In our claim before arbitrator 
we referred to estimates of additional cost for completion 
of contract this we put at Rs. 1.20 crores. The second 
major item was the loss that was likely to be incurred by 
the Navy due to default of. the company which is called 
liquidated damages. These two major figures underwent 
drastic change. So far as the figure of losses caused to 
Navy by default of the company was concerned as I sta- 
ted earlier, we ourselves scaled it down from 1.35 crores to 
24.15 lakhs on legal advice as our ceiling on liquidated 
damages could not exceed that given unde,r the contract. 
This account for one. The other one was this. This is re- 
garding additional cost of completion of con?ract. Here 
what we estimated originally as 1.20 crores had to be 
brought down to actuals which we incurred which were 
of the order of 78.64 lakhs. There were consequential los- 
ses which we claimed on behalf of another firm whose work 
depended w o n  the work of the first contractor. We put 
in a claim for Rs. 13,82.180 based on an actual claim of 
that company, CITRA. Later on that company withdrew 
that one and we had no grounds to proceed against the 
contractor for that particular claim. This is how the scal- 
ing down in an overall way was done!' 

2.23. At the instance of the Committee, the Ministry of Defence 
furnished the details of the claim initially preferred by Government 
against the contractor, the damage estimated by the Naval Headquar- 
ters on account of the abandonment of the work by the colitractor 



and the reduction effected later in the original claim of Government. 
According to the information furnished by the Ministry, Govern- 
ment's initial claim before the arbitrator comprised of the following: 

(1) Mditional cost of completion of the contract estin~atcd at . I,zo,oO,@W 

(2) Extra cost paid to CITRA for rock-breaking . I,@4,Io9 

(3) C~mr,:nsation for d:lay i n  hailditlg over site for rock breaking . 4,r7,85SC 

(4) Extra cost actually i lcirrred for dredging of additional silt paid to 
CITRA. . . . . . . . . . . 1,62,756 

( 5 )  Additionalclaims made by CITRA but not certified by A.G.P. . 13,St,180 

(6) Lossincurred by the Navy due to default ofthe conlpany . 1,3~,00,@00 

The loss of Rs. 135 lakhs estimated by the Naval I-read-quarters 
on account of the contractor's default represented the extra estimated 
expenditule incurred or to be incurred by the Navy as a consequence 
of the. non-completion of the works by the contractor by the stipulat- 
ed date of May, 1957. The details thereof are indicated below: 

( 1 )  C>st of p3w:r (diffyence b~twcen the cost ofgenerating own power 
and that Qawi~ from shore Mains at bulk rate) 77,999960 

(2) cost of fresh water (difference between afloot a n  d Main  pri ce ) 9,54636 
(3) Additional maintenance ex$:nses due to ships not being able to 

shutdown for periodical repairs inspections and routines . 33~43,154 

(4) Additional cost of tranmrting men and stores by dockyard craft 9,37,500 

( 5 )  Extra expznditure on account of non-availability ofbuild ings that 
were to be s~ted on the reclaimed ground 4968,750 

TOTAL . I,35,W000 ----- 
The Ministry also informed the Committee that by ar: application 

dated 12 October, 1966, the Government reduced this claim of Rs. 1.35 
crores, on legal advice, to Rs. 24.15 lakhs and claimed this amomt 
as liquidated damages. By a further application dated 15 Decem- 
ber, 1951, the claim for Rs. 13,82,180, representing the addi- 
tional claims made by CITRA, was deleted as CITRA had d ro~ped  
their claim in the meanwhile. The claim for Rs. 120 lakhs, rcpre- 
sen'ting the estimated additional cost of completion of the abandon- 
ed works, was also reduced to Rs. 78,64,707 on the basis of act~als.  
The final net claim of Government thus worked out Rs. 1,09,64,430. 



2.24. In view of the fact that the initial assessment of the damage 
of Rs. 135 lakhs made by the Navy had been scaled down to Rs. 24.15 
lakhs, on legal advice, the Committee desired to know whether this 
meant a merence  05 opinion between the technical advisers and the 
legal advisers on the question of the damages to be claim& from the 
contractor. The Defence Secretary stated in  evidence: 

"in a sehse you may be right that the estimates of our techni- 
cal advisers and the legal advisers were so. The Navy 
which did not have any legal experience in this matter es- 
timated on its own way what the loss would amount to in 
terms of rupees whereas when the matter went up to the 
arbitrator and was legally examined we found that there 
was a ceiling on liquidated damages which we could daim. 
Naturally there was no use proceeding with a claim which 
we could not legally sustain. Therefore, this was Srought 
down. The only point one may hold against our technjcal 
advisers is that they were a little overzealous in presenting 
the Government's side lest we should per c h a ~ c e  lose by 
understating our claim.'' 

The Committee asked whether the computation made bv the tech- 
nical officers in this regard was not a more practical and 9atriotic a p  
proach which deserved to he complimented than the purelp legalis- 
tic stand taken by the legal advisers. The witness replied: 

"Perhaps witin your legal knowledge and expericxe you know 
better; I am at least advised that the clause regarding li- 
quidated damages is very difficult to sustain and it is very 
rarely indeed that damages do get awarded. As I explain- 
ed earlier, at the time when we put in our claim we had 
no idea of the actuals. You were kind enough to give ku- 
dos lo the Navy. They put in their claim so that the' Gov- 
ernment interests did not suffer. We found that the actual 
completion of the work cost about Rs. 78.64,707. We had 
naturally to scale down because anything el.se would nei- 
ther be justifiable nor legally sustainable. Then we accep- 
ted another reduction of about Rs. 13.82 lakhs which we 
had claimed on behalf of another cnotractor because he 
had no basis to press for that claim and he withdrew that 
claim. Finally our claim was only Rs. 1.09 crores against 
the original claim of an estimated Rs. 2.65 crores. The 
award which had been given in our favour should really 
be seen in the light of the revised claim which we made 

. , for valid reasons, namely, Rs. 1,09,64,430." 



A representative of the Ministry of Law stated in this connec- 
tion : 

"In each contract, we have the prowislion for liquidated dama- 
ges; but i t  aU depends upon the extent ta which these li- 
quidated damages can be availed of; because under the 
Contracts Act damages can be only to the extent of da- 
mages actually suffered." 

When asked whether, in a long-term contract, the potential dama- 
ge should not also be taken into account, the witness replied: 

"We have got to prove that because of thdse lapses it resulted 
in damages. Remote damages are not allowed under law, 
but still we provide for liquidated damages i?.l the con- 
tract. If the contractor fails to do somethine in the manner 
or in the time prescribed, we will be askiqg for liquidated 
damages." 

2.25. The Conunittee, therefore, desired to know how the Naval 
authorities could justify the initial claim of Rs. 265 lakhs when the 
contractor had hardly completed 15 per cent of the work. The De- 
fence Secretary stated: 

"There was an in-built clause in the contract that if he does 
not complete it, i t  will be completed at his risk and cost. 
We calculated the cost and we projected it to the arbitra- 
tion. We scaled it down when we found that the actuals 
were less or other consequential expenditure was less. I t  
was our bounden duty to press our claims. Otherwise, 
even in this forum we aould have been legitimately asked, 
how did we forsake Government's interests?" 

When the Committee pointed out in this connection that after 
having worked out a claim of Rs. 265 lakhs, Government, instead 
of pursuing the claim appeared to have given up or reduced the 
claims stage by stage, the witness reacted: 

"If we give it up for valid reasons, can it be held against us? 
I have tried to explain why we scaled it' down in respect 
of each of the major items." 

2.26. As regards the sum of Rs. 17.85 lakhs awarded by the arbi- 
trator to Iiind Construction Ltd., the Defence Secretary stated in 
evidence : 

"In the case of the claim which the contractor got awarded to 
him, viz. Rs. 17.85 lakhs, I would like to mention that we 
had in any case already conceded that a sum of Rs. 11.04 



lakhs was due ta the contractor. The contractor has to 
pay us Rs. 3.28 lakhs for services which the dockyard had 
rendered to him. So, he really got Rs. 14.57 lakhs; this 
is only Rs. 3 lakhs over and above the admitted claim. 
This is the order of success which the contractor had in 
this particular proceedings." 

(ii) Reasons for prolonged arbitration proceedings 

2.27. The arbitration proceedings commenced in December 1959 
and it was only after nearly 15 years had passed that they were 
finalised and the award was given. The Arbitration Act provides 
that the award shall be made within four months after entering 
o n  the reference or within such extended time as the court 
may allow. Since the period of 15 years taken for the completion 
of the arbitration proceedings in this case appeared to be uncon- 
scionably long, the Committee desired to know the reasons for the 
unduly long time taken for their completion. In a note, the Minis- 
2ry of Defence informed the Committee as follows: 

"The reasons for the arbitration from 1959 to 1974 are as 
under: 

(a) The first Arbitrator Shri J. N. Majumdar died in March 
1961 before he could enter on the merits of the case. 31 
hearings took place till then and these proved infructu- 
ous as the proceedings had to start de nove. 

(b) Before the new Arbitrator. Shri Bishan Narain, pro- 
ceedings coninlcnced from 15th April. 1961 and conclu- 
ded on 31st August 1973, in which period a total of 779 
hearings took place consisting of 50 on preliminary 
matters, objections and framing of issues; 532 on record- 
ing of oral evidence of 34 witnesses including 9 foreig- 
ners; 137 on arguments on company's claims; and 60 
on argument's on Government's counter-claims. 

(c) The Arbitrator was in Delhi, Government Counsel at  
Delhi. Company's Counsel and office at Calcutta and 
Government's project office a t  Bombay and the Consul- 
tants at  London. The convenience of all the above 
parties involved had to be taken into consideration in 
Axing the hearings by the Arbitrator." 

2.28. At the instance .of the Committee, the Ministry also fur- 



nished the following year-wise details of the number of hearings 
that took place before the arbitratok 

-- -- 
Year No: of 

hearings 

(By late Justice Majumdar) 

December 1959 to February rg6r . . . . .  31 
(By Justice B i sbn  Naran)  

2.29. A copy of the final award of the arbitrator was also furnish- 
ed to the Committee by the Ministry of Defence. The points in 
dispute suggested by bcth the parties and referred to the arbitrator, 
totalling 108 in all, are indicated in Appendix 11. 

2.30. In view of the fact that Government had apparently had 
to periodically reduce their claims before the arbitrator as not sus- 
tainable, the Committee desired to know whether this initial over- 
zealousness on the part of the technical advisers had contributed, 
in any manner, to the long-drawn arbitration proceedings. The De- 
fence Secretary stated in evidence: 

"I don't think that itself led to lengthening of the proceedings. 
The proceedings have different aspects. About some, you 
may find some valid ground for criticism. But the people 

1 who tried to safeguard Government's interests by projec- 



ting adequate figures before the arbitrator and at the same 
time conceding quickly a revision of those figures on vdid 
grounds, did in  fact try to strike a balance of safeguarding 
Government's interests with speedy conclusion of proceed- 
ings." 

2.31. The Committee, therefore, desired to know what, according 
to the witness, were the basic reasons for the arbitration proceedings 
being prolonged for as long as 15 years. The witness replied: 

"The Audit para is before you and this is wha.t I have felt. 
Of course, it is easy to be wise after the event. But when 
we went to arbitration, as our documents will show, we 
relied on a number of things. Firstly, the Arbitration Act 
itself fixes a period of 4 mfonths for completion of pro- 
ceedings. That is not unduly long. But that very law 
provides that if there is a valid ground, further extension 
of time can be given by the High Court on a proper re- 
presentation made to it. Here the High Court in its 
wisdom was pleased to give extensions from time t.o time 
on reauests made and these added up to over 12 
years. Hold it against the lam. hold it against our pro- 
cedures. hold it against individuals who contributed to 
the lengthening; but I do not think the fact that we made 
claims of a certain order can be held against us." 

2.32. With reference to the cbservation of the witness that i t  
was easy to be wise after the event, the Committee pointed out that 
they necessarily came on the scene to examine what had happened 
only after the event was over. The witness replied: 

"I have nothing to hold back and 1 am as much concerned 
about it as hon. members are. 1.t is somewhat different 
from the normal. Normally questions are asked by hon. 
members and we answer.. Since you have asked me to 
give my mind back to the time when we went to arbitra- 
tion, we did not go into this arbitration. It  was the con- 
tractor who made a request to the Law Secretary who 
was the person under the contract to appoint an arbitra- 
tor should there be need for one. We have on record a 



ktter from the Law Secretary to the contractor asking 
him to concur in only those issues being referred to arbi- 
tration which arose out of the contract. On the contractor 
agreeing to this, only then did the Law Secretary appoint 
a n  arbitrator. He also passed an order fixing a ceiling 
of Rs. 30,000 for the fee'. So, he applied his mind to the 
point that the proceedings should not become inordinately 
long. He did not visualise then that the proceedings 
would drag on for 12 years. By putting a ceiling it was 
his intention to restrict' the proceedings in expense and in 
time. Then, the arbitrator died after holding 30 or so 
hearings. Arbitration cannot be given up on that 
account. A new arbitrator was appointed. He started . the proceedings de novo. The entire period of 1$ years 
spent before the first arbitrator became infructuous. When 
the new arbitrator was appointed, again a ceiling was put 
with the idea of restricting the time and expenditure. The 
proceedings were going on and the arbitrator said. 'I 
will restrict my fee if you restrict the number of hearings. 
My fee will have to be related to the amount of time I 
spend'. Then, he asks for an extension and naturally 
there is the question of fees to be paid to the advocate. 
These are accepted in the case of the contractor by his 
Counsel. But in the case of our Counsel, he makes a 
report to Government, he gives an estimate of the number 
of hearings that will be necessary and on that basis a rd  
on the recognised norm, fees are determined. Unfortuna- 
tely, this process has been going on and I do not know 
who is to be b,lamed for this. Once you have embarked 
on this venture, then it is not merely the questinn of 
saving the money but you have to see that there is no 
default on the part of the Government and the Govern- 
ment case has to be defended. At every stage, a fresh 
estimate had to be given. Ultimat,dy, a stage has rome 
when the Law Secretary has said that that is the last time 
he was going to revise the ceiling on fees. For further 
hearings that took place' Government did not issue further 
revised sanction." 

2.33. The Committee desired to know the number of occasions on 
which it became necessmy to extend the arbitration proceedings, 
the grounds on which such extensions were sought and the authority 



who had allowed the extension. In a note furnished to the Com- 
mittee in this regard, the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"The details of the applications made to the High Court, in- 
cluding the reasons for extensions, names of the officers 
allowing the extensions are given below: --- - 

SI. No. and date Period of extension Reasons given for extcnsicns Name of Offic 
of applications sought and granted granting ex- 
to the Bcmhay tension anCdae 
High Court of order. - 
I .  April 28, 

I 960 

3. August 28, 
1961. 

4. April 26, 
1962. 

7. Dtcembrr 
9. 1965. 

8. January 
21, 1974- 

Upto June 
30 1961. 

Upto January 
31, 1962. 

April 30, 1963 

LTpto Jcne 30, 
1966. 

Late Justice Majumdar Justice S. M. 
could not start the Arbitra- Shah, 
tion within 4 months. May 12, 1960. 

Late Justice Majumdar Justice H. N. 
was still hearing pre- Mcdy, 
liminary matters, nccessl- Dcct mbrr rg, 
tatjng further exttnsins. 1 s t ~ .  

Death of the first arbitratcr, Just'cc R. K. 
appointment of a new Desai, 
arbitratcr, end as the Stpttmbcr22, 
prccetdings were to be 1961. 
started de noco before Justice 
Bishan Narain, the new 
arbitrator. 

The matttr wes intrfcstt ; TI-:I c (  R. hl. 
the emccnt, of claims arc' ' ~ l n c i  n ~ f : ,  
counter-clslms sggrcgatrd April. 2;. 1962. 
to about Rs. 8.50 crores. 
As the Arbitrator held 
rnly 20 hearings and as 
voluminous ev:dence were 
to be prcc'.ucrd by the 
parties, the Arbitratrr 
required further time. 

Same as item 4 Justice R. M. 
Kantawala, 
December 20, 
I 962. 

Kc, ~wa1.d ccrld hc g.vn Jr:t.c~ R. K. 
by the Arhitr~rtr  E F  :hr Dtxi. 
rvic'tnce h:d r.ct hicn Dtcrmbez, 6 
ccmplcted. 1%3. 

Same ss abcve. Justice R. hl. 
Kantawala. 

December 10, 
1965. 

Prcc r~~~ inps  ccncluqtd cn Justice J. R. 
3ISt August, 1973 and Vjmedalal, 
Arbitrator rrqcirrd timr J~nuary  ;, 
to p~~blish award upro 1974. 
I - .  Apprcvnl cf 
High Court sought accor- 
dingly. 

2.34. At the instance of the Committee, the Ministry of Defence 
also furnished a statement indicating the occasions when the ad- 



journment of the arbitration proceedings were a g r d  to and gran- 
ted along with the r eams  therefor, which is reproduced below: 

S1. D ~ t e  of adjournment Nature and reasons for adjournment 
No. 

7-7-1961 Hearing fixed for this date postpcncd cn 12-8-1961 at 
the request of the Government Cm.nsel as he was bed- 
ridden following an accidmt. 

22-12-1961 Hearing fixed for this date was pcstponed to 9-1-1962 
at  the request of the Govemmtnt Counsel as Govern- 
ment required more timc to cm.sult the Attorney General 
on Arbitrator's orders dated 22-1 1-1961 nn Govrmmcnt's 
preliminary objections. 

Hcaring fixed for this date pclstponed to 21-8-1962 at  the 
reqlest of the Company as foreign exchange to bring 
foreign expert had not been received. 

Hearing fixrd for this date postponed to 11-91962 
as Arbitrator had to ct-nduct an enquiry in Dumraon 
Railway disaster in thc meanwhile. 

Hearing fixcd at Calcutta fc r this date cancellid as Cc m- 
pany could nct arrange presence of their foreign Wit- 
nesses and thc next hearmg was fixed for 14-1-1963. 

Hearing fixed for this date pr~stpc-ncd to 22-2-1963 cn  
acmunt of marrisgc of Grwcmm~nr Ccunscl's daughter. 

Compmy app-ared at hraring f i u d  for this da?c but 
requcstrd acljournmcnr to 15-3-1963 as thcir Witncss 
had suddenly takcn ill. 

15-7-1953 Hearing fixcd for this datc wwar6s pc>stpcncd to 27-7-1963 
to  accclmmdate Government Co~lnsrl's rcqutst cn 
pmclna! grounds. Again posrpcmid to 16-8-1963 as 
Company's senior Counsel was indisposed. 

31-19-1965 Company rcquested postpcacmcnt of the hcarinfi fixtd 
fdr this datc till 28-1 1-1965 to enable thcm to prccecd 
with inspection of Government accounts for works 
already in progress. 

The Company rcqucsted adjournment as thcir Scnior 
Counscl was indisposcd and could not comc tc, Delhi. 
This wa% opposed by the Govrmmcnt Counsel. Thr 
Arbitrator allowed thc request as it was trn pcrscnal 
medical grounds and the next hearing Was fixtd cn 
26-3-1966. 

14-11-1966 Hearings fixed for this date infructuous as important 
G~vernment  witness not available. iidjourncd to 14-12- 
I 966. 

14-12-1966 Company requested postpcmemcnt on the ground of 
d iRi:xlties in completing inspection of Govanmcnt 
Accounts. Ncxt hearing was fixed on 31-12-1966. 

12-10-1968 Hearing fixed for this date postponed to 29-10-1968 at 
the request of both the parties. 



- 

D ~ t e  of adjournment Nature and reasons for adjournment 51. 
No. - 

14. 

IS. 

18-9-1970 Hearing fixed for this date posrprntd. to zo-10-1970 due 
to illness of the Instructing Solicitor of the Ccmpanf. 

1-3-1971 Hearing fixed for this date pcstpcncd tc; 23-3-1971 at the 
request cf the Ccmpany which was cppcscd by the 
Governmt nt Counsel. 

23-3-1971 Hearing schcdulcd for this date pcstprntd by the Arbi- 
trator to 15th December, I971 as Governmtnt hzd not 
dec:ded and communicated enhancemtnt of the ceiling 
on fees. 

24-12-1971 At the close of the hearing' cn this day the Arbitratcr 
adjourned sine die till he head frcm Government abcut 
ceiling on fees. 

12-4-1972 Hearing adjcurncd till 1st June at the request of the Go- 
vernment counsel. 

1-6-1972 Hearing fixed for this date prstpcnt d tc 25th Jcne, I972 
due to serious illness of Arbitrator's wife. 

12-8-1972 Hearing fixed for this date prstpcntd to 26:h Avgcst, I972 
due to miscarriage of Govcmmmt's reccrds despatched 
bv Rqil and time spcnt in locating them. 

11-11-1972 Hearing in progress frrm 28th Octcber, 1972 adjcurned at 
the request of the Company to 27th December, r g p  
although the Govcmmtnt counsel Was preparcd to 
cmtinue. 

17-3-1973 Hcaring fixed for this date postpcnrd tc. 28th hkrck ,  1973 
owing to the death of the Arbitmtor's wife. 

3-7-1973 Hearing in progress frc,m 21st Junc ?.dicurncd at the 
requcst of the Company and the next htaring was fixed 
on 11-8-1973." 

2.35. The Committee desired to know the rationale behind con- 
.ducting the arbitration at Delhi even though the project was being 
executed at Bombay. the contracting firm was from Calcutta and 
the consultants were based in London. The Defence Secretary 
replied: 

"So far  as fixing of the venue is concerned, this is the respon- 
sibility of the Law Secretary. What weighed with him, 
I cannot say. But irrespective of whether it was Bombay 
or any other station, there would have been lot of cross 
country and cross continent journeys. The contractor is 
at  Calcutta; the Government is here; the Law Secretary 
is here. Perhaps, in this particular case, the judge who 
was appointed was here and he did not. want to move 



out of this particular place. The project was in Bombay 
and the consultants were in London. Whether you fix 
the venue in Bombay or Delhi, there would have been 
lot of cross-country journeys." 

' 

2.36. When asked whether the venue for the arbitration had been 
chosen as Delhi to accommodate the Government Counsel who had 
a busy practice in Delhi and would not have, theref40re, found the 
time to attend to the arbitration if it had been hdld at  Bombay, the 
witness i eplied : 

"Perhaps, there would have been a marginal saving if the 
hearings were in  Bombay. Hearings were held in Bom- 
bay as well as in Calcutta particularly to examine ac- 
counts of both the parties. Otherwise, everything was done 
here. You may be right in assuming that those people 
who were engaged in the arbitration-arbitrator or coun- 
sel-preferred to have it in Delhi. That could be one of 
the reasons but I have no evidence to say one way or the 
other." 

Subsequently, the Ministry of Defence informed the Committee, 
in a note, that all the 31 hearings held before late Shri Majumdar 
were held at Calcutta, which was the arbitrator's residence and that 
of the 779 hearings held before Shri Bishan Narain, 608 hearings 
were held at Delhi, 87 at Calcutta and 84 at Bombay. The details of 
the various hearings held at these places were also furnished to the 
Committee by the Ministry and are indicated in Appendix 111. The 
reasons indicated by the Ministry for holding the hearings at dif- 
ferent venues were as follows: 

"(a) The majoritv of the hearings were held at Delhi as this 
was the residence of the Arbitrator. 

(b) Hearings were held in Bombay for purpose of site ins- 
pections, demonstration, examination of accounts and 
other site documents by the arbitrator and witnesses. 

(c) Hearings were held in Calcutta to examine the accounts 
and other documents of the Company which was based 
in calcutta." 

2.37. Since as many as 108 issues had been framed for reference 
to the arbitrator which, from a purely commonsense point of view, 
were not! likely to be examined within the period of four months 
stipulated in the Arbitmtion Act, the Committee desired to know 



whether the Defence Ministry or the Law Ministry had seriously 
examined this aspect, taking into account the issues involved, and 
judged wheher it was worthwhile to go in for a long-drawn and 
expensive arbitration or whether i t  would be better to arrive a t  a 
negotiated settlement with the contractor. The Defence Secretary 
replied: 

"I think Mr. . .would be in a better position to say because 
I have no experience as to how many days one point of 
issue would take." 

The representative of the Ministry of Law stated in this connect5on: 

"It is very difficult to estimate that because it depends on the 
number of issues involved, the kind of evidence adduced 
on each issue, the arguments put forward and so on." 

The Committee asked, in  this context, whether Government could 
not have argued before the arbitrator for the deletion of a number 
of issues so as to concentrate on the m~ore essential points of dispute 
or whether there were other interests at play which wanted the pm- 
longation of the proceedings. The witness replied: 

"As i t  appears from the award, after these discussions, certain 
number of issues were fixed and these were the inevit- 
able issues. On this, the arbitrator went on. There must 
have been various other issues which had been given u p  
or abandoned." 

2.38. To another question whether the arbitration proceedings 
could not have been expedited by the Government counsel, the  
witness replied: 

"These hearings were not held unnecessarily. Men of emi- 
nence, retired judges and senior counsel were all there. 
It appears that the number of hearings-510-could have 
been reduced to some extent. I am not in a position to 
pass any judgement. But my respectful submission is that 
it all depends on the nature of the evidence adduced and 
so m. The engineering aspects may not have been pro- 
perly intelligible" to the lawyers." 

The Committee desired to know whether the witness would at least 
concede that Government might have arranged its claims more 



*carefully and meticulously prior to placing them before the arbitra- 
h r  and thereby saved expensive sittings. The witness stated: 

"It was expected that that was done because people of the 
eminence of the Senior Counsel should have taken that 
into consideration." 

2.39. The Committee asked whether the initiative for extending 
the proceedings always came fnom the Government counsel. The 
.Defence Secretary replied: 

"I believe the position has been that the Arbitrabor himself 
raised this point in the proce,edings before him, viz. that 
time was running out and that the fees will not cover 
the estimated period; he then makes a, proposition that 
the period will have to be extended. On behalf of the 
contractor, I believe his counsel is always able to agree, 
on the spot, to the extension. So far as we are concerned, 
the Senior Counsel who is prosecuting the case on our 
behalf, transmits to the Government the request of the 
Arbitrator giving his own estimate, acoording to his 
judgement, of the period that will be required; and on 
that basis, when the proposal comes to the Ministry of 
Defence, we get in touch with the Law Ministry who are 
concerned in ways more than one; because firstly, the 
Arbitrntors are appointed by them; and extensions of 
time mean something similar. They know something 
about the legal side and the charges pa.yable. That is why 
we go to them. Once they agree, we take the concurrence 
of the Finance side; and with that, a sanction is issued 
aiithorising further incurring of expenditure to the extent 
agreed to." 

'To another question whether the objective or purpose of providing 
for an arbitration clause in the contracts was not to avoid the long 

.delays that occur in  courts of law, the witness replied: 

"So I believe, Sir." 

2.40. Since the intention of Parliament in framing the Arbitration 
Act was to ensure that disputes of this nature are quickly resolved 
without having to go through the time-consuming, normal proces- 
ses of law and in view of the fact that the manner in which the 
al'bitration proceedings in the present case had prolonged for 15 
gears appeared to have subverted the purpose Eor which the Act had 



been conceived, the Committee desired to know what further steps 
should be taken to prevent' the recurrence of such a situation. The . 

Defence Secretary replied: 

'lf I may submit, although my answer may not be satisfac- 
tory to you, I am not expert either of law or of the ad- 
ministration of the Arbitration Act. . . . the administration 
of this Act is not a charge on the Ministry of Defence, 
in which case we might have more knowledge on the 
subject. It is really the Law Ministry which can indicate 
as tb how this kind of almost misuse of this particular 
legislatim should be got over because, as you have very 
rightly stated, it has completely subverted the purpose 
of the law. I t  is meant to cut the delay in normal legal 
proceedings, but i t  has perhaps takeh more than what a 
suit of this kind might have taken in a court of law. This* 
I think is a matter on which only the Law Ministry can 
give any advice. We have a representative of the Law 
Ministry here who will deal with this. I am afraid, I do 
not feel myself competent to express an ophion." 

In this connection, the representative of the Ministry of Law 
stated: 

"I do not think the Law Ministry is the admi'nistrative Ministry 
in respect of the Arbitration Act. If you look at the Act 
itself, the First Schedule. para 3 says: 

'The arbitrators shall make their award within four months 
after entering on the reference or, after having been 
called upon to act by notice in writi'ng from any party 
to the arbitration against or within such extended time 
as the court may allow'. 

So, the responsibility has been put on the court. It is ex- 
pected that the court, after looking into the grounds for 
extension, would or would not extend the time. If the 
court does not extend the time, then the arbitration comes 
to an end.. . .Every Act or instrument is as effective as 
you make use of it." 

2.41. When the Committee pointed out that though the extensions 
had been agreed to by both the parties and granted in terms of the 
law, the prolongation of the proceedings before the second arbitrator, 
appointed after the first arbitrator has expired, from four months to 
12 years appeared to be, prima facie. unconscionable. the represen- 
.tative of the Ministry of Law replied: 



"Prima facie, it looks like that. But. . . .the total numb& of 
hearings was 810. It all depends on each case-how many 
witnesses are examined, what amount of documents and 
pleadings and other things are gone into, arguments are 
advanced and so on. But, prima facie, it looks an extra- 
ordinarily long time but, having regard to the details 
given, it would have taken more time in a court. If you 
see the number of sittings, it was 82 in 1964 and another 
82 in 1968 and so on. Unless we go into the entire 
evidence, pleadings and arguments, it is very difficult to 
pass a comment on this." 

He stated further: 

"This arbitration was not being conducted by the Ministry 
of Law. The Ministry of Defence were conducting all 
that. We engaged the arbitrator and the counsel." 

When asked whether the witness was blaming the Defence Ministry 
for the delays that had taken place, he replied: 

"There is no question of apportioning blame. What I meant 
was that the Decence Ahistry would be in a better posi- 
tion to explain how so much time was taken, whether 
each hearing was useful or a waste of time." 

2.42. The Committee, therefore, desired to know whether the 
Defence Ministry had been reconciled to the delay in this case. The 
Defence Secretary replied: 

"So far as the Defence Ministry is concerned, its main concern 
is getting on with the job, particularly in the context of 
the defence of the country. In this particular case, 
having been landed with arbitration and legal matters 
in which we have the least experience, we could do no 
better than be guided by our legal counsel and by the 
arbitrator and whenever occasims came for reviewing 
the matter, when the arbitration period was over or was 
running out, there was consultation between the Ministry 
of Defence and the Ministry of Law to review this ques- 
tion as to how the work was proceeding. I see from 
our files the remarks of the Ministries of Defence, 
Finance and Law that people were unhappy wi'th the sort 
of extensions going on but, a t  the same time, they felt 
they could not get out of it and having gone so far, the 



feeling was 'let us go a little more and finish fhe pro- 
ceedings'. I am myself unhappy at this point of time that 
we landed ourselves in  the process, which has neither 
been profitable nor creditable to us in  any way. While 
I do not wish to avoid any blame which may legitimately 
attach to us, I think the prosecution of this case by who- 
ever was watching the Defence interests was not ade- 
quate. I would be the first to admit it. If the interested 
party does not take adequate interest in a case, it would 
be not just enough to blame the legal people and others, 
but we were inexperienced in this matter and had to be 
guided initially by the Law Ministry and then by the 
Legal Adviser appointed in  consultation with them. 
Obviously there were people who wanted to misuse this. 
Even when the Arbitrator made a suggestion at one stage 
to cut short the proceedings by saying that the examha- 
tion-in-chief of the witnesses might be done by affidavits 
filed by the parties and thereafter the witnesses could 
be examined by the opposite party, the counsel for the 
contractor did not agree' to such a suggestion. So, all 
possible legal methods seem to have been used to pro- 
long the proceedings. Here the contractor's motivation 
comes out. T!here may be other people who may have 
had th&r own reasms for prolonging it. but one wav or 
the other we have been victims of various types of atti- 
tudes which have landed us into this situation." 

2.43. The Committee asked whether any probe had been made 
into this matter. when it came to the notice of the Defence Sec- 
retary that. prima fucie. there was something urrong. The witness 
replied: 

"My association with this case is a few days old. I took 
charge as Secretary of this Ministry a little over two 
months ago and whatever observation I have made is on 
the basis of the study which I have made, more particu- 
larly in crder to make submissions to this august body. 
The stage for me to apply my mind to any other ad- 
ministrative consequences would arise only hereafter." 

2.44. As pointed out in the Audit paragraph, mention had also 
been made of the work on Contract No. 1 relating to Stage-I of the 
Expansion Scheme in paragraph 22 of the Audit Report, Defence 
Services, 1965. This had been examined by the Public Accounts 



Committee (1965-66) in  their 48th Report (Third Lok Sablia) s 
decade ago. The Committee had then enquired about the latest 
position relating to this arbitration and had been informed by 
Government that the arbitrator had till then held 240 sittings and, 
that the proceedings were expected to be over in another 1180 
sittings by about March 1966. The Committee drew attention to 
this commitment and desired to know why the arbitration had been 
prolonged for another eig,ht years. The Defence Secretary replied: 

"That dges not amount to a commitment, it is an indication 
of the period estimated to be taken at that time. As you 
would see, we have been going on from one esumate to  
another because of the circumstances known to you. 

The interpretation of this law in a certain manner is with 
the Courts or the Arbitrators w,ho are themselves Judges 
or have been Judges of Courts. In this particular case 
this gentleman was a retired judge of a High Court who 
officiated also as a Chief Justice. How are we answer- 
able for the interpretation which they make? All these 
extensions are sought by the Arbitrator, a retired High 
Court Judge, or the extensions are actually granted by 
the High Court which is administering this particular 
case. So, there are many parties which would have to 
be in some way or other connected or held responsible 
for the results which you and we find so unfortunate." 

Subsequently, the Ministry of Defence furnished to the Committee 
a note explaining the circumstances in which the period for the. 
completion of the arbitration proceedings indicated to the Public 
Accounts Committee (1965-66) could not be adhered to, which is 
reproduced below: 

"The Arbitrator entered on the reference on 15-4-1961. 
During the course of 4 years, there were 240 sittings 
before the Arbitrator and overall evidence of the con- 
tractor's witnesses had almost been completed. It was 
therefore estimated in 1965 that another 170 to 180 sittings 
would take place and it was expected that the proceed- 
ings would be over by March 1967. (There appears to 
be some error in ?he indication of March 1966 in the PAC 
Report 1965-66). Actually. after March. 1967 as many 
as 474 sittings took place to enable the Arbitrator to 
complete hik examination of the various witnesses, 
documents, records and other related matters and hear 



arguments. The period indicated to, tEe PAC in 1965 
could not therefore be adhered to." 

2.45. The Committee found from the arbitrator's award on tho 
first reference entered on 30th March, 1961 that the arbitrator, in 
paragraph 24 of the award had, inter a h ,  observe'd as follows: 

"Apparently, the parties at the initial stages were not taken. 
to expedite the proceedings as Government was in the 
course of completing the contract works. Possibly, the, 
company felt that Government's experience would prove 
their case, while the Government thought that this ekpe- 
rience would demolish the company's case and also that 
their claims based on estimated expenses would then be- 
come based on actual expenses." 

When the Committee drew attention to the abwe observation of the 
arbitrator the Defence Secretary stated: 

"I cannot really understand fully as to what the Arbitrator 
has meant by saying that 'the parties, at the initial stages 
were not keen to expedite the proceedings as Govern- 
ment was in the course of completing the contract works. 
It is a charge against both the parties." 

2.46. The Conmittee thereupon pointed out that Government 
themselves apparently wanted to prolong the proceedings since they 
were not clear about the extra cost incurred in the departmental ex- 
ecution 01 the abandoned work which was taking a long time to com- 
plete and, therefore, to cover their own default, they, perhaps, want- 
ed the case to drag on. The Defence Secr&ary stated: 

"Thank you for your guidance on this. On the basis of my 
going into the case, I have taken another view. which 
in effect comes to the same thing; but perhaps in the 
matter of holding the Goyernment responsible, our posi- 
tions may be somewhat different. Normally, a case for 
arbitration should have arisen only after it was known 
as to what was the extra cost incurred by the Govern- 
ment. Then there is a definite basis on which the Arbi- 
trator can come to a decision; and the Government also 
would not have to answer the kind of points that were 
raised by the hon. Member, viz. why did we reduce 

.- .. the amount at one stage: and at another, acted differ- 



$1~.  To me, the wlkole sequence a t  that time appears to 
be wrong. We should have invoked thd clauses of the 
contract, assumed charge of the work, and have completed 
the work. After the bill was paid; we should have pro- 
ceeded against the contractor. Here-for what reason, 
I cannot make out-even before we had started the work, 
or about that time, the contractor goes in for arbitration, 
the Law Secretary appoints the arbitrator, and we, in  
order to safeguard our interests, make a rough estimate 
and put in our counter claim. Now, the Arbitrator may 
have taken the view that he can come to a decision only 
on the1 basis of actuals. If that is so, then it is not only 
the Government which was waiting, but the other party 
also; even the Arbitrator might have been waiting, be- 
cause he has not allowed anything more than the actuals. 
In  this case, because of the\ wrong sequence, the delay 
was perhaps natural." 

2.47. The Committee asked whether a clause in the contract should 
not  have been provided for levying liquidated damages. The wit- 
ness replied: 

"There should be some clause in the contract. In this contract, 
there is a clause. We put a counter-claim on that basis; 
it was scaled down later. I am submitting that the sequ- 
ence was responsible to some extent for the delay." 

2.48. The observations of the arbitrator contained in pa,ragraph 
26 of his award on the reference dated 30th March, 1961 were as 
.~ollows: 

"Then the stage arose for examination of oral evidence of the 
Government. Government's witnesses barring engineer- 
ing experts were mainly those who had been engeged in 
completing the contract works and therefore their wit- 
nesses could be examined only after the Government ac- 
count books had been inspected by the company accord- 
ing to the procedure agreed upon by the parties." 

2.49. In paragraph 27 of this award, the arbitrator had, inter alia, 
abserved: 

"The company started inspecting the Government's account 
books in October, 1965 but could not complete the inspec- 
tion till after 31st March, 1969 in spite of their best efforts. 



'This delay was due to the fact that the G w e r n m t ' s  ac- 
count books could not be made available in their entirety 
to the company for reasons that will be discussed 
later.. . . Very little progress was made in the case bet- 
ween 1965 and 1969." 

,The reasons for the delay of abou't four years for the completion 
(of the inspection of the Governmeht accounts by the company have 
been dealt with by the arbitrator in paragraphs 17 to 19 and 21 to 
25 of his award on the reference dated 8th January 1962, which are  
reproduced below for facility of ready reference: 

"17. The Government has produced copies of accounts in 4 
volumes showing the amounts spent by the Government, 
in completing the contract works. These accounts are in 
the form of so to say monthly journals giving the amounts 
spent on items stated therein and the months of payments/ 
adjustments of these amounts. These copies show that 
the account books were not kept B/Q item-wise nor work- 
wise. In the beginning, the Government totalled the 
amounts in these four volunies as Rs. 2?15!40,935/- and the 
Company totalled the same at about Rs. 194.74 lakhs. 
After s:we arguments, both parties agreed to recheck the 
tu!a:s at:d have now i n f o r ~ e d  me jointlv that the total 
co:-ries to Rs. 2,i1.$4,158/-. I hold that according to these 
iuar volumes the Grn~ernmcnt claims to have spent 
Its. 2,12.7'4,158!- in compiet.!ng the contract works." 

' IS. The lt.aln..cl CL)unsel fvr the Goven7ment has brouqht to 
r r \ .  nnticc durinq argi~mcnts that adjuctmcnts in the ac- 
c l~unts  zftcr 31st March. 19139 show that the Government 
had spent anoi!ler Rs 6 68.859 '- for these works, and has 
I ir:u~.;tcd mr :0 t*ji;e into considemtion this smo:int when 
adjudicating on Go~crnment's claims.'' 

"19. The cir~cumstances 1eadr.i:: to this situation are these. The 
G!wernnlent. ah alren-Ip ~ ta ted ,  esercised the option of in- 
\ d h . g  cl,?usc 63 of thc contract and took cver the posses- 
slon of the slte on 28th December, 1956. The Companv on 
26th December. 1956 sent a notice to the Union of India 
under Section 80 of the Code of Civil Procedure making 
claims now subject matter of the first reference. The 
Conlpan y therein claimed certain amounts B/Q item-wise 
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according to contract rates and additional amounts work- 
wise on the basis of actual expenses incurred. The Gov- 
ernment consulted AGP who informed the Government 
that cost of completion of contract works will far exceed 
the amounts contemplated in the contract. The Govern- 
ment in February 1957 decided to complete these works 
departmentally. Under Clause 63, the Government had 
a right to recover the extra amounts so spent from the 
Company. Therefore, the Government before starting 
these works knew that on the completion of these works 
the Government would have to satisfy the Company that 
the expenses so incurred were reasonable and whether 
extra expenditure was incurred or not. As the litigation 
was probable and almost certain, the Government knew 
that i t  would have to satisfy not only the Company but 
also the courts of law and the Arbitrator that the expenses 
incurred by the Government were reasonable. In these 
circumstances, I would have' expected that ordinary 
prudence would lead the Government to keep these 
expense accounts B /Q item-wise or workwise but for 
some reason, the' Government did not adopt this course 
but continued keeping the accounts, I am told, according 
to the old practice. This method of keeping accounts in 
the instant case was wholly unsuitable for the purposes 
of clause 63 and this has led to considerable! complications 
in adjudicating upon Government's claims." 

"21. The Company closed its evidence on 31st August, 1965. 
Thereafter, on the same day, i t  was stated on behalf of the 
Government that the charts upto 31st March, 1964 would 
be supplied to the Company by 10th September, 1965 and 
the charts for the remaining period will be supplied by 
the end of September 1965. The Company then fixed 3rd 
October, 1965 for inspection of Government books at  
Bombay." 

"22. The Company during October 1965 inspection wrote to m e  
with copy to the Government and their Counsel and com- 
plained 'the statements of accounts disclosed by the Gov- 
ernment are mere index of different items of expenses and 
do not indicate total amount spent on particular items of 
work. In  the absence of detailed charts, it has fallen upon 
us to prepare detailed charts ourelves with a view to 



shortening the proceedings' and then on 4th December, 
1965 the Company complained that the statements of ac- 
counts given by the Government contained only index of 
several items of expenses and do not contain material and 
relevant particulars either on the basis of the claims or 
subject-wise, and that these accounts have not yet been 
completed nor fully adjusted. The Company also stated 
in this letter that quite a large number of vouchers and 
documents were not available in the office a t  Bombay and 
the Company has been asked to inspect them at  Poona. 
The Company on 16th March, 1966 wrote to say that the 
inspection will continue for an indefinite period unless the 
Government is directed to complete adjustments of their 
accounts and supply the same to the Company. In this 
state of affairs, I had to pass the order that it was not pos- 
sible to have further hearings before inspection is com- 
pleted and called upon the parties that the inspection 
should be resumed from 1st June, 1966 and to report to 
mie every fortnight a,s to how the inspection was progres- 
sing. This order did not help matters at all. T'ne Com- 
pany by letter dated 13th December, 1966 informed me 
that they had taken inspection for 128 days and yet the 
Government has not completed the adjustments in their 
accounts." 

"23. On 31st December, 1966, the learned Counsel for the Gov- 
ernment made a statement reading- 

'As regadrs the inspection of accounts, there has unfortu- 
nately been great difficulty in completing the adjust- 
ments for reasons beyond the Government's control. 
However, inspection of all accounts material available 
with the Government has been given to the Company. 
I t  will still take some months to make final adjustments 
and even adjustments regarding dispos31 of assets will 
remain incomplete. The Government will complete all 
adjustments of accounts by 30th June, 1967 except that 
adjustments connected with disposal of assets may still 
remain to be incomplete to some extent'. 

On this I passed an order that if the; Government does not 
complete the adjustments of accounts other than those re- 
lating to disposal of assets by 31st March, 1967. then the 
Government will not be allowed to make any further ad- 
justments and must take the consequence thereof." 



"24. All adjustments of accounts were not completed by 30th 
June, 1967. The learned Counsel for the Government. two 
years later on 1st December, 1968 made another statement 
reading:- 

'The Government regrets that it has not been possible to 
complete adjustments in the accounts in terms of the 
order of the lea,rned Arbitrator dated 3lst December, 
1966. This was so mainly due to the fact that hearings 
have been going on from time to time. It  kept the 
senior staff busy. Inspection of acconuts by the nppo- 
site party was also going on periodically when the rele- 
vant accounts staff of ~ove rnmen t  had to attend to the 
representatives of MIS. Hind Construction. Again the 
adjustments had to be approved by the Government 
Auditors which takes considerable tim,e. However, I 
do not in any way justify the delay. I assure the learn- 
ed Arbitrator and the opposite party that all adjustments 
of accounts will be completed by 31st March, 1969 thol~gh 
efforts will be made to complete these even two weeks 
earlier. A copy of the adjustments will he furnished to 
the opposite party so that they can start insrxatiorl of 
the accounts for the period from 1st April, 1969'. 

The time therefore was extended till 31st March, 1959 for 
making all adjustments." 

"25. During all this period I v\.as pressing the Go~wmilient to 
cxpedite adjustments of accounts and to finaljse lilsnectiun 
of their accounts but witbout any succe':s. I may state 
here th:;t d ~ ~ r i r ~ g  arguments I once suggested nraliy that 
these account,i may be \vrit tcn out U I Q  item-wise or work- 
w i s e  hilt I was informed that this could not he doae wit,h- 
in rcasor,able lime. if at all. In the meanwhile, hearings 
of thc case could takc plac:. only occa.sionally beiwcen 
October, 1965 and 1969 because the Company naturally 
was reluctant - to cross-examinc Government witnessw till 
they knew th(-: exact position of Governmcr~t's claims. 
This problem of adjustments in Guvernment account? and 
thereafter inspection by the Company prolonged these pro- 
ceedings by considerable time." 

2.50. Since, according to the arbitrator, the problem of ~djuatme~:ts 
in Government accounts had prolonged the proceedings considerably, 
the Committee asked how this delay of about four years in findising 



the Government accounts was justified. The Defence Secretary 
replied : 

"If I may again draw your a,ttention to the statement I made 
earlier, unfortunately the sequence of events seems to have 
been different from what one would normally expect. 
Here the contractor went for arbitration; the work was 
not complete. Hence for the works which were under way 
the acr wnts would not be complete. Secondly; accounts 
of a party like a contractor are quite different from the 
kind of accounts which we maintain and are expected to 
maintain under the procedures approved by the Comptrol- 
ler and Auditor General. The processes involved do take 
time. 

I should sag here that I am a little pleasantly or unpleasantly 
surprised that our own counsel has not quite put our case 
in the way our counsel would be expected to; he has point- 
ed out the weaknesses of our side instead of really arguing 
the other way round." 

2.51. Dealing with the procedure adopted for bringing oral and 
documentary evidence on record, the arbitrator, in paragraph 28 of 
the award on the reference dated 30th March, 1971, had observed: 

". . .at no stage did any party object to the procedure adopted 
by me for bringing oral and docum.entary evidence of the 
parties on the record and also never objected to the pro- 
cedure adopted by me for hearing their respective argu- 
ments. These procedures were adopted with the previous 
consent of the learned Counsel for both parties." 

The Committee, therefore, desired to know the reasons for the Gov- 
ernment Counsel agreeing to such an elaborate procedure which in  
turn contributed to the lengthening of the arbitration proceedings 
and whether the issues were really so complicated as to require a 
long time to be unravelled. The Defence Sccretary replied: 

"I would only submit this. When me hire a counsel, after con- 
sulting the best legal advice, it is just like entrusting our- 
selves to a physician. You entrust yourself to the physi- 
cian completely. If you start doubting motives of counsel 
i t  is better to change the counsel. This is a legal matter. 
We hired a counsel and we believed in his best judgement 
in the matter. That is all there is to it." 



2.52. When asked, in this context, whether it was the judgement 
of the Navy and of the Ministry of Defence that urgency was not of 
the essence of the matter when the case was entrusted to the Coun- 
sel for being presented before the arbitrator, the witness replied: 

"Here I would like to submit what I submitted earlier namely 
that there was a certain urgency in completing this par- 
ticular proceedings as i t  had its own importance. But, the 
Navy is more concerned with completion of the works. 
The Navy and the Ministry of Defence are not experts in 
legal proceedings. They have gone to the Ministry of 
Law; they have taken their advice. And, on their advice, 
a Counsel has been hired; an arbitrator has been appoint- 
ed by the Law Secretary. All that we were expected to 
do was this. We had to feed the Counsel with all the in- 
formation he wanted so that he could proceed with the 
case. At that point of time it was considered that he 
would look after our interests. If he had not done it, then 
we are! before you and you can indicate to us what we 
should have done." 

2.53. As regards the expenses claimed by Government before the 
arbitrator as having been incurred in the completion of the works 
abandoned by Hind Construction Ltd., the Committee found from 
the arbitration award that the company had contended that 
Government had ulireasonably delayed commencement and 
completion of the contract works and thereby unrdasonably increased 
expenses. Dealing with this contention, the arbitrator had, in 
paragraph 50 of his award on the reference dated 8th January, 1962, 
observed : 

"Now it is the case of both parties before me that the Com- 
pany is liable to pay to the Government only such amounts 
as have been reasonably incurred in completing these 
works. The Government had to complete these works at  
the cost of the' Company and therefore had to carry out 
the works with reasonable efficiency avoiding all unneces- 
sary expenses as experienced, reasonable and prudent 
'Contractors'. Moreover, the Government must be taken 
to have been particularly conscious of the fact that the 
Navy required the project to be completed as soon as pos- 
sible. 

Contrary to the suggestion made on behalf of the Govern- 
ment, I am of the opinion that the Government was in a 



position to appoint experienced administrators and ex- 
[ perienced engineers familiar with maritime works for this 

important project that in fact did appoint such officers 
and engineers who succeeded in completing the works. 
It  is in evidence that costs of carrying out these works 
was constantly increasing at about 4 to 5 per cent every 
year and therefore the Government should have made 
special efforts to avoid all unnecessary delays and should 
have completed the' works as soon as possible. 

I am really amazed at the slow progress and tardiness of the 
Government in completing this project so urgently requir- 
ed. I am satisfied that the Government could have easily 
completed this work much earlier within the framework 
of the Contract terms. Possibly, the project lost its prio- 
rity in the meanwhile." 

2.54. When the Committee drew attention to these observations 
~f the arbitrator and desired to know the Government's reactions 
thereto, the Defence Secretary stated: 

"If I may submit here I do not know what the hon. arbitrator 
means by saying that 'the Government could have easily 
completed the work much earlier within the framework 
of the contract'. The contract having been already frus- 
trated, we do not know, what he meant by the framewrrrk 
of the contract." 

He added: 

"Factually, as far as I can see, this work which was to be corn-' 
pleted in three years by the contractor who is a specialist 
in doing this kind of work could not be completed by 
him even if a certain amount of extra time was given 
to him. For the Government to undertake the work depart- 
mentally, i t  was not in their normal line of business and 
that explains to some extent the delay. I also find that 
whereas the contractor completed 15 per cent of the work 
in two years, Government subsequently completed the re- 
maining 85 per cent in six years. We can draw one com- 
parison as to the relative delay." 

2.55. Subsequently, in a note furnished to the Committee in this 
regard, the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"These remarks, which are in the nature 04 OBITER DICTA 



are not germane to the lssues before the Arbitrator. I n  
any case, these remarks obviously refer to the works 
included in Contract I of Stage I of the NDES which was 
the subject matter of this arbitration. 

When a contractor fails and alternative arrangements have 
to be mede to execute the work, delay is unavoidable. 
Since the decision was to execute the work departmental- 
ly, Government had to set up the required organisation 
and also organise the work. I t  map be noted that Gov- 
ernment had no previous experience in undertaking this 
kind of work. Time was also taken in preparing inventor- 
ies etc. of the plants and m8achinery left by the contractor 
and also in reactivising the contractor's plants which were, 
left in a deplorable condition. 

As regards the remarks of the arbitrator on the question of 
priority, i t  may be stated that the project never lost the 
priority accorded to it by the Government. The delay 
that unfortunately occurred was due to reasons entirely 
beyond the control of Government." 

2.56. The Committee were informed by Audit that the Ministry 
of Defence had intimated (August 1973) that the Senior Govern- 
ment Counsel had stated that the delay that had occurred in this 
case was beyond his control and that the lacunae in the existing Ar- 
bitration Act made the Arbitrator's position in speeding up the mat- 
h r  difficult. The Committee, therefore, enquired into the de'tails of 
She lacunae referred to by the Government Counsel, when this had 
come to notice and the action taken periodically in this regard to re- 
move the lacunae. In a note furnished to the Committee, the Minis- 
try of Defence stated as follows: 

"In response to a letter of the Director of Audit, Defence Ser- 
vices 18/19th July 1973, in which he had asked 'whether 
the matter was also discussed with the Senior Government 
Counsel at the highest level, and, if so, when and with 
what result?'; the Joint Secretary, Ministry of Defence, 
had informed as follows: 

'Discussions with the Senior Government counsel had taken 
place more or less periodically since 6th September, 1971. 
The Secretary, Ministry of Law had discussion with 
Senior Government Counsel on 6th September, 1971. On 



2nd December, 1971, m y  predecessor had discussions. 
Additional Secretary, Ministry of Defence, had discus- 
sions with the Senior Government Counsel on 24th April. 
1972 and again on 10th November, 1972. The Senior 
Government Counsel had repeatedly stated that the- 
delay that had occurred in this case was beyond ]?is con- 
trol. He also mentioned the lacunae in the existing 
Arbitration Act, which made the Arbitrators position in 
speeding up the matter difficult.' 

In response to the DADS query, the Ministry ]lad merely tran- 
smitted a statement of the Senior Government Counsel. I t  
had no knowledge as to whether there was n lacuna and, 
if so, of what kind. The Arbitration Act is a general Act 
of long standing and as a.dvised by the Law Ministry, 
prima facie, there appears no lacuna therein. Jn any 
event it was not for the Ministry of Defence to move for 
removal of such a lacuna, should there have been one." 

2.57. Since i t  had been stated in the Ministry's note that it was 
not for the Ministry of Defence to move for the removal of such a 
lacuna in the Act, should there have been one, the Committee ask- 
ed whether it was not incumbent on the part of the Ministry to 
point oyt to the legal authorities concerned the hurdles encountered 
by them in executing projects of strategic importance and move for 
the removal of legal impediments, if any. The Defence Secretary 
replied : 

do not know whether you consider our answer happily or 
unhappily worded. All that it seeks to convey is that we 
have been in touch with the Ministry of Law on the 
question whether there is any substance behind the plea 
of our counsel that there is a lacuna in this particular 
legislation; and we have been given the advice that there 
is no apparent lacuna in this law. This is about point 
one; viz. whether we did go into this matter or not. The 
second point you had pointed out .is whether it is not the 
duty of the Defence Ministry to take steps for the removal 
of lacunae. I am sure you are aware that Government 
consist of several limbs; and those limbs do different 
functions on behalf of the same Government. We have, 
in our organisation, administrative Ministries which are 
concerned with the administration of particular laws. We 
are also having, in our admfistration, the Ministry of 
Law which is the prime branch of government which 
examines legal matters, advises and even initiates legls- 



lotion-whether original or for amending, for the removal 
of lacunae. Here, we find that we are not the Ministry 
administering this particular law. We do have certain 
laws on the Defence side which we administer and 
for which we have a direct responsibility; wherein, if we 
discover a lacuna, we will take necessary steps. I think 
in the recent session also, there was a lelgislation spon- 
sored by the Ministry lolf Defence. So, we are not the 
administrative machinery; we are also not the legal 
branch of the government on whom the responsibiility 
rests for proposing legislation. We come across all kin& 
of plea being taken. I am talking purely as a layman and 
an administrator. With my little experience, I would be 
able to see that if a law had some serious lacuna, it would 
have come to the notice of the administrative Ministry 
or of the Law Ministry. This is not the only case, the 
question of arbitration comes up several times. These 
questions must have been gone into during those discus- 
sions. To the extent that we thought we should take up 
the matter, we have consulted the Law Ministry. Even 
though we are neither the administrative nor the legal 
branch, we did consult the Law Ministry. If there is a 
lacuna, either the administrative Ministry or the Law 
Ministry would be the appropriate authority to take the 
necessary further steps." 

2.58. To another question whether the Law Ministry had been 
approached in this regard, the witness replied: 

"To my knowledge, the legal adviser has not spelt out-at 
least I have seen nothing where he has spelt out-as to 
what is the lacuna. Secondly, to the extent the lacuna 
has been mentioned, I have been in touch with the Law 
Ministry; and I have conveyed the advice that they have 
given, viz. that there is no lacuna, prima facie." 

2.59. On this question, the Law Secretary added: 

"With regard to your question regarding lacuna in the Addi- 
tration Act, just like the Civil Procedure Code, personal- 
ly I do not think there is anything wrong if it is properly 
followed and the proceedings can be disposed of expediti- 
ously. It is morel a question of how in practice certain 
people take advantage of some provisions for taking ad- 
journments etc. In the Arbitration Act, there is a time- 
limit laid down that arbitration proceedings should be com- 



pleted within 4 months. After the period of four months, 
the Act itself provides for extension of time within which 
the Arbitrator should matke the award. This time is ex- 
tended by the court. In many cases, it happens that after 
the initial four months' period is over, either of the parties 
approaches the court for extension giving sufficient cause 
for that and if the court orders, the time is extended. 
Even if the application for extension is opposed, in case 
the court is satisfied that sufficient cause has been made 
out, i t  will grant extension. An appeal can lie if the court 
refuses to grant extension of time, but if the court grants 
extension, there is no appeal." 

2.60. When asked whether the Law Ministry were of the view 
that there was, prima facie, no necessity to amend Arbitration Act, 
the witness replied: 

"If I am asked whether in Arbitration Act further improve- 
ments can be made, I would say 'yes'. But the delays that 
are occurring, I do not think that these are because some- 
thing is lacking in the Arbitration Act." 

2.61. Referring to the statement of the Law Secretary that there 
was apparently nothing wrong in the' Act itself if it was property 
followed, the Committee desired to know how it  could be ensured 
that  the Act was implemented properly. The Law Secretary stated: 

"Such instances are very few which have come to our notice. 
Ordinarily in Government contracts, there is a provision 
for sole arbitration. The delay cannot be attributed to 
anything wrong in arbitration Act but the awards that are 
made a,re non-speaking awards. It is difficult to challenge 
them on a particular ground because the arbitrator is not 
bound to give any reasons. So far as expediting matters 
is concerned, I do not think that there is anything lacking 
in the provisions of the Arbitration Act." 

2.62. The Committee enquired whether Govth-mnent proposed 
t o  take any remedial steps on the basis of the experience gained in 
this particular case. In a note, the Ministry of Defence informed the 
Committee as follows: 

ICI. -1- ' 



''This question was referred to the Ministry of Law who have  
stated as under:- 

'The Arbitration Act is a general Act of long standing and 
prima jacie there appears no lacuna therein. However, 
in view of the observations of the Chairman of the Pub- 
lic Accounts Committee, the matter would be consider- 
ed whether any amendment to the Arbitration Act is. 
necessary'." 

(iii) Expenses on Arbitration. 

(a) Arbit~ator'~ fees 

2.83. The Audit paragraph points out that upto December 1973, 
an expenditure of about Rs. 19 lakhs had been incurred on the arbi- 
tration proceedings by way of fees for the arbitrator and the counsels, 
travelling allowances and other miscellaneous expenses. According 
to the information furnished to Audit subsequently (March 1975) by 
the Ministry of Defence, the expenditure on this account upto the 
end of September 1974 amounted to Rs. 19.55 lakhs. 

2.64. The following statement furnished by the Ministry of 
Defence, at  the instance of the Committee, lindicates the break- 
up of the total expenditure incurred on the arbitration as on 
1 July 1975: 

Total (Rupees) 

r. Salaries of Site Stsff of Arbitrator ir cludir g rcr.t rcjmbursc mcr t 
50% of monthly exp-nditure . . . . . . . 67,377- 88 

2 Sitting fees of Arbitrators (50% of both Shri J. N. Majumdar and 
Shr~ B~shan Narau..) . . . . 1~94~771'19 

3 S-nior Caurscl's fees . . . . . . . . 9,03,652.42 

4 Junior Couv..st 1% fces , . , . . , . . 2,48,707* 25 

5 Proportior.ate pzy ard allowanccs of DCE . . 27,633'09 

6 TA/DA claims of DCE . . . . . 1~07,778'10 

7 Othcr c xp .r.sr s ir. ww.c &on With Axbit ration (TA/DA claimr of str  ff 
deputed on h b i r ~ a t i o ~ .  duly) . . . . . . 57r225'99 

8 Trav4ir.g cxpc.mt s of co~lsulrarr tr sr d thrir rc prc~rtativi s . 1,~6:Icz.Eq 

10 Fees paid to Solicitor Shri Sen of Calcutta in 1960161 . 4,930.00 -- 
193 73r999.08 - 



2.65. Drawing attention to the periodical increase in the 
ceiling fixed for the payment of fees to the arbitrator, from 
Rs. 30,000 in 1961 to Rs. 3.65 lakhs in October, 1972 pointed out in 
the Audit paragraph, the Committee desired to know the basis on 
which the original ceiling was fixed and the specific reasons for 
the  periodical increases. In a note, the Ministry of Defence 
stated: 

"The initial sanction for payment of fees to the Arbitrator 
was based on sitting fees rates as follows: 

Rs. 
.(i) For a sitting of 0.w hour or less . . . . .  170 

(ii) For a sitting for more than o x  hour andlcss than two hours 340 

(iii) For a sitting of more than two hours . . . .  5 10 

The fees as above were subject to a ceiling of Rs. 30,000/- 
for the whole case to be shared tjqually between Govern- 
ment and MIS. Hind Construction Ltd. Subsequently, 
however, when thc number of hearings were tending to 
go beyond the expected number oi hearings on which the 
original ceiling was based, the Arbitrator brought this to 
the notice of the parties with a n e w  to securing an 
enhancement of the ceiling. The ceiling was enhanced by 
Government from time to time on the request of the 
Arbitrator conveyed through Government Counsel and 
his recommendations wcw based on his assessment of the 
duration of the rcmairldtir 01 fhr? psixeedings f~.om time 
to time. These recommend3 tion:;. after esarninntion in 
the mini st^ of Defenw. w c : ~  :.cfc;~+?d to the Secretary, 
Minisiry of Law. (tile a : j :~~c:~ , j~y  v,.ho appointed the 
Arbitrator and fixed h~..: fee.. initi;l!y! and on the adv!ce 
of the Secreta~y. 3dinistl.y of LAW. the ceiling was raised 
from time to time as fol1ov;s: - 
24:h 1u-x 1962 . . . C ili!-g ruisrd to Rs. 63 ooo 

20.h Novcmb-r 1968 . C iliv g raisi  d :o Rs. 2'50 13khs 

1gthOctob~:rrg7~ . . . C i1ir.g fl ally raiscd to Rs. 3 .65 1.1khs 

I t  appears from records that the Arbitrator took the stand 
that he had objected to the original ceiling but that he 
had been given to understand by the Law Secretary that 
the matter would be reviewed from time to time and the 
ceiling suitablity revised in consonance with the time 



takdn for completion of the hearing. In actual considera- 
tion of requests for enhancement of ceilings also, it 
appears that the Law Secretary had such a factor in mind. 
In addition, there seems to have been a feeling that by 
refusing to revise the ceiling the Government's case might 
even get prejudiced. 

On the last occasion, however, the Law Secretary agreed to 
4 

increase the ceiling of the Arbitrator's fees finally upto 
further 100 hearings as recommended by the Senior 
Counsel. In actual fact, though the hearings have 
exceeddd the 100 postulated, the ceiling has not been 
further enhanced." 

2.66. Since it had been stated by the Ministry that in deciding to 
enhance the ceiling of fees payable to the arbitrator, there  seemed 
to have been a feeling that 'by refusing to revise the ceiling, the 
Government's case might even get prejudice'd', the Committee asked 
whether the Government should have agreed t,o the revision of the 
fees on this ground, which was a reflection on the arbitrator's judi- 
cial frame of pind. The Defence Secretary replied in evidence: 

"The arbitrator, at one stage, suspended the proceedings 
until the parties made up their mind to revise the ceiling." 

2.67. When the Committee pointed out that the statement about 
the likelihood of Government's case getting prejudiced was a serious 
allegation, the witness replied: 

"I have nqt just made this remark off the cuff. There is a 
record to the effect that we were advised that the ceiling 
should be raised. In making recommendation, it was taken 
into account that if we insisted on adhering to the ceiling 
which would, in fact, mean that the arbitrator would have 
to forgo fee for almost the same number of hearings, our 
case mlght be prejudiced. This was the consideration. I 
have made a factual statement. This is an internal record 
of the Government from which I have quoted." 

2.68. The' Committee desired to know the views of the Law Minis- 
try in this regard since that Ministry had apparently decided to en- 
hance the ceiling periodically on a ground that appeared to indicate 
the kind of psychology which was at  work at that time. A represen- 
tative of the Law Ministry stated: 

"This is a factual statement made in this Report.. . . I do not 
know what was work in^ in their mind. I was not there." 

When asked whether the Law Ministry functioned in an indifferent 



fmhion when the arbitration proceedings were prolonged at  conside- 
rable expense to the public exchequer, the witness replied: 

"What I meant was that nothing was sought to be kept away 
from this Committee. But what I mean is that the Law 
Ministry might have' thought that if this extension was 
not given the Government's case might even get pre- 
judiced in the sense that some other arbitrator might come 
in and a new set of proceedings might start." 

The Defence Secretary stated in this connection: 

"If I m8y make a submission, although I am not a legal expert, 
perhaps one aspect of the matter could be that the arbitra- 
tor would have to bring the proceedings to a close." 

The Committee, therefore, asked how the arbitrator could bring the 
proceedings to a close merely because the ceilihg of fees was not 
raised. The witness replied: 

"I have made my submi~sion. I have expressed my own un- 
happiness. I havd also conceded that to me it appears that 
the law has not been used the way it is meant to be used. 
For the rest, after seeing all the circumstances, it will be 
your privilege to give your opinion, to indicate as to what 
you feel went wrong and what we should do to rectify 
the situation and to improve things. We will be bound 
by your advice." 

2.69. Since it has been conceded that in the present case things 
had happened in an unsat5sfactory manner, the Committee desired 
to know the steps taken by the Defence Ministry to rectify the 
situation. The Defence Secretary stated: 

"I have made a submission earlier that this matter will be gone 
into. I have already said that my association with this 
Ministry is very recent; and as soon as possible, may b e  
after these hearings are over, we will have to take a view 
on this, so far as the responsibi'liw of the Ministry of De- 
fence in the conduct of the enquiry into this affair is con- 
cerned." 

2.70. In regard to the grounds on which the fees payable to the 
arbitrator had been periodically enhanced by the Law Ministry, the 
Law Secretary, who had been specifically invited by the Committee 



'So assist them in their examination of this rather unsatisfactory case, 
e deposed during evidence: 

"I can only think of what might have weighed with the Law 
Secretary at  that time. The question was whether other. 
wise we would have been faced with a situation whereby 
we would have to pay much more w,here the arbitration 
proceedings would have become more prolonged. So, in 
view of that, perhaps, Law Secretary might have felt that 
this matter had proceeded to such an extent and if by 
giving a little more the matter could be concluded, then it 
would be better. That might have been the sort of think- 
ing that might have weighed with the Law Secretary." 

2.71. When the Committee again pointed out that the feeling in 
the Law Ministry that Government's case might get prejudiced if 
the fees were not enhanced was a serious allegation to make against 
the arbitrator and desired to know whether the ceiling had been 
revised after careful consideration, the Law Secretary replied: 

"I can only go by the record; there were various things to 
be taken into account like the view of the counsel arguing 
the case, the sort of progress of the case etc. Thaz;e things 
are taken into consideration." 

2.72. Since the Defence Secretary had stated during elldence ear- 
lier that, at m e  sfage, the arbitrator had suspended the proceedings 
until the parties made i i ?  t h c ~ ~  mind., to cnhancc the ceiling of fees, 
the Comm ttec cncluircci from i h n  Law Secretary whether it was 
open to the arbitratcr to sucynd thc procecdincs in this manner 
merely b c c a v ~ c  1:;s !PPS iind not becn enhanced. Thp Law Secretary 
rep!i?d: 

"He cannot. Eut it lvould have meant stopping the further 
proceedings and appoinling anoth-r arbitrator and start- 
inrt the prncendings d c  n0z.o. Thc question was, hsving 
regard to the work done upto that stage, whether it would 
be more prudent to agre? to such increase and go ahead 
with the proceedings or to take the position. 'We would 
not agree to anything; let the law take its own course'." 

2.73. When asked whether there were no legal provisions or 
"conventions which could enable the aggrieved parties in an arbitra- 



tfon to prevedt the arbitrary increwe of fees payable to an ~fbihabbt, 
t?ie witness replied: 

"An arbitrator can never withhold or refuse to make an 
award on that ground. But he will ultimately go to the 
court and plead 'Please determine what is the reasonable 
fee that I should have'." 

2.74. To another question whether eminent persons of the stature 
of Chief Justice of High Courts would behave in this blatant fashion 
in the middle of the arbitration proceedings, the witness replied: 

"That is precisely the reason why we now feel that i t  is not 
prudent to go in for retired High Court Judges." 

2.75. According to the information furnished to the Committee by 
the Ministry of Defence, the initial sanction for payment of fees to- 
the arbitrator was fixed on a per sitting basis as follows: 

Rs. 

Forasittingofonehourorless . . . . . . 170 

For a sitting of more than one hour ard less tharl two hours 340 
For a sitting of more than two h~urb . . . .  5 10 

T,he Committee, therefore, desired to know whether the rate of 
Rs. 510 fixed for a sitting of more than two hours duration was the 
normal amount paid to arbitrators of high distinction. The repre- 
sentative of the Law Ministry stated: 

"Rs. 510/- is 30 gold mohors for two hours or more, not less 
than two hours and this is usually given." 

When asked whether the same rate was applicable even if the pro- 
ceedings dragged on for a number of years, the witness replied: 

"When the appointments were made, it was not expected that 
it. will drag on for so many years and certainly, these 
things would have been taken into account." 

2.76. The Committee asked whether the Law Ministry had taken 
any remedial steps when it came to their notice that the proceedings 
in the present case were dragging on almost endlessly. The witness 
replied: 

"At the last extension of the hearings, it was a t  my instance 
that a ceiling was fixed and apart from this ceiling, it 
was stated that if it goes on further, there would be no 
fees to the arbitrator and to the counsel." 



The witness added that his views in this regard had been expressed 
in 1972. When the Committee observed, in this context, that this 
was a long time after the proceedings had started, the witness stated: 

"This was for the first time that i t  came to my notice and I 
had arranged to meeting between the Defence Secretary 
and the Law Secretary." 

Elaborating on this point further, he added: 

"At that iime, I was dealing with what are called judicial 
matters. I t  came to my notice and I brought i t  to the 
notice of the Law Secretary and I arranged for a meeting." 

2.77. The Committee desired to know whether the prolonged 
arbitration proceedings and the moun5:n.g expenditure thereon had 
not disturbed the Law Ministry prior to  1972. The xitnes; stated: 

"It disturbed me because at th2t : h e  it had goxe on for quite 
some time. Previously, perhaps. they were thinking that 
it would be completed in the next f e w  months or during 
this extension." 

When asked whether the witrie?s wou!d cancecic :hat thc arbitration 
proceedings had taken a!l unconscionr;?~l~- long time. he replied in 
the affirmative. The Defence Secretary s:atcd ir, this context: 

"If I mag submit . . .;t is  quii? possible that even on earlier 
occasions, soinc ~imilar  ~ ~ i e n r  .i-as takec. That will have 
to be checked up. Every time when thcre was this feeling, 
the extension was sanctioned with the idea that the case 
would not go beyond it." 

2.78. To another question whether the fees payable to the arbi- 
trator could not have been fixed 01: a I~unp sum ba:;is instead of a 
'per sitting' basis. the Law Secretary replied: 

"It Is difficult to visualise even in court cases how long it will 
take and all that, when it will come to an end, etc. The 
only practical yardstick to apply would be to go by dura- 
tion of hearing." 

He added: 

"In many cases it SO happens, at  a particular sLge of pro- 
ceedings, one is in a dilemma whether to withdraw &on 



the proceedings or to file certain things or do something 
so that the matter may cope to a fruition and by a little 
extension if the matter could be completed, that woulb; 
be better." 

m e  Committee asked whether i t  was not possible to assess how 
much time the arbitrator was likely to take and fix his fees accord- 
ingly. The witness replied: 

"I agree." 

Since the Law Secretary was in agreement with the Committee's 
views, they asked if they could expect some positive action in this 
regard at least for tile future. The witness replieu in the affirmltive. 

2.79. I t  had also been stated by t5c Ministry of Defence, in  the 
note furniijhed to the Committee indicating the reasons for the 
periodical increase in the a r b i i r a t ~ r ' ~  fees, rhclt the arbitrator had 
objected to the original ceiling of E ~ .  3i).001! zrd t h t  1:: had then 
been given to understand by the Law Secretary that ihe matter 
would be reviewed from time to time and the ceiling suitably revised 
in consonance with the time taken for the completion of the hearing. 
Since this appeared to indicate that the Law Secretary was, perhaps, 
sympathetic towards the extensions, the Committee desired to know 
the reasons which hzd prompted the Law Secretary to give such an 
assurance even before the arbitration proceedings commenced. The 
Law Secretary stated in evidence: 

"I have not seer, anTT Arbitretion n-hich iq finishcd within the 
four months praxribed. I can only find o~:t what must 
have weighed with the Law Secre~ary becal~se I have no 
pe~:;on;~ ! i ,~rj  . ;t".;i, sbi.::? the matter. If in a case of this 
magnitude, having regard to the volume, the nature of the 
contract and the claim involved, the Arbitrator feels that 
i t  is likely to take a long time and that the fees are not 
what he could expect, then he wovjd n a ~ , ~ r a l l ~  sz:: in the 
beginning that he would accept it but t h ~ t  if the case was 
prolonged, certainly an jncreaqe in the scale of his fees 
must be considered." 

2.80. When asked why this assumption had been made even 
before the commencement of the proceedinss, instead of making an 
attempt to complete the arbitration within the period of four months 
prescribed in the Arbitration Act, the witness rerplied: 

"Although four months' time is mentioned in t h e  Act, it is 
very rarely that i t  is completed ih four months. It is well 



high f m w m e  to cb~plete the pmmdhgs unless there 
are summary powers." 

2.81. With referents to the particular case commented upon by 
Audit, the Committee desired to know who had actually exercised 
control over and monitored the progress of the arbitration proceed- 
ings and whether the counsels appointed by Government had con- 
sulted the Law Secretary whenever an enhancement of the fees of 
the arbitrator or an extension was sough for. The Law Secrefary 
stated in evidence: 

"No. Counsels must have consulted the Department." 

The Committee, therefore, enquired whether the Defence Secretary 
had been consulted by the Counsel in &his regard. The Defence 
Secretary replied : 

"So far as the extension of the term of the arbitrator and 
escalation in fee etc. are concerned, the proposal emanates 
originally from the arbitrator. He would take the view 
that the indication earlier given about the period Is not 
adequate, this is likely to go on and therefore, the parties 
concerned should pay further enhanced fees to cover the 
requisite number of hearings. On this, the contractor's 
counsel would agree on behalf of the contractor and the 
government counsel would refer to the Ministry through 
local officer. The Ministry would then come to the Law 
Ministry for their agreeing to this particular expenditure. 
On that basis, further sanction would issue authorising 
increased payment as the arbitrator's fee." 

2.82. When asked why the proposal should emanate from the 
arbitrator, the witness replied: 

"As we are all going through this, it seems we are not able 
to fathom who was the motivating force in this whole 
thing. I am advised by the officers who were there that 
this originated with the arbitrator. He would take the 
view-'look, time is running out; with reference to the 
earli-er scale of fees fixed, that was for so many hearings. 
We have reached the end of it. Unless we extend the time, 
we cannot proceed'. The contractor's counsel would 
agree on the spot; he was authorised or it was in 
the contractor's interest to prolong the proceeding. So far 
as the government side was concerned, Government go by 
a parti'cular sanction. That sanction was obtained on the 



bash &st d the es tba te  by our counsel submitted tJwugb 
the Defence Ministry to the Law Ministry that w rnucb 
more time is required or more hearings are r e q u i r w  

2.83. The Committee thereupon observed that it appeared that 
the entire exercise had been carried out jointly by the Defence and 
Law Ministries. The Defence Secretary replied: 

"The Law Ministry accept it after taking into consideration 
the relevant factors. Then w e  move the Finance Ministry 
to get financial concurrence and then sanction is issued. 

In a sense, as I said.. : . here we are in the hands of legal 
ekperts who we think are conducting our case in the best 
manner possible and we go by the advice of the Law 
Ministry. The Government Counsel's sole purpose of being 
there is to defend our interests. He is advising us that you 
increase this." 

Explaining further the procedure followed, the witness stated: 

"Our Counsel would never agree to the fees on the spot. I t  
was always referred back.. ..There was no question of 
Government agreeing to anything against the counsel's 
wishes. All I am aaying is that the government counsel 
did not exercise any authority, nor did he have any 
authority to commit Government to enhancement of fees 
or the spot. When the issue was raised by the arbitrator, 
he referred it back to Government with his own recom- 
mendation that this is the order of hearings that would be 
necessary and which he recommended should be accepted 
and consequently enhancement of fees was also accept- 
ed.  . . It is a chain. After that, when it is referred 
back to Government in the Ministry of Defence, we do not 
take a unilateral decision because this is a matter involving 
both assessment on the legal side as well as on the finan- 
cial side, because it has a financial implication. So we get 
in touch first with the Law Ministry to see whether they 
would agree to this enhancement. After they have agreed, 
we r&er to Finance saying that this is the recommenda- 
tion of our counsel and we have consulted the Law Minis- 
try who have agreed to the enhancement-would you 
kindly agree in this extra money being accepted as a 
liability?" 



2.84. Since Government depended on the Counsel for the efacient 
conduct of the arbitration proceedings, the Committee asked whether 
the counsel had advised in favour of enhancing the ceiling of fees. 
The Defence Secretary replied: 

"He did. I t  is only on that we acted." 

He added: 
"Before he makes a reference to us, he must have applied his 

mind and come to a conclusion that in the inte~est of 
prosecution of the government case, this enhancement be 
done." 

2.85. To another question whether the Defence Secretary had 
been convinced by the counsel's advice that the extensions and en- 
hancements would be advantageous to Government, the witness 
replfed: 

"Let me check up because I was not there. I am not certain 
whether reference were made to Sdcretary, Defence at 
all. This is a matter to be checked whether the counsel 
agreed on behalf of Government that an extension may 
be sought or whether he obtained prior government 
approval before giving his consent 'seeking extension. This 
is a matter to be checked." 

2.86. The Committee desired to know whether all the relevant 
Ministries and authorities involved had endorsed the views of the 
counsd after due consideration. The Defence Secretary stated: 

"They are all concurring in the enhancement no doubt, but 
there is an indication of everyone's unhappiness at what 
has been going on and they seem to feel that there is a 
point of no return, having gone thus far with the arbitra- 
Uon and you have to complete it. That seems to be the 
feeling, because I have seen remarks on the Finance side 
and also on our side the Defence Secretary saving some- 
thing in the same vein as what the arbitrator bas said 'It 
is amazing that this case has gone on so long' and he 
goes out of his way to meet the Law Secretary to go into 
the problem of finding a way to bring this thing to a 
close. 'This sort of evidence is there. If our counsel says: 
I t  is in your interest, you agree to this; as laymen in the 
Ministry.of Defence we feel that it was going on too long, 
then 'we take i t  to the Law Ministry feeling that they 



should have a better appreciation of this and Jso because 
they appointed the man any extension should also be with 
their consent. Again in a legal matter Finance has got 
very little choice especially if they are confronted with 
this kind of recommendation, though they have expressed 
their unhappiness also. The whole case was rightly 
exercising the minds of the people in the Government." 

2.87. The Committee asked wahether the Defence Secretary would 
not concede that a thorough probe was necessary into the conduct of 
the entire arbitration proceedings by the counsel recruited for the 
purpose. The Defence Secretary replied: , 

"Certainly this case brings out the need for this." 

(b) CounseL' Fees. 

2.88. According to the information furnished to the Committee 
by the Ministry of Defence, a sum of Rs. 11.52 lakhs had been paid, 
as on 1 July, 1975, to the Senior and Junior Counsels appointed to 
conduct Government's case before the arbitrator. The Committee 
were also informed by Audit that the Ministrv had stated (August 
1973) that no ceiling had be& fixed in regard to fees for counsels. 

2.89. The Committee desired to know the rate at which the coun- 
sels handling the case had been remunerated. The representative 
of the Law Ministry stated: 

"So far as I remember it was at a higher rate to start with 
and thereafter it was decreased." 

The Defence Secretary added in this connection: 

"In this particular case the fees payable to the senior counsel- 
I am told-were Rs. 1600 per hearing for the first 30 hear- 
ings and Rs. 1100 per hearing thereafter." 

As regards the remiuneration paid to the junior counsels. the wit- 
ness state: 

"There were two junior counsels in this case--the first junior 
counsel was to be paid at Rs. 400/- per hearing while the 
second counsel was to be paid at  Rs. 200,/- per hearing. 



Actually thee was qne at 9 M e  who was pgid Re. MO/- per 
he- But, Later on, the second jwior counsel was 
appainted and he was paid at Rs. 200/- per hearing." 

29P. When asked whether the payment of Rs. P W J  per day to a 
counsel was not tuo lavish and generous and a k v y  obligation on 
the public exchequer, the representative of the Law Ministry re- 
plied: 

"Rs. 1600 is less than 100 gold mohur in Calcutta. In  Delhi 
a senior counsel is worth Rs. 1600 or 100 gold mohur. 
This is of course subject to negotiations." 

2.91. To another question whether the Revenue authorities had 
realised Income tax on the payments made to the senior counsel, the 
Defence Secretary replied: 

"That was the point I was also discussing with my colleagues. 
I think he has paid his income tax on this. I am told that 
he had been saying that he had been paying 14 annas in 
a rupee. The senior counsel has been the same through- 
out. The junior counsel did change in between." 

2.92. Since an advocate practising in the Supreme Court had been 
engaged, at a considerable cost, to conduct Government's case before 
the arbitrator, and in view of the fact that the conduct of a case in 
the Supreme Court was different from a case considered in a High 
Court or before an arbitrator, the Committee desired to know 
whether it would not have be& better for the Law Ministry to have 
engaged a High Court lawyer instead of a Supreme Court lawyer 
The Secretary stated: 

"You are perfectly right that so far as arbitration proceedings 
are concerned, they are in the nature of original suits. 
Counsels who are well versed with such suits are Inore 
suitable for our purpose. In Delhi, many of the advocates 
practise in the Supreme Court, as well as in the High 
Court. To my knowledge, Mr. Ved Vyas had much prac- 
tice in the High Court too." 

2.93. To another question whether it would not have been advis- 
able to select senior advocates, with intelligence, practising in the 
lower court, to conduct the arbitration proceedingis, which were not 



%!@ .praceedingr af the type d d t  with in the Supreme Court, SQ 
-that the' costs could be minimised, the witness replied: 

"It dl depend on the Stakes involved; particularly if the ad- 
ministrative Ministry requests us that a particular Senior 
Counsel is required, then we consider as to who would 
be better fitted, among the senior counsels available." 

2.94. When asked whether there was any relation between the 
nature and the quantum of the original claims preferred by Govern- 
ment before the arbitrator-which were fairly high and were later 
reduced-and the status of the arbitrator, the status of the Govern- 
ment's counsel and the quantum of fees paid, the Law Secretary 
replied: 

"The first consideration while nominating a counsel is: what 
is the claim involved. And we have to see, not what the 
claim was, which was ultimately admitted; but what was 
the original claim made by the contractor-which, I am 
told, .in this case was in the neighbourhood of more than 
Rs. 80 lakhs. Now, the costs to be incurred have got a re- 
lation with the original claim, as it is made out. Ultimate- 
ly, wha't the Arbitrator will grant, is a different matter. 
Secondly, among the senior counsels, if the request is that 
some particular senior counsel should be provided, we have 
to see whether that particular counsel has experience in 
these matters and whether he has appeared in original 
proceedings if we had a panel as such in these States; and 
where there was no High Court panel as such with the 
Law Ministry, attempts were made, having regard to the 
particular nature and circumstances of the case. Now- 
adays, particularly in Bombay and Calcutta, the Law Min- 
istry has got its own branches where we have departmen- 
tal solicitors. So, these difficulties do not arise because we 
would be in charge directly in respect of the conduct of 
those proceedings." 

2.95. The Committee, therefore, desired to know whether Govern- 
meat had decided to engage a Supreme Court counsel, who charged 
cus exhrbitrtnt erthorbitaut from the commansemse and common 
m ' s  pdnb of view, in view of the fact that Gwtma~ent's claim 



in this case was as much as Rs. 2.65 crores. The Defence w e t a r y  
stated in evidence: 

"I am told that when the arbitration was entered upon at  the 
instance of the contractor and a counsel was engaged, the 
only information on which the lawyer proper was engaged, 
was the quantum of the contractor's claim. The Govern- 
ment's claims were not, simultaneously, placed before the 
arbitrator; these were filed later. In that contest, I sub- 
mit, it would, perhaps, not be relevant to think that the 
size of our claims necessarily inffuenced the decision. The 
claims of the contractor were the basis. The contractor's 
claim was large enough and that could, perhaps have been 
the relevant factor at that time." 

When asked whether this statement implied that had the Law Min- 
istry known of the magnitude of Government's claim. the expendi- 
ture on the arbitration would have been higher, the witness replied. 

"I am making no such suggestion. I am only saying that our 
counter claims were put in later. Perhaps, to the view 
that, apart from the slakes being high in the shape of con- 
tractor's claims. the fact that we also had counter claims 
would make it important that we should have adequate 
representation, I would agree." 

2.96. The Committee desired to know from the Law Secretary 
whether he would not agree that arbitration proceedings like the one 
under examination could be and should be conducted with an arbitra- 
tor who was honest, judicially inclined and competent enough but 
not too expensive and with counsels who could be drawn from the 
echelons of the legal profession which are not very exper)sive. The 
Law Secretary replied: 

"I entirely agree with you in principle: Wherever possible, 
we handle the cases ourselves. But in cases where we 
have no machinery and we have to rely on choosing some 
good advocates, one of the factors that we take into ac- 
count while nominating the lawyer is the claim involved, 
and in arbitration proceedings it is not only the claim of 
the Government but also the claim of the contractor which 
has to be taken into consideration. I t  was also considered 
that an advocate who had more practice in law of contract 
and arbitration and who was very familiar with these laws 



should be appointed. That was one of the factore which 
I find from the record, was taken into account while nomi- 
nating Mr. Ved Vyas as counsel for the Government." 

2.97. To another question whether the Law Ministry maintained , 

a panel of lawyers, who charge lesser fees, but capable of handling 
a case competently, for the conduct of arbitration proceedings, the. 
Law Secretary replied: 

"For lawyers we have different categories; the senior counsels 
like retired High Court judges or Supreme Court judges; 
another category for less important matters where people 
of sufficient standing would be there; another panel of 
junior counsels for cases where the cla,ims are very small. 
Choosing from a particular panel will depend on the claims 
involved and on their importance." 

2.98. Since the Law Ministry also had standing counsels, who 
would have been appointed presumably on the basis of certain stan- 
dards, the Committee enquired into the necessity for engaging a 
lawyer from outside, thereby ignoring the standing counsels. The 
Law Secretary replied: 

"We have got a panel of standing counsels for all cases in 
Bombay and Calcutta where we are departmentally in- 
charge of the litigation. We will not normally go out- 
side our panel. But suppose a client comes to us and says 
that he wants to engage a person who is known to hijra. 
Well, I will say that in view of the importance of the 
matter, if he wants to engage a senior counsel, I will find 
out whether he is available a,nd then fix up the fee and so 
on. Otherwise, i t  is not possible for me to say. Normally, 
I would go by the panel of standing counsels." 

He stated further: 

"As I said. our advice was sought in this particular arbitra- 
tion and a competent lawyer was engaged. We do not pre- 
sume that the contractor's claim has been made with some 
mtiyation. If there is any claim, I have got to bear in 
mind that here is a claim made against the Government, 
a very large claim, and I would process that claim and 
defend it with all the facts with a suitable counsel for the 
purpose. As I said, at that time, if we had a standing 
counsel to do justice, I would have had no hesitation in 



samg that such a name would hsve been recomm~nded. 
Bu% the Secretary must have considered at that time who 
was the advocate who was mare competent to ded  with 
cases of such a magnitude and where the question of con- 
tract act was involved." 

2.99. In view of the fact that while a ceiling, which was, however, 
periodically revised, had been fixed in respect of the fees payable 
t o  the aibitrator, no such ceiling had been prescribed in regard to 
the counsels' fees, the Committee asked whether a reasonable ceiling 
should not be fixed in respect of the counsels also. The representa- 
tive of the Law Ministry replied: 

"I subm'it that that should be done." 
He stated further: 

"In the case of arbitrators' fees, a ceiling was fixed. It  is not 
so as far as lawyers' fees are concerned because they are 
not employees in the sense that we have always got the 
right to change the lawyers if we think that they are not 
useful. . ... As far as counsels are concerned, thgr have to 
work in conformity with the instructions. If we fix the 
ceiling for the counsel. then we have to give some sort of 
an assurance that he will be with us upto the end of the 
hearing whether he is found satisfactory or not." 

The witness added: 

"Really, we have to depend upon the counsel whom we ap- 
point. A senior counsel was appearing in this case. I 
entirely agree with you that some procedure has to be 
thought of by which this can be checked." 

The Law Secretary, however, stated in this connection: 

"It is advantageous to fix the fee per hour so that we do not 
have to pay such as we do not know how the case deve- 
lops. We will pay only for that much of time for which 
counsel appears, not exceeding a particular amount." 

2.100. When the Committee pointed out that in the present ca,se, 
Government had had to pay to the counsels nearly as much as what 
was awarded by the arbitrator, the representative of the Law Min- 
istry replied: 

"The senior counsel was expected to see that the proceedings 
came to an end." 



Wheb asked whether this was not a mater to be perturbed about, 
requiring some serious rethinking, the witness replied in the af3rma- 
tive and added: 

"Factually, these figures speak for themselves. . . .I will convey 
to the Law Secretary the results which we have reached 
in this particular case and I would request the Law Sec- 
retary to see that such kinds of things do not happen." 

2.101. The Committee, thereupon, enquired from the Law Secre- 
tary at a subsequent sitting whether the Law Ministry had drawn 
any conclusions from the experience of this particular arbitration to 
make a lump-sum payment to the counsels rather than regulate the 
fees with reference to the number of sittings. The Law Secretary 
replied: 

"Lately we have evolved some formula. But the difficulty is 
this. If the Department or Government wants a particu- 
lar counsel to be engaged, a counsel of a particular status 
or standing, then it is not possible for us to dictate terms 
to him. We can only ensure that the fees that he claims 
are normal fees and he does not charge any special fees." 

(iv) Additional payments to Consultants. 

2.102. In view of the fact that the completion of the Naval Dock- 
yard project had been delayed for a number of years and the arbi- 
tration proceedings had also been prolonged, the Committee asked 
whether any additional payments had been made to the consultants, 
Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners, on this account. The Defence 
Secretary replied in evidence: 

"At least in the case of the consultants there was a fixed ceil- 
ing. I am told the delay did not lead to any extra cost by 
way of payment to consultants." 

2.103. The Committee desired to know whether the views of the 
consultants had been obtained when the contractor, Hind Construc- 
tion Ltd., repudiated the contract and went in for arbitration, and 
attempts made by them to reach a negotiated settlement with t h e  
contractor. The Defence Secretary stated: 

"The consultant is not really an arbitrator. In fact, there is a 
clause which says that the engineer on behalf of the em- 
ployer will endeavour to reach agreement on the points in 



dispute and failing such agreement, the aggrieved party 
may refer the dispute to an  arbitrator to be appointed by 
the Secretary of the Ministry of Law. I am told these 
efforts were made by the consultants." 

2.104. To another question whether the consultants had given any 
report about the performance of the contractor, to strengthen Gov- 
ernment's case before the arbitrator, the witness replied: 

"The consultants gave, as required, a certificate that the con- 
tractor had abandoned the work. Thev also gave a cer- 
tificate about the actual work done by the cor,tractor u p  to 
that time. They fulfilled their ~~esponsibilitiez . . . . We 
have got a certificate about what is paynble to the con- 
tractor for work done. Wc do not nee3 acything more. 
We know what he has not done. We know also what 
damage has occurred to us." 

H e  added: 

"When we knon. what work he has done. n-e krlo~v by impli- 
cation what part he has not done hecausf: tile overall work 
is there. S o  far as  damage to Govel-nmnt is concerned, 
that is in the nature of delav an:! the 1'?,71agc c ~ u s e d  to 
the navy thereby. I think N a W  I-Iesdqwrters hnve esti- 
mated that. The consultants were not brought into the 
picture. Only the navy could know how much damage 
was done to them." 

2.105. The arbitration proceedings in this case. :vhich commenced 
in December 1959: had been completed only in 1874, llcarly 15 years 
later, as against the period of four months prescribed jn the Arbitra- 
tion Act for the completion of arbitration proceedir~gs. A number 
of adjournments and extensions had also been al!owed during this 
period. As against an expenditure of Fk. 19.74 lakhs incurred by 
Government on this case, the net amount awarded to the Govern- 
ment was only Rs. 15.70 lakhs. In his award, the arbitrator had also 
pointed out certain shortcomings on the part of Government. Since 
as this appeared to indicate that the conduct of the case by Govern- 
ment was perhaps slipshod and far from satisfactory, the Committee 
desired to know the reactions of the Law Secretary in this regard. 
T h e  Law Secretary stated during evidence: 



"Normally, it is true that the four months' period is totally in- 
adequate. The parties will file their statement of claim 
and written statement, and a t  the most, the issues will be 
framed. Then the question arises, at  what time the parties 
are ready with their witnesses, documents and evidence. 
N~ormally, my experience has been that these cases are not 
heard day-to-day and during office hours. B i y  experience 
particularly in Bombay and Calcutta has been that the 
arbitrators fix their t iming in the evenings after court 
hours and the proccsedings will go on for an hour or two 
only and that is how these things are prolonged. If you 
want to engage a very senior cour,sel, naturally he will 
not be able to attend before the rirbitrator during court 
hours- He will naturally request thst sittings be held 
after the court hours." 

2.106. When asked whether the witness would agree that the pre- 
sent case represented a rathcl rnelanr?lol~ state of riftc:rs. he replied 
in  the affirmative. 

2.107. The Committee desired tn kno;r !:ox this ca5e could have 
been mismanaged tr, the detriment of Gover!?rr;en?'s interests and 
the nature o.! ihe supt.rvisir!n c::e:-cisrd 1':- :!I:) T , m 7  Vnistry over the 
progress of the proceedings. t;: ensure :ha! Gi..,,.ernr;lmt's interests 
were adequately safeguarded. Thc L ~ I * -  S c c ~ e t z r y  =tated: 

"I am not incharge of the arbitration proceedi~;gs. If I am in- 
charge, then I can watch the pror'ress and expenses." 

The Comn~ittee, therefore, asked whether the Law 3,Iinictry had con- 
sidered it necessary to keep a watch over th  progress of the case. 
The witness replied: 

"So far as arbitrations are cmcerned. we suggcst the names of 
the counsel only." 

He added: 

"Everytime they (the Defewe 34inistry) came on a specific 
issue-whether fee should be enhanced. ceiling should 
be enhanced. There has been no general supervision by 
us over the arbitration. We have been advising them on 
these particular issues." 

2.108. Since the arbitration was conducted by a nominee of the 
Law Ministry, the Committee expressed surprise that the Ministry 



"We simply suggest the name of the person." 
He stated further: ! , I  ' 

"There is no question of my control over that. We nominate 
the counsel. They (Ministries) instruct him/them. If" 
instructions are given through us, then only we have com- 
plete supervision." 

2.109. When asked, in this context, whether the Defence Ministry 
had instructed the counsel entirely on their own without reference 
to. the Law Ministry, the Law Secretary replied: 

"Unless they come to us on a particular legal point saying what 
is the position, what would you advise, could you advise 
us to take a particular stand etc." 

2.110. The Committee, therefore. desired to know whether the 
Law Ministq- should not monitor the progress of arb ih t ion  pro- 
ceedings involving the Government and keep a check on their con- 
duct. The Law Secretary replied: 

"We will take note of this." 

2.111. In regard to this particular arbitration, the Committee ask- 
ed whether the Law Secretary had kept a watch over the proc&d- 
ings and satisfied himself of the necessity of extending the proceed- 
ings or enhancing the arbitrator's fees. The Law Secretary replied: - 

"I can onlv presume that he had taken all these factors into 
consideration. No Law Secretary will give extension 
merely as a matter of routine. He would consider the 
position of the arbitra,tion proceedings, the stage of the 
arbitration proceedings and he would also consider whe- 
ther by giving the extension, more harm is likely to be 
caused. All these factors will be taken into account." 

2.112. When asked whether the Law Ministry had any research 
cell to examine the large number of contracts and agreements enter- 
ed into by the Government of India and to ensure uniformity, the 
witness replied : 

"In many of the Ministries, we have standard forms of con- 
tracts. DGS & D and CPWD contracts are covered by 



the standard forms of contracts. Only when i par t i cub  
contract requires a special provision for a particular clause, 
we will draft it accordingly. " 

2.113. In reply to  another question whether the Ministry todr 
steps, on the basis of the experience gained by the execution of vari- 
ous contracts and a'greements, to remove the difficulties which may 
arise from time to time and to advise the concerned Ministries, the 
witness stated: 

"That we do. We have an experienced solicitor in charge of 
this drafting of agreements and in the light of the experi- 
ence that he gains, he knows what special provisions are 
required in a pa.rticular contract and particularly in new 
contracts, he tries to see that all kinds of difficulties are 
removed." 

2.114. The Comlmittee desired to know whether, in the arbitration 
relating to the Naval Dockyard, the Law Ministry had monitored 
the progress of the case and maintained a watch over the perfonn- 
mce  of the counsel and whether the counsel had consulted the Law 
Ministry whenever the proceedings were sought to be extended for 
some reason or the other. The witness replied: 

"No. Counsel must have consulted the Department." 
When the Committee pointed out in this context that since the arbi- 
trator was appointed b y  the Law Ministry, .that Ministry ought to 
have exercised some control over the proceedings, the Law Secre- 
tary replied: 

"Once the Law Secretary appoints the arbitrator, his function 
is over." 

2.115. The Committee desired to know whether at least after the 
arbitration proceedings had been completed, Government had con- 
ducted a detailed probe into the causes for the prolonged arbitration 
proceedings and, if so, their findings in this regard. In a note fur- 
nished to the Committee the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"We have consulted the Ministry of Law. No detailed probe 
into the prolonged arbitration proceedings has so far been 
carried out. The Bombay High Court to whom applica- 
tions for extensions were made considered the causes and 
passed orders granting extensions from time to time. Min- 
istry of Law will examine with reference to this as well as 



similar cases, if any, whether it is possible to ensure that 
the azlbitration ,proceedings would be completed within a 
specified .time." 

2.116. Since the arbitration proceedings in this particular case 
&ad dragged on for nearly 15 years, involving an expenditure of 
newly Rs. 20 lakhs, the Committee enquired whether Government 
Jlad d e  any study of similar or parallel cases and of the expendi- 
ture involved thereon so as to take necesoary remedial measures and 
to ensure that such proceedings are completed expeditiously. The 
Committee also desired to know whether there was any proposal to 
enfo~pe a ceiling on the fees of the arbitrators and counsels engaged 
by Government. In a note, the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"As the Ministry of Defence would have knowledge only of 
the cases concerning it and not cases relating to other 
Ministries these questions were referred to the Ministry 
of Law who have stated as follows: 

'Except in arbitrations which are held in Bombay and Cal- 
cutta through our Branch Secretaries, the arbitration 
proceedings are not conducted by this Ministry, but are 
conducted by the administrative Ministry concerned. A t  
the request of the administrative Ministry, we only re- 
commend the name of the Advocate to appear on behalf 
of the Union of India and in some cases, names of Arbi- 
trators and the fees to be paid to them. 

We have written to all Ministries/Departments .to inform 
us of instances of similar or parallel cases, but we have 
so far received no intimation of any similar or parallel 
cases. If such similar or parallel cases come to our 
notice, steps would be taken by way of fixing absolute 
ceilings on the fees of the Arbitrator(s) are Advocate(s) 
so that such proceedings are completed expeditiously. 

The matter will now be examined to ensure whether it is 
possible to enforce the ceiling on payment of fees to 
arbitrators and counsel engage by the Government and/ 
or whether it is possible to ensure that the arbitration 
proceedings would be completed within a specified time'." 

2.117. The Committee asked whether the award of the arbitrator 
b d  tieen recovered from the contractor. The Defence Secretary 
replied : 



"I understand that no payment has been made by the contrac- 
tor because he is cdntesting the award in the cocirt. Ac- 
cording to the law, I understand that the award has to lie 
filed in a court for decree and at that stage the party has 
a right to object. 'The contractor has chosen to object 
Until this matter is decided, the decree will not issue." 

The Ministry of Defence also informed the Committee that the award 
had not been contested by the Government. 

2.'118. Since the arbitration proceedings and other difEcu1ties ex- 
perienced by Government related only to Contract No. 1 of works 
under Stage l, the Committee desired to know the experience of Gov- 
ernment in regard to the other portions of Stage I works and whe- 
ther these had been completed without any difficulty. The Defence 
Secretary replied: 

"If there was a story, I am sure the Audit para Would have 
brought i t  out and i t  might have become even more inter- 
esting than the missing link you referred. I think the pre- 
sumption is that there is no trouble there." 

When asked whether Government's experience with the other con- 
tractors had been a happy one, the witness replied: 

"No unhappy experience has been reported to us about them." 

2.119. The Committee, therefore, desired to know why there 
should have been so much trouble with Hind Construction Ltd. The 
witness stated: 

''No two men are alike." 

Audit paragraph 

2.120. Out of the total length of 1136 metres of railway line laid 
(between January 1967 and December 1970) under Stage I at a cost 
of Rs. 7.81 lakhs, 690 metres (laid at a cost of Rs. 2.74 lakhs between 
February 1970 and December 1970) has not been put to use so far 
(September 1974). 

2.121. The Commodore Superintendent (now Admiral Superinten- 
dent), Naval Dockyard, had apprehended as early as June 1966 that 
the volume of trafilc anticipated would not justify the provision of a 



railway line or very wide roads in certain places inside the Naval 
Dockyard. The Naval Headquarters however, issued instructions 
in July 1970 that, in order to avoid payment of compensation due to 
contractual obligations, the laying of the railway track inside the 
Naval Dockyard might be completed as per the contract and that no 
further work on the laying of railway tracks inside the naval Dock- 
yard be undertaken. 

2.122. The Ministry of Defence stated (September 1974) that the 
railway line inside the dockyard was mainly for movement of heavy 
articles such as bulk steel, wood etc. and the full utilisation of the 
line would arise when the dockyard expansion scheme was completed 
and the new workshops in the area were in operation. 
p,aragraph 11 of the Report of the Comptroller & Auditor General 

of India for the year 1973-74, Union Government (Defence Ser- 
vices) 1. 

2.123. In this connection, the Committee were informed by Audit 
that Headquarters, Western Naval Command Bombay, had stated 
as follows, in April 1974: 

:'The Railway tracks at Barracks and Destroyer Wharf along 
with a switch has also been laid on the reclaimed ground 
but has not been connected to the 40 ft. road because of 
obstruction caused by Base Maintenance Unit location and 
future proposed construction of submarine batteries shop 
Rail tracks have also been laid at the cruiser graving dock 
but i t  is not linked to the termination at the patent slip 
way. This linking up has been reconsidered by Naval 
Headquarters as it would involve demolition of a number 
of important buildings and other structures along the 
Dockyard perimeter wall. This aspect is further linked 
up with the future 40 ft. road between reclaimed area of 
Stage I and Stage I1 and this proposal is under considera- 
tion with the N I X  under Master Plan of Naval Dock- 
yards. The Olllce is, therefore, unable to comment on this 
subject. Naval Headquarters have further intimated vide 
their letter No. DY14583 dated 5th June 1972 that the rail- 
way line is not required to be laid inside Naval Dockyard!' 

2.124. The Committee desired to know when the contract for the 
laying of the railway lines had been concluded. In a note, the 
Ministry of Defence stated that the contract for laying 690 metres 
of the railway line was concluded in February 1970. 



2.125. Since it had been stated by the Western Naval Command 
that there were certain difficulties like the demolition of a number 
of buildings and other structures along the Dockyard perimeter wall, 
in using the railway lines, the Committee asked whether these diffi- 
culties had been overcome and enquired into the stage at which 
matters stood. The Defence Secretary replied in evidence: 

"The Hon. Member made a reference to some barracks which 
have come up and which preclude the use of railway line. 
These barracks are a direct result of the Navy wanting 
to put up some ad hoc facility to meet their immediate 
requirements. That has certainly come in the way of 
railway line, but it is not something over which we should 
be perturbed in the overall context because we have to 
keep the Navy operational." 

2.126. The Committee asked whether any final decision had been 
taken to link the railway lines or whether it had been decided to 
abandon these lines. The Defence Secretary replied: 

"In this perspective plan, which was prepared by Sir Alexander 
Gibbs, we have given some indications that the various 
stages when they get completed, the various workshops 
and other facilities when they get constructed will create 
a transportation requirement in the context of which the 
consultants provided for railway lines in various sections 
of this project. Now we cannot take up the railway lines 
project by itself separately. for this reason that we have 
taken up geographical areas of this overall project for 
completion stage by stage. Wherever we have taken up 
this work and where it is physically possible to put in the 
railway line, railway lines, have by and large been laid. 
The reason for laying them now irrespective of whether 
we can immediately use them or not, is that these lines 
have to be embedded in concrete roads and pavements, 
and if a railway line is to go through it, it is most con- 
venient to put it in a t  the same time so that we do not 
break up our roads and pavements later on. I think 
eventually this will also prove to be a cheaper method 
because othe~wise it becomes 3 major project and later 
on if you want to do it, price escalation as well as other 
factors overtake us. We have, in fact, been using the 
railway lines on the Ballard pier extension side. There 
is a regular rail approach to the Port Trust which we have 
extended that to our Ballard pier extension side. All 



the materials which have to be transported by rail to the 
dockyard comes there, and are unloaded there. I t  does 
happen for the reason I have indicated to you that it is 
very cramped for space. If you go into the dockyad, we 
are creating spaceat the rate of Rs. 5000 per sq. metre in 
this reclaimed area. You can just imagine how cramped 
we are where all the old workshops and facilities we 
cannot knock down until we have replaced them. For 
instance, some df the facilities in the Caisson area are 
there and we have to continue them. Meanwhile, with 
the acquisition of ships and other new sophisticated items 
some ad hoc facilities had to be created. Anyhow we 
could not entirely depend on the old thing. I t  is in that 
context that those structures you are referring to were 
put up. That is about the only thing which is of its kind, 
but it has served its use and will continue to serve us until 
we are ready to transfer that activity to where it ulti- 
mately belongs. Once other structures in the middle get 
knocked off, space would be created. 

In this connection, I would also like to urge that the total 
outlay on the railway line is rather modest compared to 
the size of any individual work we have taken up and it 
has also cost us just nothing in maintenance. We have 
embedded them in concrete and it requires no mainten- 
ance. We do not need sleepers and so on. The reason 
also for not-using the lines which technically we may 
be able to use is that unless the workload justifies it that 
we do not want to invest in shunting engines and their 
maintenance, upkeep and so on. So for the time being 
we are using only the Ballard pier rail where there is 
enough workload; for the others, some of them are not 
connected; some of them do not hawe enough workload 
until the whole project comes through. So we are not 
using them." 

2.127. The Committee, thereupon, drew the attention of the 
Defence Secretary to the view expressed by the then Commodore 
Superintendent (now Admiral Superintendent) of the Dockyard, as 
early as June 1966, that the volume of traac anticipated, would not 
justify the provision of a r,ailway line or very wide roads in certain 
places inside the Dockyard as well as the views of the Naval Head- 
quarters, conveyed in their letter dated 5 June 1972, that the railway 
line was not required to be laid inside the Dockyard and enquired 
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into the reasons for providing the nailway line. The witness replied: 

"It is a fact that a naval officer called ~ d d i r a l  Superintendent 
of Dockyard made such a reference as the one you, men- 
tioned. I would like to point out that the Admiral Super- 
intendent of the Dockyard is a person who is not con- 
cerned with the construction of the dockyard expansion. 
His is a permanent organisation which has to maintain the 
ships when they come into the harbour. He is not origi- 
nally involved in the conception of this project as a whole. 
He does not get involved in the actual day-to-day con- 
struction activity. I am mentioning this only to show 
that he is not aware of the full picture or the considera- 
tions." 

When the Committee pointed out that the Commodore Superinten- 
dent had ultimately proved wiser, the witness replied: 

"I am afraid not." 

2.128. To another question whether the anticipated volume of 
traffic had not been taken into consideration initially before the con- 
tract for the railway lines was concluded, the Ministry of Defence 
replied in .a note: 

"It was part of the Master Plan for the whole Dockyard and 
the consultants also recommended the provision of the 
railway lines which were designed to feed the existing 
workshops to be modernised and the new ones to be estab- 
lished on the reclaimed land." 

2.129. According to the Audit paragraph, the Naval Headquarters 
had issued instructions in July 1970 that, in order to avoid payment 
of compensation due to contractual obligations, the laying of the 
railway track inside the Dockyard might be completed as per the 
contract and that no further work in this regard be undertaken. 
The Committee desired to know what would have been the amount 
of compensation payable to the contractor if the work relating to 
the laying of 690 metres of the railway line, which had not been 
put to use had been cancelled when it was known that the line was 
not required. In a note the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"Although the question is hypothetical, the overall work being 
of the order of Rs. 2.74 lakhs, the compensation could only 
have been a part of this sum proportionate to the commit- 
ments made by the contractor upto the time of cancella- 
tion." 



2.130. A note furnished by the Ministry of Defence subsequently 
on the views of the then Commodore Superintendent and with 
reference to the communication dated 5 June 1972 from the Naval 
Headquarters that the railway line was not required, is reproduced 
below: 

"Sir AGP's report had recommended the laying of railway 
lines within the Naval Dockyard and this recommendation 
had been accepted by the Government. 

In June 1966 CSD anticipated certain practical problems in 
having a railway line inside the Naval Dockyard, Bombay. 
These were mainly related to paucity of land and demoli- 
tion of various buildings involved in laying the line. He  . 
also stated that the volume of traffic anticipated by him 
at that time did not justify the railway lines except upto 
the Barrack wharf. 

These aspects were discussed at the Command level and at 
Naval Headquarters and the following decisions were 
taken: 

(a) In the first instance the railway line should be laid only 
over the area to be reclaimed under Stage 1. 

(b) Further extension of the railway line to be considered 
later. 

The laying of the railway line over the area reclaimed under 
Stage I was completed in 1970. 

In November 1969. M js. National Industrial Development 
Corporation were appointed by Government as consultants. 
for the preparation of a Plan for construction of workshops 
in the Naval Dockyard, Bombay. Their initial report 
showed a configuration and .alignment of roads different 
from that recommended by Sir AGP and incompetible 
with the laying of further railway lines. This matter was 
considered and in order to avoid possible infructuous 
expenditure. Naval Headquarters issued their letter dated 
5th June 1972 saying that further railway lines should not 
be laid. Subsequently a series of discussions were held 
between Naval Headquarters, NIDC and CSD to finalise 
the detailed layout of workshops and roads proposed by 
NIDC in their Plan of 1972. As a result of these discus- 
sions, road .alignment plan was revised in 1974 by NIDC 



so as to permit linking of the railway lines from the area 
reclaimed under Stage I to that being reclaimed under 
Stage I1 was originally envisaged by Sir AGP in their 
Master Plan." 

2.131. The Committee desired to know the total expenditure 
incurred, ye.ar-wise, so far on maintenance of the railway line. In 
a note, the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"No maintenance expenditure on the length of 690 metres 
railway line has been incurred." 



EXECUTION AND PROGRESS OF WORKS UNDER STAGE-I1 

Audit pawgraph 

3.1. Administrative approval for Stage-I1 of the .above scheme 
was accorded by Government in September 1964 at an estimated 
cost of Rs. 14.58 crores. A revised administrative approval for an 
estimated cost of Rs. 24.70 crores was issued in December 1967. The 
-main reasons for the increase were increased quantities of work, 
increase in price levels, devaluation of the Indian rupee, etc. 

3.2. The entire scheme was to be spread over a period of seven 
years from 1964-65 to 1970-71 as per the consultant's report. The 
.administrative approval, however, did not specify any time schedule 
for the completion of the works. 

3.3. For practical and administrative reasons, the tenders for all 
the civil engineering works were invited together. Tenders were 
called for in October 1965. The two tenders received in response to 
the call were both conditional and high as compared to the estimated 
cost of RS: 11.63 crores for civil engineering works. These were 
referred (August 1966) to the consultants who advised that the main 
works in Stage-I1 might be divided into three parts, viz., works A, 
B and C mentioned below, for calling for tenders: 

Rs. Lalrhs 

(i) Works A.-Construction of rubble mound break water and protective 
retaining bund south break water arddeep water wharf and the 
minimum dredgmg necessary Qr the cm.struction thereof . . . . . . . .  Estimated cost . 1412.30 
(December 1967) 

(id) Wotkr B t Capital dredgink and reclamation excluding dredgirg 
of rock alongside fltt~ng out wharf 

Estimated cost . . . . . . . . .  200.23 
(Deamber 1967) 

<di) Works C.&nstruction of the tltting out wharf includicg asso- 
ciated rock dredging . . . . . . . .  

Estimated cost . . . . . . .  372' 15 
CDecembcr 1967) ,: 



3.4. Before tenders were invited for work 'A', a third firm evinced* 
interest in the works. The single tender of that firm submitted in 
June 1967 was accepted on 20th November, 1967 for works 'A* for 
Rs. 14.25 crores; the works were to be completed in 60 months im. 
by November 1972. According to the contract, Government was to 
bear the bank guarantee commission for the guarantees furnished' 
by the banks on behalf of the contractor and insurance charges on 
the works, constructional plants etc. of the contractor till comple- 
tion of the- work. The contractor w.as given an extension of time 
up to 23rd October, 1973. This extension was necessitated inter alia 
due to the existence of rocks in the sea-bed requiring blasting 
which was not known at  the planning and designing stage, as this 
could not be detected during site investigation carried out by the 
consultants. The existence of the rocks came to notice while dredg- 
ing the foundations of the south. breakwater in the middle of 1968, 
and blasting of the rocks was taken up at the end of 1968; an 
extension of time (115 days) was granted for this. 

3.5. Extension for another 185 days &.as granted as the design of 
eertain structures required for the breakwater was changed after the 
conclusion of the contract. The Ministry of Defence intimated 
(February 1974) that the design changes to the interior structure of 
the caissons forming the break-water became necessary due to 
change in requirements of electrical services and addition of certain 
services not projected earlier. The Ministry added that these changes 
came to be known after the conclusion of the contract for works 'A'. 
A further extension of 38 days was granted from 16th September, 
1973 to 23rd October, 1973 due to black out restrictions during war, 
national holidays during the extended period of contract not taken 
into account while working out the actual extension of time and 
changes ordered on four caissons. 

3.6. The extensions granted would cost Rs. 7.33 lakhs more (bank 
guarantee commission Rs. 2.41 lakhs and insurance chargm Rs. 4.92 
lakhs) . 

3.7. Although works 'A' were completed in October 1973 and the 
basin is ready, the facilities provided theqeby cannot be availed of 
by ships .as works 'B' are expected to be completed only by the end 
of 1977. The Ministry stated (February 1974) that synchronisation 
of works 'A' and works 'B' of Stage-I1 of the scheme was not techni- 
cally feasible as .the works were to be carried out independently and 
further, as all the dredging adjacent to the break-water .and in the 
working sea area of works 'A' could only be carried out after the 
break-water was completed. The Ministry added that inclusion of 



all rock dredging in works 'B' made any synchronisation all the more 
difEcult. 

3.8. The scope of works 'C' is currently (September 1974) under 
review by the Naval Headquarters/Ministry of Defence. 

[Paragraph 11 of the Report of the Comptroller & Auditor General 
of India for the year 1973-74, Union Government (Defence Ser- 

1 .  vices) 1. 
A. Selection of contractors 

3.9. The Audit paragraph points out that initially, for practical and 
administrative reasons, the tenders for all the civil engineering works 
under Stage-I1 were invited together. Subsequently, however, the 
main works were divided into three parts, viz. works 'A', 'B' and'C', 
f a r  calling for tenders, in view of the fact that the two tenders 
received in response to the original call were conditional and high. 
The Committee enquired into the details of these conditions which 
made it difficult for Government to accept them. The Defence Sec- 
retary stated in evidence: 

"We had intended to get a good response by advertising for 
the tenders globally following the World Bank's procedure. 
We wanted to evaluate the firms so that they could submit 
pre tender documents for evaluation. At th,at stage, we 
got a very good response, that is, 40 firms from all over 
the world sent for documents. Eventually after a detailed 

., consideration of the information submitted by these firms 
and evaluating their technical and financial capability to 
carry out the work of this magnitude, 8 firms were inform- 
ed that they would be considered to be qualified for sub- 
mitting tenders by the Government. Then they were 
asked to make a request for the issue of the tender docu- 
ments. Then four firms requested for the issue of the 
tender documents in November 1965. The tenders there- 
after received were from two firms called MIS. HOCHTIEF 
and MIS. SAINRAPT and they were respectively for 

. . Rs. 20.2 crores and Rs. 23.45 crores. After an analysis of 
the main financial conditions stipulated by the tenderers 
and taking into account the devaluation of the Indian 
rupee, the value of the tenders was found to be Rs. 29.71 
crores and Rs. 29.11 crores respectively with the foreign 
exchange components of Rs 9.49 crores and Rs. 11.88 crores 
respectively. These figures have to be taken against the 
administrative approval of Rs. 14 and odd crores. You 



can see the higher nature of the tenders and the higher 
nature of the foreign exchange component. 

The tendem were then referred to the consultants. The con- 
sultants opined that neither of the tenders should be ac- 
cepted. The German offer was full of unsatisfactory con- 
ditions and conditions involving uncertain liabilities which 
could not be accepted. Some of the unsatisfactory and 
unacceptable conditions were as follows: 

Firstly, for any payment which is delayed beyond a period 
as agreed to in the contract, the Government was re- 
quired to pay interest at the rate of the Reserve Bank 
plus 4 per cent or at the rate of interest charged by the 
oontractor on bankers. 

Secondly, if the average output of the dredger was less than 
that assumed on which the bill of quantity was based, 
the unit rates in these items would have to be increas- 
ed accordingly. 

I t  means his own machinery, if it fails to operate diligently, 
he still claims $or the whole amount that he was expec- 
ting from this machine. 

Thirdly, if the output of the c'ontractor's own dredgers falls 
40 per cent below the output the contractor will have 

to be paid for the work at a higher rate. 

Fourthly, on account of any extension of the time granted 
to the contractor arising from reasons beyond the con- 
trol of the contractor, compensation will have to be 
paid at 0.03 per cent of the value of the section of the 
work directly or indirectly affected by such delays per 
day fop each day or part of the day in which the delay 
occurred. 

Under this clause the Government would have undertaken 
a fairly substantial liability for compensation for all 
kinds of delay which may be due to non-availability of 
things, import licences, clearances, permits etc. or due to 
the action or mn-action of the employees, engineers or 
other authority directly or indirectly, affecting theif ope- 
rations or due to strikes, lockouts etc. This clause would 
also have given wide scope for all kinds of disputes. This 
is about the German offer. 



Coming to the French offer, that also contained certain condi- 
tions which, if adopted, would have resulted in reduction 
in the contractor's commitment and more favoura.ble 
terms of payment to the contractor. Some of them are: 
(1) The contractor should be allowed the payment' of 
royalty at Rs. 2.15 p e ~  hundred cft. of stone.. . (2) In the 
case of variation of amount of work of plus 15 per cent, 
both parties reserve their right to negotiate the unit price. 

Moreover, both the German and French offer involved a large 
amount of free foreign exchange, Rs. 949 lakhs in the 
case of the German offer and Rs. 1188 lakhs in the case 
of the French offer. In view of the foreign exchange 
position at that' time not being satisfactory, the Govern- 
ment accepted the recommendation of the consultants for 
the rejection of the two tenders and for retendaing of 
the work in three parts." 

3.10. Drawing attention to the interest evinced in work 'A' of 
Stage II by a Yugoslav finn (MIS. &van Milutinovic-Pim) and to the 
statement made by the Defence Secretary that out of 40 firms who 
had responded to the global tender, only 8 firms had been considered 
suitable on the basis of the evaluation made before issuing the ten- 
der documents, the Committee desired to know the reasons for not 
obtaining the necessary details from the Yugoslav firm to  enable 
an evaluation of the firm's capabilities being made. The Defence 
Secretary stated: 

."Actually, the Yugoslav firm was one of those 40 who ob.t'ain- 
ed pre-qualification enquiry, but they did not submit them- 
selves to prequalification evaluation. At that time they 
were busy with other things. At least that is what they 
have told us. Later on, when the question of re-tendering 
arose, then we went in for this question as to how we 
should now retender. Then we were advised to go for 
splitting up of the work into works 'A', 'B' and 'C'. 
There also the feeling was that work 'A' was such that 
it should be given to tender and work 'B' we might 
attempt departmentally by getting a dredger pool and so 
on." 

3.11. According to the Audit paragraph, a single tender submitted 
by the Yugoslav finn for work 'A' of Stage 11, even before tenders 
for the work had been invited, had been accepted by Government 
and the work awarded to the firm. The Committee enquired into 



the reasons for not inviting competitive tenders for this work and 
the basis on which the Yugoslav firm evinced interest in the work 
and was selected. The Committee also desired to know whether, 
before concluding the contract with this Arm, its capabilities, per- 
fonnance in the execution of other Government contracts, etc. had 
been assessed. A note furnished in #is regard by the Ministry of 
Defence is reproduced below: 

"The Yugoslav firm, which was already doing works on be- 
half of several Government Departments and did, in fact 
take up dredging work on behalf ,of the Defence Ministry 
in April 1967 at Visakhapatnam, apparently had obtained 
knowledge of. this work and made an offer in regard there- 
to. The firm know of the project as they had earlier re- 
quested for pre-qualification documents for the whole of 
Stage I1 works but did not submit the necessary details 
or subm'it themselves to evaluation for precluulification. 

Their offer was referred to the consultants for report. The 
consultants after examination made the following obser- 
vations: 

(a) This is a genuine offer representing a reasonable value 
with very few qualificatkns. 

(b) There are two substantial advantages over previous 
offers. These are (1) the tenderer proposed to use their 
own dredging plant entirely under their control; (2) 
there is trade and payments agreements existing between 
India and Yugoslavia. 

(c) From previous international enquiries and tenders, it 
is considered that the offer has several apparent advan- 
tages unlikely to be repeated if this is turned down. 

These aspects were bwught' to the notice of the Defence Minis- 
ter and the Deputy Prime Minister and with their ap- 
proval, a Negotiating Committee was constituted under 
the chairmanship of the Cabinet Secretary for halising 
the offer. On the recommendation of the committee, a 
considered decision was taken by Government for not 
inviting competitive tenders again and awarding the work 
to the Yugoslav firm for the following reasons: 

(i) The unsatisfactory response to the first global tender; 
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(ii) The advantages accruing to Government by acceptkg 
the offer of the Yugoslav firm as advised by the coyul- 
tants; 

(iii) The likelihood of higher quotations being received on 
a fresh tendering of this work and further loss of time 
that was inherent in calling fresh tenders." 

3.12. Since it had been stated by the Ministry that though the 
firm had earlier requested for pre-qualification documents for the 
whole of the Stage I& works, the Arm did not submit the necessary 
details or submit themselves to evaluation for pre-qualification, the 
Committee desired to know the reasons for making a departure from 
-the prescribed procedure in this case. The Defence Secretary stated 
during evidence: 

"At the first stage we adopted the world Bank procedure in 
which the pre-qualification etc. came in. But, later on, 
we split the contract, one of the reasons being that we 
should try to find out Indian parties, if available, to make 
it convenient for them to  tender, thereby avoiding un- 
necessary expenditure in fmetgn exchamge: But they 
were not even given the tender documents. Therefore, the 
questiotn of ~re~qualification documents does not arise. 
It is in this context, when they came to know of this, they 
assured us that they would be willing to tender. SD far 
as evaluating them is concerned, some sort of evaluation 
was done, but it was not on th2.t global tender basis. But 
we did get in touch with the Ministry of Transport and 
asked for their experience because these people had been 
mrking in the Paradip port. We addressed a letter to the 
Transport Ministry on the 17th August 1957 regarding 
this firm and their experience and the reply we have got 
says : 

'So far as the information available in this Ministry is con- 
cerned, the firm dredged material of the order of about 
Rs. 2.45 crores and their work has been found to be 
satisfactory. They are at present engaged in dredging 
the Haldia Dock system where the volume involved is 
10.5 million cubic yards at a cost of Rs. 2.9 crores. The 
Ministry of Defence themselves have contracted this 
firm for dredging the North-Western Area of the Visha- 
khapatnam port. The firm is a reputed Arm of Yugosla- 
via'. 



'When we asked them why they have not shown mponse on 
the first occasion the reply was that they were busy other- 
wise and so they could not have taken up a work of this 
magnitude then." 

3.13. When asked whether any Indian contractor appeared on the 
aerie as anticipated, the witness replied: 

"Efforts were made and I think three or our firms were con- 
tacted to try to induce them, but they did not show any 
response. Between October 1966 and April 1967 we made 
efforts to induce the Indian contractors, namely, Hindustan 
Construction, Gammons & Shah Construction, but they 
did not respond." 

3.14. Explaining further, at the instance of the Committee, the 
background leading to the selection of the Yugoslav firm, the Defence 
Secretary stated: 

"While we were in the process of preparation, for calling for 
tender, this firm showed an interest for this work. There 
were unsatisfactory responses to first global tender. There 
were other reasons which I will refer to later on. So, 
consideration was .given to this firm's offer. I t  cannot be 
considered that! this consideration was done very light- 
heartedly or in any sort of deliberate contradiction of the 
normal procedure etc. The main aspect before Govern- 
ment was this. Will it serve the public interest to consi- 
der this particular offer? I have given an indication that 
while the administrative approval of work A was Rs. 14 
crores, we got tenders amounting to 2 or 3 Oimes of that 
value involving foreign exchange and all that. There were 
many other conditions which it was not just' possible to 
submit to. This firm's offer nearly approximated our own 
administrative approval. We made enquiries about this 
firm. Its performance in other works was found to be 
satisfactory. The question is asked: why did you not pro- 
ceed with normal procedure. I am afraid sometimes we 
find ourselves between the devil and the deep sea. When 
delay occurs we have to answer; in global tenders YOU 
have to evaluate these things; you have to get in w h  
with the consultants and take a considered decision. And 
if the tenderer comes from abroad he will need time to 
assemble the machines and that will take mo* time. SO, 



by. going in  for global tender there is mo guar@nt%e that 
we will get a better response 4hlhl'What we got during 
the last time and it will not certcrlrily beeas gkhd a response 
as of this firm. This firm was rukdaay &re. They don't 
have to spend too much on overheads. Their machinery 
pool has been here already. It was possible to divert those 
equipments on completion of their other works a d  i t  
been advantageous from the point of view of overall ex- 
penditure." 

3.15. Inviting attention to the fact that the offer of the Yugoslav 
firm had been referred to a negotiating committee under the chair- 
manship of the Cabinet Secretary, the Committee asked why a deci- 
sion could nct  have been taken on the offer by the administrative 
Ministry con.erned, as was normally the practice in s i c h  cases. The 
Defence Secretary replied: 

"We had this in view that we could be hauled up in the PAC 
for not following the normal procedure. And, therefore, 
a very well-considered and high level decision had to  
be taken in the very nature and the circumstances of the 
case. This would be my short answer." 

3.16. The Committee desired to know whether there was any 
possibility of executing these works departmentally instead of en- 
gaging contractors. The Defence Secretary stated in evidence: 

"So far as breakwater is concerned, the department had no 
experience. But we did have an idea of dredging work, 
that is, part 'B', which is normally to some extent carried 
out in our country in  various ports. So, we thought we 
might consider taking up work of this order depaftmen- 
tally. But that would have involved acquiring sufficient 
number of dredgers to cape with the quantity of w o ~ k  in- 
volved, either from abroad or from within the manufactur- 
ing capacity of the country. This was considered first 
in  the Defence Ministry and, later on, a suggestion was 
made that it would not be economical for Defence alone 
to have a pool and so the pool should be in the Ministry 
of Transport, who have work of this nature. So, it was 
then considered in consultation with the Ministry of 
Transport but, ultimately, nothing much knaterialised out 
of this and, as events showed, this also had to be given 
out on  contract." 
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B. Pt(rqres~ pf w@w 'A' 

3.27. The Audit paragraph points out that though works 'A' under 
Stage 11 of the project was to be completed in 60 months, i.e. by 
November 1972, the work did not proceed according to schedule, O n  
account of various difficulties encountered during actual execution* 
necessitating revision of the time schedule periodically. The exten- 
sions granted, from time to time, t~ the contractor along with the 
Teasons therefor are briefly summasised below: 

Period of 
extension 

11s days . Exist?r!ce of rocks in the sea-bid rqquirir g blfrstj~g, 
which was not known at the plann~rg and deslgmrg 
stage, as this could not be detected dpringsite invcs- 1 .  

tigat ion carrled out by the consultants. 

135 days . Charg5 in the design of certain structures i.caissons) 
requ~red for the breakwater, after the conclusion of 
the contract. 

38 days , Blackout restrictions ar.d national holidays dprirg the 
extended pxiod of contract not takcr k t o  accow~t 
whilt working out thr actual extension of time and 
changtb orderedin the caissons. 

As a result of these extensions, the work was finally to be completed 
by 23 October, 1973. 

3.18. A note subsequently furnished by the Ministry of Defence 
in this regard is reproduced below: 

"Extensions of time were given to the contractor for two rea- 
sons. Firstly, the contract did not provide for removal 
of rocks as no rocks were expected in that area. When 
rocks were actually encountered, work had to be suspen- 
ded till the rocks were removed. Secondly, the design of 
the caissons had to be changed by the Government while 
the contract was in progress to suit the revised require- 
ment of services. This inevitably resulted in delay in thlJ 
construction of the caissons . 

In addition, extensions had to be given on account of black out 
restrictions doing December, 1971 and on account of national holidays 
and stoppage of work due to bundh. 



, ..The extensions granted were as under: --- 
( i )  OF. a-.t of encounterirg rock . . . . . . . 115 

(ii) 0 . 1  account of delay caused by chal ge of &dg@ of caissor s 204 

(iii) 0 1 account of black out restrictions durir.g 1971 . . .  IS 

(iu) On account of stoppage of work due to natior al holidays sr d bur dh 4 
TOTAL . 338" ---- 

-- -- 

3.19. One of the reasons for extending the time schedule for com- 
pleting work 'A' of Stage I1 was that m k s  had been encountered in 
the sea-bed, which had not been detected during the site investiga- 
.tion. The Committee desired to know the details of the consultants 
who had conducted the site investigation in respect of this work. In 
a note, the Ministry of Defence stated: 

"The consultants were Sir Alexander Gibb & Partners but 
they did not carry out the bores. The bores were carried 
out by specialist contractor in this field, MIS. Cementation 
Company Ltd." 

3.20. The Committee enquired into the nature of tests conducted 
by Cementation Co. Lt'd, and the reasons why the existence of rocks 
could not be detected during site investigation. In a note, the Minis- 
try of Defence replied: 

"Jet, percussion and diarnbnd drill boring of the sea-bed were 
. carried out by the specialist contractors at  various times 
from 1949 onwards. In August 1963, the consultants sub- 
mitted the report on Stage I1 works which gave the align- 
ment of the South Breakwater. On receipt of this report, 
7 more bore holes were taken of which 5 were along the 
alignment of South Breakwater. These were taken on the 
recommendation of the Consultants. None of these disclos- 
ed any rock at the founding level of the caissons." 

3.21. The Committee desired to know the total amount paid to 
the consultant for site investigation. In a note, the Ministry of De- 
fence informed the Committee as follows: 

"No separate amount was paid to the consultants for site in- 
vestigation. The contract amount for 1964 bores was 
Rs. 27,326." 
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ra TO a question whether Cementation ~a ~ t d  rere rmposrt-. 

ble for providing w m g  data on which an incorrect: estimate wm 
prepared, the Defence Secretary replied in evidence: 

"No, Sir. Lf I may explain *the process, under the guidance of 
the aonsultants some trial bore data had to be collected. 
They say it is necessary to do this to find what exists un- 
der a particular surface. In this particular case the con- 
tract with those people was only for about Rs. 27,000; 
the scope for giving trouble should not be disproportionate 
to the amount of work that was entrusted to them. They 
have given us the data. That data has to be interpreted to 
fmd out what exists below; interpretation is something 
which is not left to those people." 

3.23. As regards the extension of 185 days granted to the con- 
tractor on account of a change in the design of certain structures 
after the conclusion of the contract, the Audit paragraph points out 
tihat the Ministry of Defence had intimated (February 1974) that 
the design changes to the interior structure of the caissons forming 
the break-water become necessary because of a change in the re- 
quirements of electrical services and addition of certain services not 
projected earlier. A note furnished by the Ministry of Defence, a t  
the instance of the Committee, indicating the circumstances in which 
these changes could not be foreseen before the conclusion of the 
contract, is reproduced below: 

"The necessity to modify the designs of the caissons arose out 
of the revised electrical and mechanical requirements 
which were not projected earlier. Works 'A' contract was 
concluded on 20-11-1967. Till then, the nature and scope 
of these services as projected by MIS. AGP in 1963 and 
accepted by user remained unchanged. Thereafter, in mid- 
1968, in view of the augmentation of the Naval Fleet, a 
review of the scope of these services was undertaken. 
The matter was referred to the consultants in mid-1969 
and after joint consultations of all concerned, it reached 
a final stage in 1970." 

3.24. The Committee were informed by Audit that the Ministry 
of Defence had stated (September 1974) that the contractor had 
referred claims on account of the changes made in the caissons and 
that these claims were under examination. The Ministry had later 
(March 1975) informed Audit t.hat the contra~tor '~ claims were under 
consideration of a Negotiating Committee constituted for this pur- 



pme ,with the Additional Secretary and Financial$ &aNimr .of the 
W s t r y  as members. The Committee d e s j r e d  to know the t o w  
amount claimed by the contractor and the final outwme of .thq 
examination of the claims. In a note, the Ministr'y of Defence 
skted:  

"The total amount claimed by the contractors M/s. PIM for 
the changes in design, cansequent delay and resultant 
increase in expenditure for the execution of the contract 
is Rs. 1,38,36,320. A Negotiating Committee constituted 
in December 1974 under the orders of the Defence Minis- 
ter and with the approvad of the Finance Minister is exa- 
mining this claim." 

3.25. Since this question was stated to be before a Negotiating 
Committee, the committee asked why this had not been referred 
to the consultants for a final decision and their advice sought in the 
matter. The Defence Secretary replied in evidence: 

"The consultants are not required, under our arrangement 
with them, to administratively get involved and settle 
this matter though we do consult them on certain aspects 
of the work. That is why, negotistion for settlement of 
this claim has been taken up at Government level and 
not' through the consultants." 

When asked whether the decision of the Negotiating Committee 
would be acceptable to the contractor, the witness replied: 

"We are hoping for agreed results on both the sides. That' is 
the whole purpose of negotiation." 

3.26. According to the Audit paragraph., one of the conditions of 
t h e  contract concluded with the Yugoslav firm for work 'A' of Stage 
II was that Government was to bear the bank guarantee commission 
for the guarantees furnished by the banks on behalf of the con- 
Wactor and insurance charges on the works, constructional plants 
etc. of the contractor till the completion of the work. The Commit- 
tee desired to know the reasons for the inclusion of such a clause in 
$he contract. The Defence Secretary stated in evidence: 

"Any contractor who is looking for the work will see to it 
that all expenses for the services are included in the 
rate which he qu'otes. He also expects a certain return on 
the work that he does. It is just a matter of convenience, 



presentation or classification of co* 4 ,  q w t w t o r  can 
" build in all tba incidentals into the rate which .he quotes 

or he may quote the rate separately for the work and in 
addition to that, he may ask for some incidental expendi- 
ture that he might incur. When we go in for the contract 
we see what is the total cost b us. F r o p  our point of view 
we want to be satisfied that we are paying correctly for 
the overall work which we want to get executed. Thus 
we put in a condition in the contract which was asked by 
the contractor. And, therefore, there was no objection 
to our accepting their condition from the overall cost 
point of view." 

3.27. The Committee asked whether the International Conditions 
of Contract did not provide that such charges were to be borne by 
the contractor. The witness replied: 

"The contractor can build into the rate his charges even with- 
out telling you." 

"Can you expect to enter into a contract with any contractor 
without his charges being included in one form D r  the 
other? I do not think that any contractor would dn that. 
The contractor has to recover whatever incidental expen- 
diture he may incur from out of the total money for the 
contract." 

3.28. The Committee desired to know the international practice 
in this regard and whether this would not have been to Govern- 
ment's advantage. The Defence Secretary replied: 

"I am not aware of the international usage you referred to 
but I shall check this up. 

The tender document which we issue is based on the World 
Bank procedure. And they would probably follow the in- 
ternational usage. I am just checking on that." 

3.29. In this connection, the Committee learnt from Audit that 
the Bomhay Port Trust who had been addressed in this regard had 
intimated (September 1974) as follows: 

"The only recent contiract entered intlo between this Port 
Trust and a non-resident firm, for works of a civil engine- 



ering nature, was in connection with the Dock Expursha 
Scheme and the Ballard Pier Extension. According to the 
conditions of this contract, which were based on tbe 
Conditions of Contract (International) for works of civil. 
engineering construction prepared by the Federation In- 
ternationale de Ingenieurs Consoils jointly with the Fede- 
ration Internationale du Batiment et des Travaux Publics, 
the cost of the insurance of the (1) works, (2) third party 
claims and (3) claims in respect of accident or injury t~ 
workmen, had to be borne by the contractors. The Perfor- 
mance Bond furnished by the contractms was also at their 
own expense." 

3.30. Drawing the attention of the Defence Secretary to the pro- 
cedure followed by the Bombay Port Trust, the Committee asked 
whether any attempt was made, when i t  was decided periodically 
to grant extensions to the Yugoslav firm, to ensure that Govern- 
ment did not have to bear the liability towards bank guarantee and 
insurance charges during the extended period of the contract' and, 
if so, with what results. The Defence Secretary stated: 

"Under the terms of the contract which we have agreed to, 
we could not take such a view. We have to pay them if we 
extend the period of the contract with them for valid 
reasons. We have to pay the incidental charges such as 
bank commission etc. That is part of the contract." 

3.31. When asked why a deviation from the inte'rnational pro- 
cedure had been made in this case, the witness replied: 

"I have already submitted about the international procedure. 
It is very clear to me that no firm whether we follow the 
international procedure or not, would forgo this thing. 
They will build that into the rates which they quote. They 
do not charge for everything separately. You may have 
it that way." 

He stated further: 

"I hold no brief for this firm or any other firm. I feel that it 
was an advantage to the Government in executing this 
contract with this firm with whatever charges that we 
have agreed to bear. The proof of the pudding is in the 
eating. This is the firm which has delivered the goods." 



. 3.32. Since it had been stated by the Defence Secretorjr tbat the 
proof of the pudding was in the eating, the Committee pointed a t -  
that the Naval Dockyard expansion had lingered on for over two 
decades. The witness replied: 

"May I say this that the two things are not really related? 
We had to get hold of this firm and we had to stick to the- 
schedule of the contract.  he extra time that they have 
taken is not because of their fault. That was because we. 
have extended the period of the contract. We had to 
change the designs that led to the delay in the completion 
of the work. The firm was not at fault at all. They have 
fulfilled their contract in the scheduled time." 

3.33. A note furnished subsequently by the Ministry of Defence,, 
at  the instance of the Committee, detailing the reasons for Govern- 
ment accepting the liability for these charges and for deviating from 
the international practice in this regard, is reproduced below: 

"In 1965, when the entire Stage I1 workr werd to be adver- 
tised for global tendering, it was decided by Government 
to adopt the standard 'Conditions of Contract (Interna- 
tional) for works of Civil Engineering construction' 
evolved jointly by FIDEC (International Federation of 
Consulting Engineers) and FIBTP (International Federa- 
tion of Public Works Contractors) w2th suitable modifi- 
cations. These 'International' conditions specify only the 
obligations of the parties, and do not stipulate as to how 
the works should be priced or such obligations are to be 
paid for. These are l d t  to the discretion of the parties in 
each case. " 1  

The 'International' conditions require the contractor to take on 
insurance covering works, plant and materials, third party 
damages and workmen's compensation. They also provide 
for the contractor to furnish security in the form of Bank 
Guarantee, if the1 employer so desires. The expenses 
incurred by the contractor in fulfilling these obligations 
can be provided for either as an element of overheads in 
the item rates themselves, or as separate specific items on 
a firm lumpsum or on actuals basis. In any case, the 
incidence of such expenditure, whichever mode is adopted, 
will form an item which the contractor will expect re- 
imbursement on. 



The liability for incidenhl charges like banlit ifudl'anbe com- 
mission etc., on bn actual bash, accepted ?3y Government 
as a part of the cont ra t  has to be-read against the abdve 
background." 

3.34. The cost of work 'A' had been estimated in Dwrnber  1967 
ag Rs. 1412.30 lakhs. The Committee were informed ,by the Ministry 
sf Defence that the total expenditure incurred on this work upto 
June 1975 was Rs. 1,551.88 lakhs. 

C. Execution of works 'B' 
I 

3.35. Works 'B' of Stage I1 comprising capital dredging and re- 
.clamation excluding dredging of rock alongside the fitting out wharf 
was initially to be done departmentally. Ultimately, however, since 
nothing tangible materialised out of the efforts made in this regard, 
these works also had to be given out on contract. The Committee 
desired to know whether it was not Government's policy to make 
sure that as much of the work was done departmentally ar by Indian 
personnel. The Defence Secretary stated in evidence: 

"From my experience I can say that departmental work has 
to be taken up only if there i's no other alternative. The 
reason for this is that you enter into a very unlimited 
liability when you take up the departmental work, whereas 
under contractual work, you at least know the limits of 
your liability and you have some way out, contractual or 
otherwise, of making good the losses, if any. In the case 
of departmental construction, you cannot hold people res- 
ponsible. That is why the bulk of our works arpd that of 
the PWD etc. is done through contracts." 

3.36. T,he Committee learnt from Audit that in 1973, the Director 
General, Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme had, inter a h ,  informed 
the Controller of Defence Accounts, Poona, with reference to the 
draft paragraph on the Expansion Scheme proposed for inclusion in 
the Auditor General's Report that though a decision had been taken 
by  Government in October 1966 that works 'B' should be carried out 
departmentally by acquiring suitable dredging plant, no worthwhile 
progress had been made in the matter till May 1968. Relevant ex- 
tracts from this communication made available to the Committee 
by Audit are reproduced below: 

"Government's decision in October 1966 was that works 'B' 
i.e. soft dredging should be carried out departmentally by 
acquiring suitable dredging plant. Consequent on this 



d e w n ,  Haval Headquartere t m k  upon itself the initiative 
and rqpgyibility to progress the acquisition of the neces- 

-sary &@dging equipment on consultation with the DG, 
NRESI. This modus was necessitated as  it was desirable 
that the equipment so acquired should .not only be useful 
in works at Bombay, but from an all-India point of view 
in so far as Navy was concerned. However, no worth- 
while progress in the matter was made till May 1968. As 
a result, the DG, NDES was compelled to address Hqrs. 
that the critical stage had been passed, when the acqui- 
sition of such an equipment could be decided upon, pro- 
cured and commissioned. . . .Receiving no response to this 
communication for several months, DG, NDES, addressed 
the Ministry of Defence in 1968 on the same lines and 
suggested that the only course now open to get works 'B' 
completeid in any reasonable time after works 'A' is to 
let it out on contract and not get it done departmentally. 
Government's approval to the course recommended by the 
DG was received in April 19f0 authorising the DG to let 
out this work on contract as a result of global tendering. 
Thereafter, contract action was initiated, global tenders 
were advertised and invited. And though there was en- 
couraging response for the tender document itself, only 
one valid'tender was received in March 1971. All contract 
action was completed within a year on recegving Govern- 
ment's decision to go ahead and then it was transmittdd 
to Government with DG's recommendation. Then further 
negotiations were held at  Delhi in November 1971 and 
things finalised. However, due to emergency that arose 
at  about that time, the award of the actual contract was 
delayed and the contract was accepted by Government 
only on 28-1-1972." 

3.37. Since this communication appeared to suggest that there 
had been delay $n implementing Government's earlier decision in  
regard to departmental execution, which was also in the national 
interest, the Committee desired to know the reasons therefor. The 
Defence Secretary stated in evidence: 

"We started with that feeling that it would be in the national 
interest to do this work departmentally for the reason 



that if we could assemble an adequate dmdging pool, thb 
wodd not only help us to complete this work, but we 
could have an asset at  our command which could ba used 
for various works in the country including Naval works. 
'his particular idea had to be given a realistic shape. 
This involved, as I submitted earlier, acquisition of dredg- 
ing equipment of a very large character. Dreklgers, if 
iinported from abroad, would cost large sums of money 
in foreign exchange; if we have to produce them in 
India-and some production has been organised in our 
country-it would take a large period of time to complete 
construction of the dredgers that we need and also sub- 
stantial amount of foreign exchange would go into the 
construction of this equipment as a whole. The matter 
was examined as to have we could assemble the pool, the 
idea with which we had started. When approaches were 
made to the Ministry of Finance, because of our overall 
resources position and difficulties of foreign exchange, the 
idea took a different shape that instead of the Ministry 
of Defence organising this pool, the pool should be orga- 
nised by the Ministry of Transport, who are incharge of 
ports, harbours etc. on the civil side and the same Fool' 
could do the work on behalf of the Navy. We took i t  up 
accordingly, but the results of these discussions were that 
ultimately it was not found possible to give effect to this 
idea of assmbling a dredging pool which would take up 
this work. It is in that context that the DG made a 
reference when he was unhappy at the time taken. Ulti- 
mately, the Ministry of Defence decided that if we cannot 
go ahead in this way, we have no option but to give i t  
on contract. This is how the decision was taken not to do 
it departmentally." 

3.38. When asked whether this statement implied that despite 
all the exercised in planning to reduce dependence on foreign con- 
tractors and to build up indigenous expertise and capabilities, trans- 
lation of Government's intentions into positive action still depended, 
to a large extent, on the resources position, the witness replied: 

"It is our intention and, I think, it is the intention of our plan- 
ners that not only on the Defence side, but on the civil side 
also, we should create capacity within the country. But 
sometimes, it is not possible to wait folr the reactism of that 
capacity, if there is an urgent work pending and, resort 



has, therefore, to be taken to letting out the w o r k  on con- 
tract. This a p p h  to many other slippages, where we 
have got the capacity to build the equipment in the 
country but because of lag in time schedule, we have 
to meet our current requirements by imports. This 
is not something peculiar to Navy. I would say that the 
bonafldes of our planners are not in doubt. They start 
on the right lines: they have the very object that you 
have mentioned, but we have to face the position of re- 
sources, with which we can fulfil those ideas. If the re- 
sources are not forthcoming, there is no option!' 

3.39. When the Committee observed, in this context that the De- 
fence Ministry had apparently not displayed any sense of urgency 
i n  implementing the decision to execute the work departmentally, 
-the Defence Secretary replied: 

"We have been exploring all this. We have been in touch 
with the producers. But we are not 'given foreign 
exchange. In these circumstances we could do nothing 
but to think of some alternative to get the work done. 
We are not against the building up of dredger pool. We 
have a sense of urgency to go on with the work. If the 
cbuntry's overall-fore2$$n exchange and finandial pasi- 
tion-does not allow dredging pool, I do not see how the 
Ministry of Defence is to be blamed." 

3.40. The following picture emerges in regard to the execution 
.of works 'B' from the material made available to the Committee by 
the Ministry and udit: 

.€ktoIxr 1966 . . . Dx'qion taken to execute works. 'B* depanmently. 

July 19% . . . Propma's wdtr  cansideration for acquisition of drtd- - -  - g-rs. 
(Dzcembs 1968 . . . Propxal mo~ted for executing the works on contract 

basis. 

O.%ob~r/December 196) . Proposal approved by Defence Mirister. 

April 1970 . , . Form11 approval co-~veped to DG, NDES for iwiting 
global tenders. 

M o d  1971 , . . Single valid tender received. 

November 1971 . . . Further negotiations held at Di Ihi. 

. Januaq 1972 . . . Contract awarded. 



Thus, while i$ took nearly ,a& pars b set in abotiixi the $recess for 
the contract. The Committee also learnt from Audit thdt the con- 
the contract. The Committee also learnt from Audit tha the con- 
tract for these works had also been awarded to the Yugoslav firm, 
Ivan Milu t inov id im.  

3.41. when the Committee drew attention to. the unduly long: 
time taken in arriving a t  a final decision in regard to execution d 
works 'B', the Defence Secretary stated: 

"When we start the work, there is a natural sequence for 
taking up the work. In so far as works 'A' is concerned 
it had to start in 1967. The contract was given and 
work was taken in band. 

As regard works 'B' this is mainly in the nature of. dredging 
#of the outer basin. I will ask the DG to explain to you a s  
to why work 'B' could not be taken up earlier than when 
i t  was taken up." 

The Director General, Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme stated in 
this connection: 

"When the decision to split the Stage I1 Civil Engineering 
Works into three parts was taken, it was decided at the 
same time that priority should be given to works 'A'. 
This gave the benefit to the Navy of a break-water 
which improved sheltered berthing conditions inside the 
inner basin, it enabled ships to be berthed alongside on 
the outer side of South breakwaterewhere there was no 
much dredging required to be done in fair weather. I t  
was only after works 'A' had reached an advanced stage 
that one could start works 'B'. As was pointed out ... . . 
works 'B' involved a certain amount of rock dredging 
which had to be carried out by blasting the rock. We 
could not carry out blasting because that would have 
damaged the caissons while they were standing by in an 
incomplete condition and before massed concreting had 
been done in them. Secondly, works of two contracts 
could not be carried out simultaneously in a restricted 
area as dredgers operating in close proximity co~.tld l e d  
to all types of complications. Our anxiety was that if 
the dred'ging under works 'B' had to be done depart- 
mentally, then we must take a decision and acquire the' 
necessary dredgers in time so that the work did not get 



held up later. It was in that context that my organ@- 
tion was urging Naval Hqrs. to  expedite the decision for 
acquiring the dredgers. As the Secretary has pointed out 
there were difflculties'about that and when we come to 
the conclusion that dredgers were not available action 
was initiated to go in for tenders for works 'B'. The two 
works could not have been taken up simultaneously." 

3.42. When the Committee pointed out in this connection that  
the execution of works 'B' had been terribly delayed and had been 
hanging fire since 1966, the Defence Secretary stated: 

"I .am advised by my colleague here that decision to go in for 
work 'B' was taken in April 1970. If there is any smt 
of contradiction we will check it." 

The Committee thereupon drew attention to the fact that the pro- 
posal for letting out works 'B' on contract had been mooted in 1968. 
The witness replied: 

"That was the proposal which was made but the decision t o  
gc! in for tender was taken in April 1970 after exploring all 

the avenues." 

He added: , 

"Discussion at higher level had to be taken from time to time 
for going into the question of involvement of foreign 
exchange finding out the availability of manufacturirfg; 
capacity within the country at  various levels; these are 
not within the knowledge of the Dircetor General." 

3.43. When asked, in this context, whether the Director General 
had initiated the proposal without being aware of the various factors 
involved, the witness replied: . ., 

"I was only trying to mention that he was a man on the spbt 
who supervises all actual construction on this, program- 
ming with the contractors who have been awarded the 
works etc. On an issue like this when various avenues 
have to be explored, this can only be dealtwith by Gov- 

, ernment, at the appropriate level and not a t  the DG's 
level.'' 



a8 stated further: 

"I have nothing more to submit than what I have said. But 
I would submit one point. Whereas the Committee and 
yourself are very rightly giving importance to the sense 
of urgency naturally, with the idea of seeing that our 
defences are appropriately looked after, I have to point 
out how in working out this programme we have taken 
up various measures to see that our current require- 
ments are not in any way upset. We have kept the fleet 
operational and the evidence of this could be seen when 
we go back to the period 1971; the entire fleet was by and 
large operational and committed to the actual war 
operations. Regarding the basic hurdles I would say this. 
We cannot blast the rock under stage 'B'. 'That is the 
main work. There is no other work. We have had to 
remove the rock. It would be foolhardy on our part to go 
ahead with work 'B' simultaneously irrespective of the 
consequences to work 'A'." 

3.44. The Audit paragraph points out that as works: 'B' are ex- 
pected to be completed only by the end of 1977, the facilities pro- 
vided by the completion of works 'A' in October 1973 cannot be 
availed of by ships. The Committee were also informed by Audit 
that the Ministry of Defence had stated (March 1975) that the 
naval ships commenced berthing alongside the South Breakwater 
with effect from 11 October 1974. The Ministry had, however, added 
that the facilities provided could only be put to limited use by the 
ships as the dredging of the basin to be executed under works 'B' 
was expected to be completed by the middle of 1975. 

3.45. The Committee, therefore, asked whether Government 
would not concede that there was some anarchy in programming 
and synchronising various components of the project and whether 
any action had been taken against the consultants who had divided 
Sta'ge 11 of the project into three groups which had apparently 
cseated difficulties in actual execution. The Defence Secretary 
replied : 

"The breaking up of the work into three contracts was 
primarily to get over the stranglehold of a global 
character. If the work of that magnitude was to be 
executed by one agency, it was not likely that any Indian 
agency could be able to handle it. One of the reasons for 



witt ing it Wbs to enable the Iadian contractor to do 
that job. We made an attempt in this regard. 

The other point is that the statement that works 'A' could not 
be used until works 'B' ate completed has to be seen in its 
real perspective. Works 'A' even today are being used 
in a limited manner in the sense that ships are being 
berthed there particularly in fair weather along the 
South Breakwater. It is also a fact that works 'B' had 
to be delayed to enable works 'A' to be completed and to 
some extent this delay was co-terminus with the con- 
sideration of forming a dredging pool which itself took 
time. 

Works 'A' cannot be used fully at this stage for two 
reasons- 

(1) Dredging in works 'B' has to be complete? to make the 
fullest utilisation possible; 

(2) A11 t!le electrical and mechanical facilities are to be 
insta!led. 

It  is only when those facilities are available, the ships would 
be able to have a berth with full facilities. They could 
not be dovetailed with the broad civil works of stage 'A'. 
To me it appears that there was no grave error or any 
sort of injury caused because these works '8' were not 
taken up earlier because, as you would appreciate, in the 
very nature of things, they could not be taken up earlier. 
As I told you. . . . . .we were exploring the ~ossibility of 
having our own dredging pool and in these circumstan- 
ces, I am sure, you will be kind enough to take a more 
charitable view of our perfomance." 

3.46. The Committee desired to know the progress made in the 
execution of works 'B' and the up-to-date . expenditure incured 
wereon. The Ministry of Defence informed the Committe that the 
overall progress (August 1975) was approximately 80 per cent and 
ar on 30 June 1975, an expenditure of Rs. 648.93 lekhs had been 
*red on these works. 

D. Works 'C' 

*) J W ~ .  According to the Audit paragraph, the scope of works C' 
under stage If was under review (September 19TI) by the Naval 



HeadayartersJMin+ky qf Defence. &The Wniqtry h@ informed 
Audit, in March 1975, that the user's requirement of works 'C' had 
been finalised in consultation with Naval Headquarters and had " 
bgsn forwarded to the consultants for undertaking their Whnical 
report. 

9.48. The Committee were subsequently informed by the 
Miaistry of Defenctr that the consultants' report and estimates had 
been received in April 1975 and were under examination for the 
issue of administrative, approval and that no expenditure had been 
incurred on works 'C' so far. 

E. .Services for Works 
3.49. As regards the electrical and mechanical services required 

in the Dockyard, the Ministry of Defence informed the Committee 
as follows: 

' T o  make the civil engineering works fully useful, it is neces- 
sary to provide various mechanical and electrical services. 
In the 1964 Administrative approval, these services were 
sanctioned only on a provisional basis. After works 'A' 

- . were contracted 'out, user requirements for these services 
were reevaluated during 1968-69 in the light of acquisi- 
tion programme of the Navy subsequent to 1964 and esti- 
mates based on this reevaluation were called for from 
the consultants. These were received in November 1970 
and projected to Government in March 1971. Government 
gave the 'Go ahead' sanction to the DG in January 1972 to 
proceed with'these works pending formal administrative 
approval. 

The first contract,. . . . .,was concluded in November 1974 and 
completed in June 1975. Contract for the supply and 

. erection of the.. . . . .was concluded in November 1974 
and is to be completed by March 1977. Contract for mis- 
cellaneous civil en4gineering structures. . . . . .was conclud- 
ed in April 1975 and scheduled to be completed by April 
1977. Contract for electrical services totalling Rs. 2.S 
crores was concluded in Juw 1975 and is scheduled 'b 
be completed by 1978. This leaves only the contract fdr 
the mechanical equipment and pipe work services to be 
progressed. The tenders for the mechanical services Ili.cr(ik 
since been receive4 and are ~ d e r  scrutiny. . . -  

This would leave the services for works 'C' to be dealt with 
which can be taken up  after the civil enginerbg w L s  
'C' is m i n e d  and -approved." * , , . - - 1 t \  



3.50. The Comfnittee ~~ to 'know whether t h e w s t  of works 
4 9 4 %  A; B and 'C"kstirnat6d in December 1967 had undergone aaf 
revision Subsequently and, if so, the reasons for the increase in cask 
In a note, the ~ i n i s t r ~  of Defence stated: 

"The total 'cost of Stage II works 'A', 'B' id 'C' put togefthm 
are expected to ikrease substantially from the feuidd 
estimates of 1967 amounting to. Rs. 24.70 crores. Tlhe 
revised estimates are being re-revised fm submission ta 
Government for issue of revised Actministrdtive appr- 
The main reasons for increase are: 

(a) Price escalation over the years. 

(b) Increase in Customs duties. 

(c) Quantity of Rock Dredging increasing substantially. 

(dl) Maintenance dredging initially to be borne frv 
Revenue Head now transferred to Capital p r o j e t  
Account. , ,  L .  

(e) Increase in scope of electrical and mecbgnical services." 

3.51. To another question as to why it was necessa+ to revise 
the estimates for Stage I1 in 1966-67, the Defence Secretary replied 
in w,idence: 

"The estimates had to be revised in 1966 because of the posi- 
tion emerging from the global tenders which were called. 
The response was very adverse to us. When you split the 
work. you naturally have to prepare fresh estimates 
relating to those particular works. That is why, we had 
to revise the project report. There are, of course, other 
factors like price escalation, devaluation that had taken 
place meanwhile, etc. For these reasons, fresh estimates 
were absolutely necessary." 

Explaining further the reasons for the increase in cost of Stage II 
works from 14.58 crores in Septembe~ 1964 to Rs. 24.70 crores in 
December 1967, the witness stated: 

"The reasons for the increase are as follows. There were 
changes in the quantities of work and they accounted fdrr 



b. 2.61 crores. T@re are v w  items which account for 
Rs. 0.53 crolre.   here has been an increase in prices from 
1963 to 1W; on an average rate ob five per cent per annum, 
it works out to about 20 per cent, 2.75 crores. There wm 
an increase as a result of the devaluation of the Indian 
rupee which accounts for Rs. 2.87 crores." 

-*l:S,52. The Committee asked whether it was a fact that the Defence 
Committee of the Cabinet had envisaged a period of seven years for 
thb completion of works under Stage I1 and, if so, whether this did 
mt imply a decision to go ahead with the projects with some urgency. 
The Defence Secretary replied: 

"I will just check up the papers. At that stage when we went 
to the Defence Committee of the Cabinet, that kind of 
estimate was perhaps given. But, as we have already dis- 
cussed, respanse to the global tenders and various othet 
factors, set-backs which we came across, were responsible 
for the further shape which the events took." 

%en the Committee pointed out in this connection that the actual 
k&ution of the works had fallen short of the aspirations and p r b  
m m e s  in this regard, the witness replied: 

"If I may submit, estimates and projections have to be linked 
with the actual approvals and financial sanctions given." 



THE EXPANSION PROJECT IN FiETROSPECT 

4.1. As has been stated in paragraph 1.8 of this Report, the PubW 
Accounts Committee (1965-66) had been informed that the consub 
tants to, the Naval Dockyard Expansion Project had envisaged that 
all the work relating to the expansion would be completed by 1960, 
i.e. 9 years after its commencement i n  1951. Work on Contract No. I 
of Stage I had, however, commenced only in September 1954 and 
after a chequered progress during which the Navy found itself caught 
up in a turmoil of arbitration proceedings and other complications, 
Stage I of the project was completed in December 1970. Stage I1 is 
yet to be completed in all respects, even after the lapse of more than 
two decades. 

4.2. The Committee enquired into th'e reasons for the delays a t  
various stages of implementation of expansim project, the changes, 
if any, introduced at different times as a result of the changing face 
of the Indian Navy, etc. The Committee also desired to know how 
far the original project of the consultants, prepared in 1949-50, was 
valid in the present day conditions. A note furnished in this regard 
by the Ministry of Defence is reproduced in Appendix IV. 

4.3. On the basis of the material furnished to the Committee in 
this regard, the major events in the two decade and  odd history of 
the expansion project have been briefly summarised below: 

. Appointment of Sir Alexardcr Gibh ard Partrcrs e8 
Copsultants to the Deckyard Expar sion Prnic ct. 

May 1950 . . Report rec~ ived from Corsultsrrs 

r\Tovcmbtr i g ~ z  . . . Nrcessitr ofthe Proiect acccpted by Gover~mert, Con- 
sultancy agreement signed and Administrative A p  
nrnval issued for Stagc I works ar a cost of Re. 
5 .  55 crorcs 

STAGE I 

( h t r a c r  No. L of Stage I 

June 1953 . . . 'I'mders sdvcrtiscd for Contract No. I 

October 1953 . . . Tenders received 



I12 

-- - 
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Ekcember I953 . Tenders considered ar d rcportc d u p 1  by Cor.sultartr 

~ccember 19531Awst 1954 . Nv ria ' q8 ~itb,Bpmbay Port Trust $3' $9 

June 1956 

September, 1956 . . 
December 1956 

February 1957 . . 
November 1957 . 
Octob r/Nov~mber 1958 

November 1966 

A m t  I973 

f i b r ~ a ~  I974 

Other works wder Stage I 

Contract No. I aocc ptcd. 
(To be completed by May 1957) , 

Contractors stop work 

Work abandoned by c~atractors 

Forfeiture of the contnict. Decision takes TO execute 
th- work departmentally. 

Admipistrator for the project appointed. 

Work recommended. 
F.. 

Concern expressed by Goverl mert over slow progress 
of work. Director General, NDES, appointed in 
overall charge of the Project. 

Arbitration proceedir gs commer crd 

Death of flrst arbitrator ard appointment of sec0r.d 
arbitrator, 

Work completed departmentally. 

Arbitsation proceedings cor cludc d. 

Award annou~ced by arbitrator. 

Construction of Cruiser Graving Dock 

November 1954 . . . 'renders advertised 

February 1955 . . . Tenders rcceivrd. 

August /October 1955 . Coitract aocepted ard work commr~ccd. (To be cola- 
pleted in January 1959) 

November 1960 . . . Work completed. 

Ext& o j  Ballard Pier 

1963 . . . . . Work sanctioned asd commer?ccd. 

January 1967 . . . Work cornpl-.ted (D~paflmentalexecution) 

M w m  contracts for rrroiccs 

1963-1967 . Various contracts taken up and completed. 

May 1968 . . . Last of machinery contracts completed. 

Minor works under Stage I 
December 1970 . . . All works' oomplcted. -- 



September 1966 . . . Works under Stage I1 sdmini~tmtively a~propcd otbs 
cost of Rs. I# $9 mores. Decision t a k a  to execute 
all workore  one contract. 

October 1965 . . . Globaltenders advertised. 

May 1966 . . . Two offers received from Frerch ard Germanflnns. 
~ G s t  1966 . . . m c r s  referred to the' Consultants. 

October 1966 . . . Offers rejected ard decision takcn to split civil ergk- 
eering works into thrte parts- 
Works ' A ', ' B ', & ' C . 

Deccmber 1967 . Revised a-htrative approval issued at an estimated 
cost of Rs. 2470 crores. 

Wmks 'A' 

October 1g66-April, 1967 Efforts made tointerest Indian contractors in the 
wor t  

Jure 1967 . . . S i ~ g k  ter.der submitted by Yugoslav flrm. 
Novt mber 1967 . . . Sir e tender accepted. (Work to be completed by 

&vcrnber 1912). 

October 1973 . . Works ' A ' completed. 

October 1966 . . . Decision taken to execute works departmentaly. 

October 1966 July 1968 . Proposals under consideration for acquisition of drcd- 
gets. 

Demmbrr 1968 . . . Praposal mooted for executirg works through contrac- 
tors 

October-Dccc mbc r 1969 . Proposal approved by I3efer.u Mirjster. 

April 1970 . . , Formal approval conveyed to DG, NDES for glob1 
tenders. 

March 1971 . . . Sirgle te~.&r receivcd from Yugoslav flrm. 

November 1971 . . . Further negotiatiom held at Delhi. 

January 1972 . . , Contract acccptrd. (To be completrd by Jon-- 
1975). Work expxted to be completed bg the end of 
1975. 

Works 'C' 

Srptember 1974 . . : of works under review by Naval Headquarten/ 
~nistry of Defence. 9. 



. . .  April I975 Reappraisal report and revise dates received fnglr- 
consultints . 

. . . .  195 Consultarxi s r c p r t  un:*.cr examiratib;. for issue d 
a$mini~ttative approval. 

S-ces for works t .  

rg6$ . . .  Services sanctioned on a provisional basis. 

. User fe.quircmcr.ts rr-evalustt d ir rht light of Navy's 
acqulslt jOF. programme, subsc quer t to rg6q ard ea- 
timates bastd or? the re-evaluatlor callc d for from 
the consultarts. 

November r g p  . Revised estimatrs rt ctivt d f1c.m cor r.ultzr IS  

March 1971 . .  Estimates projected to G0verrrner.t. 

. . . .  January 1972 Go ahead, sanctior giver: to DG, NDES, pe~din.g for- 
mal adrnirhtrative approval. 

.................................. November 1974 . . First mr.tract.. ................................................... ............ comlude d . 
. ............... Decrmbtr 1974 , Cor.tract for supply ard ercctio~ of. 

coc.cludc d. 
(To be completed by March 1977). 

April 1975 . Contract for miscellareoub civll crgirk rrginerrirg 
structures cor cluded. (To be complctt a by April, 
1977). 

June 1975 . . First contract cntm d irtn in Novt mbc r 1974 comple- 
ted. 

* ,  
July 1975 . . . Co~?tract for electrical srrvict s cox clcd, d. (Tc? hc 

completed by 1978). Tenders for mechanical scr- 
viccs received and under scrutir y. 

4.4. Drawing attention to the delays in the execution of the pro- 
ject at various stages, the Committee desired t o  know whether Gov- 
ernment had not been perturbed over these delays and displayed a 
sense of. urgency in completing a vital 'Defence project. The Defence 
Secretary stated in evidence: 

"If you are referring to the overall delay- Rs. 25 crores Plan- 
I would concede there has been a prolonged delay. But i t  
is a major issue and one will have to go into the details to 
tell you why there was an unavoidable delay." , 

He stated further: 

"This does indicate that the funding of the Naval Expansbn 
Plan was not certain. But tbe thing was approved in prin- 
ciple and implementation was to depend on availability of 

! resources, which had yet to ) assessed. 



The Committee g-qlly agreed. with the immediate objee- 
tivrro set out in the plan. These would be subject to 
annual review in the light of financial, political and tech* 
nological considerations arising during the period. I* 
accepted the first three years' programme, which poxti- 
cularly involved training only, with the direction that 
capital expenditure should be carefully scrutinised and 
either curtailed or phased over a longer period as far as 
practicable. Here the inference which you were drawing 
is more or les borne out that there was no break-neck 
hurry displayed; in fact, if anything, the emphasis was on 
modemtion and going gradually. 

When you think of naval expansion, you have to think of 
harbour facilities, repair and maintenance. In July 1949, 
i.e. within 6 or 7 months, Sir Alexander Gibb and Part- 
ners were requested to submi.t a report on expansion of' 
naval dockyard facilities. Even in the selection of con- 
sultants. a little time was 'taken. In 1948. we were closely 
allied to British admiralty and British practices. At that 
time, the Chief of the Indian Navy was also a British 
Officer. There were three British consuItants in the run- 
Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners. Randel, Palmer and 
Tritton and Sir Bruce White and Partner. Randel, Pal- 
mer & Tritton were ruled out because they were consul- 
tants for the Pakistan naval dockyard at Karachi. Sir 
Bruce White and partner were ruled out because they 
were consultants to the Bombay Port Trust and their ap- 
pointment would have led to conflict of interests. So, Sir, 
Alexand~k Gibb were appointed in July 1949. They sub- 
mitted their project report in May-June 1950. Without 
going into much detail. I will just read kom the summa- 
ry of the general conclusions and recommendations con- 
tained in the report: 

'We recommend the construction of this scheme be under- 
taken in five stages. The first stage should be under 
construction by October 1951 to be ready by March 
1953. The operation for the construction of second stage 
should be under way by October 1952, in order that faci- 
lities required for expanding the Indian Navy may be 
available when required in 1956. If construction of 
the various stages is arranged so that the work on site is 
continued, we consider that the total scheme of deve- 
lopment of the dockyard would be completed by 1960'. 



I MlW this: yo& shoulB hepi*  MeiV "tfi& hgtl~ie+& which - the 'DCC (Defence Corfuni t t* of the @a%inefl had approv- 
ed of the plan saying ''implementathi to'deperid upon av- 
ailability b$ resdurces'. The actual build-up of the navy 
was *also difFemnt from the projectfons'gWen to Sir Alex- 
ander Qibb. 

After this, the preliminary action for dealing with this project 
was taken. The delay which is quite c ~ ~ i c u o l u s  here is 
of 2 years gram 1950 to 1952. I understand after studying 
the records and discussions with my colleagues that these 
two years were taken to clear the project with certain au- 
thorities concerned. Sir Alexander Gibb and partners 
were asked to report on naval dockyard facilities to be 
expanded in Bombay and elsewhere. They picked up 
Bombay as the centre where the expansion should take 
place. Here it seems we camle into clash with both Bom- 
bay Port Trust and Bombay Government. I am told the 
Bombay Government were rather upset about marring the 
beauty of Bombay, particularly the sea front. The thing 
is still of topical interest. I was in Bombay 10 days back 
and the discussion is still gdng on for redesigning the 
scheme so that it does not mar the beauty of the Gateway 
of India. The Governor's wife is taking a lot of interest 
in this matter and we are faced not only with delay to some 
extent on this account but also extra expenditure. The 
Bombay Port Trust was also averse to the Naval Dock- 
yard Scheme taking shape in Bombay. I presume that 
this must have clashed with their own expansion scheme. 
This is a problem that comes up in many ways including 
the basic factor about how much money out of the total 
resources will go to Defence. We have all the time fought 
for additional funds and then we are told that this coun- 
try has not only to defend itself but it has also to live. What 
hamens in such cases is that the problem of apportioning 
resources is solved at the higher level. In this case, it was 
the Prime Minister who gave the decision ultimately." 

When asked when this decision was taken, the witness replied 
that it ,was in 1952. He continued: 

"It took two years to iron out the differences. But even be- 
fore the Prime Minister's decision, various points of view 
had to be considered: and discussions have to be held at 
different levels and this process tpok two :'m. I have 
been told that even the house of Tatas raised objection. 



to w e  particular,proposal because t w  thq.q&t that would 
" s p o i l  the beaqty,of i)ornbqy. 4 **,of m e  come up 

with objections. %en, after thip clearwe at PM level in ' 
' ~ctoberl~ovemb& 1952, the Defence Committee of the Ca- 

binet to whom the paper was submitted finally apprwed 
of the overall praject costing about Rs. 34 crores and 
gave administrative approval for Stage I costing about 
Rs. 5.5 crores. In this Paper also which went to 
the Defence Committqe of Cabinet, the Dehnce Minis- 
try itself had said that no Arm estimate could at present 
be given either for the time required or bor the cost that 
would be incurred to complete the first ,?base as modified 
under the above proposal. The Cumultants had one view 
that it should be phased in five stages and completed in 
9 years. The time and money allocation were not fully 
spelt out for the entire project." 

4.5. The Committee asked whether Governmen't 'had truly procee- 
ded with urgency in regard to the Dockyard. The Defence Sctcretary 
replied: , 

"I could not say myself that Government had not paid serious 
attention to it. The Government thinking was that they 
would go ,on earmarking fund phase by phase." 

To another question whether this by itself could be considered an 
.adequate justification for not expediting a project of national im- 
por'tance the witness replied: 

"I would be the last person to withhold or conceal anything in 
this regard. In the morning, I have myself expressed un- 
hasiness at the unusual delay that took plac2 in the pro- 
ceedings of arbitration, The delay factor does not arise 
until the Government gives administrative approval im- 
mediately. Until that has been done, you have no yard- 
stick to measure." 

4.6. The Committee desired to know the reasons for earmarking 
%rids for the project in phases. The witness stated: 

"At a certain point of time, the Navy was consciously given 
low pa3ority." 

When asked whether this was the position even after the 1971 
experience, the witness rqlied: 

"Since about 1964-65, Navy has been getting its due and per- 
haps a little more than what would be proportionakly due - 



to make up the previous backldg. ~ i l i  1964-65, tbe Navy 
was a back number i.h the allocation of resources and au- 
thorisation for purchase of ships and o t h a  equi3ment." 

4.7. The Committee des.red to know how far the oprrational dB- 
cienay of the Indian Navy had been affected or jeopardised by the  
delay in the completion of the Dockyard project. In a note, the Mi- 
nistry of Defence stated: 

"The extent to which the operational efflciency of  he shjys of 
the Indian Navy has been adversely affected cannot be 
exactly quantified. However, what can be said is that the 
facilities when the ships come into harbour, to enable 
them to shut down machinery and carry out maintenance, 
have not been adequately available. This has caused avoi- 
dable utilisation 05 the ships' own machinery resulting 
in greater maintenance effort and longer reiit p-riods." 

The Defence Secretary in this context stated during evidence: 

"I would say that any project which is taken in hand should be 
completed as soon as possible. We have conceded in our 
replies to your questionnaire that the operaticma1 capability 
of our Navy has been affected by the delay in  construction 
of civil works and by other aspects. I am not wanting 
to cover up the delay, where it has taken ,slacc, but the 
delay must be judged in relation to some set plans and pro- 
jects which have been approved, financially sanctioned 
and time-limit put on them. As a citizen of this country 
I want everything to go forward." 

4.8. Explaining further the progress made in the  pansio ion of the 
Naval Dockyard, the Defence Secretary stated in svidence: 

"I would submit that in 1952, the Government generally aqpro- 
ved of the project involving overall expenditure of 24 
crores and indicated that this would depend on the mcmey 
and other allocations. They also specifically approved3 of 
the Stage I at  a cost of 5.5 crores. In the same month we 
were able to sign the consultancy agreement with our 
Consultants specifically for execution of Stage I. From 
November 1952 to May 1953, the site investigation 
work was taken in hand and completed. There is no 
undue delay here. During the period June to October 1953, 
tenders were called, received and ,evaluated. In August 
1954, negotiations with the Bombay Port Trust for actual 



transfer of land and assets were c o m p l ~ .  On 2nd S q -  
tember 1954, coatract No. 1 was accepted to be completed 
by May 1957. Later on, the followfng year October 1955, 
contract No. 2 for Cruiser Graving Dock wzc awarded. 

With reference to Stage I, I would like to tell you the history 
of actual progress after conclusio~ of this coctract. 

Contract No. 1 was accepted on 2nd September 1951 to be com- 
pleted by May 1957. As I stated, after 15 per crnt of the 

work was executed, the Cntractors stowed the work 
in June 1956 and abandoned the contract in September 
1956. This resulted in the forfeiture of the contract in Dec- 
ember 1956 and the Government took up the work dep-art- 
mentally. Though the administrator was appointed for this 
purpose in February 1957, he could not re-start the work till 
November 1957 for these reasons: 

(i) Time required to complete survey ar.d inventory and 
evaluate the assets left behind by the defaulting contrac- 
tor valued at amroximate 18 lakhs. 

(ii) Renovating and reactivating the er$&pment and machi- 
nery left by the contractor in a deplorable state and 
which had been inactive from June 1956. 

(iii) Assembling the staff required for this purpose. 

Because of the slow progress of work till November, 1958, the 
Government reorganised the project and appointed a 
Director General in order to get on with the work.' 

When the Committee enquired into the object of this rather long- 
drawn explanation, the witness stated: 

"I am giving you an opportunity to judge whether from one 
point of time to the next there has been delay and 
whether the delay has been excessive or tolerable." 

He continued: 
"The balance of the. work then had to be taken departmen- 

tally and the work was actually completed substantiallg 
in December 1962. 

In Stage I, there were other works also. Con.tract No. 2 and 
the work of the Ballard Pier that was sanctioned in 1963 
commenced immediately and was complded h January 
,lW. , . ,  , 



During tmk period, * t ~ ~ e i p  contrdCtb ; e q u i d  to 
service ths wbapves wehe' thkeil up .Pnd plnpleted Tht 

I h t  of such machinery contiiacts was completed in May 
1968 and the remaihing minor works of Rage I were all 
completed by December 1970. , 

Now we come to Stage XI, which deals urihh the lower por- 
tion, the expansion of the harbour proper, the break- 
water and so on. In October 1959 the DG was deputed' 
to London to negotiate the consultancy agreement in 
connection with Stage 11. Here I will draw attention 
to a delay of about two years which took place in set- 
tling this consultancy agreement. My main purpose 
is to explain why this delay has taken place. The 
negotiations for the finalisation of the agireement 
went on till January 1962, for a period of two years. I 
understand there was some dispute about the copyright 
etc. of the designs consul4ancy. Then there was dis- 
cussion about tGe scope of the consultancy agreement. 
There were negotiations on the fees, overall as well as 
break-down, for the different items of the consultancy 
service. We could perhaps take the view that this was 
too long. But it is a fact that it took two years. On 
the 12th January 1962 the agreement was signed with 
the consultants. Immediately, site investigation, negotia- 
tions with the Port Trust and model experiments went 
on up to about 1963. The project report was finally 
oubmitted by the consultants in August 1963. Two years 
and a half after the signing of the consultancy a m  
ment, in September 1964 administrative approval was 
Sssued. That means, a year was taken between the'sub- 
mission of the consultancy report and the actual i d  
of the administrative approval for Stage XI. Then there 
was further delay in taking the decision that 4he whole 
work should be given out on contract by advertising for 
global tenders. This decision was taken in February/ 
April, 1965, which means another five to six m h t h s  
went in this. After this, the advertisement was issued 
in Apnl 1965, calling for documents from the contrac- 
tors. The tenders were invited for pre-qualification 
documents in December 1965 and in May 1966 the 
tmders w e  received. That means, from the date of 
calling for pre-qualification documerats, sne year more 
was taken. The in$a~rvening period is - in submitt- 
ing pl.e-qualibcation documents according the worldt 



, Baqkl ~ ~ O C ~ U F I S  and evaluati~a .ek. On13 selective 
people are  notifiecj,$ha+t they will bs, given tender docu- 
ments. It took one year. Meanwhile, the Yugoslav firm 
were invited to tender for work 'A' in May 1967. ' ~ f f o t s  
were also made 2 0  induce other' IndSan coxhtractors. After 
the receipt of %he global tenders mentionM elsewhere, 
the tenders were found to be unsatisfactoky-very high, 
in cost and hed'ged in by so many unacceptdble condi- 
tions. It was therefore decided to split up the wwk into . . three pads in October 1966 

I will come to the short point which you want to know, 
, some of which I have already dealt with. I would plead 

with you to view this question in the light of the history 
of this project. This project report is more or less a 
spective plan, showing the extent to which fad1h-s ri 
have to be created for the dockyard in order to rdeet &e 
requirements of the expansion of the navy, as it was vis'ii- 
alised. You cannot cqnsider delay in relation thereto, 
you will have to consider delay in relation to the  
actual projects that were sanctioned and compare it with 
the cost and the time schedule etc. 

There are one or two other points that I want to emphasise. 
In the earlier years at least, despite what we may feel 
today, the naGy was not getting the importance which 
the Committee seems to be thinking that it would have 
received. When we projected this requirement, or asked. 
the consultants to work out the dockyard extension facili- 
ties, they were given a broad idea of what naval expan- 
sion they could expect. This expansion which was pro- 
jected to them, I should take it, was not on the basis 0% 
any sanctioned programme; it ww an ad hoc guideline 
of what the navy as such would be after the first decade 
and the second decade. Here the picture given to them 
was tha4 in 1958 we would be having.. .carriers,!. r. .'.&hi- 
sers, . . . . destroyers, . . . submarines, . . . . minesweepers, 
LST and so on, the total being. . . .capital 'ships. In capita1 
shfps we include the carrfets and cruisers-there would 
be major war vessels dnd.'. . .minor vessels, a total of . . . 
vesels all told big anii small. Actually, in 1W we ha& 
d y  . . . . . ., as a m s t  . . . . proje'dted 'tm 'them. The pro- 
jection for 1968 was tbat we virill bave as .many as. .. . . 

I carri&s-we today have 01519. . . , , cruisers, . . . a destroyers 
and frigates . . . . submarines, . . . . rain-= and so 



on, the total behrg.. .capital ships, . . .major ' war, ws- 
ssls, . . . other veamls, the total . . . . ships. 

1 .  

But, under our actual expansion, in 1968 we had only . . . . As 
. .  against.. .capital &ips we had only.. ., as against . . . . 

major vessels, we had only . . . This will give you some idea 
of the actual naval expansion during this period. 
The expansion of the navy was in itself much slower, 
because the resources were not forthcoming to the extent 
required; I presume for the same reason the resources 
to match the overall programme of the initial project was 
not forthcoming for the dmkyard project. This, I feel, 
is one major reason why the Committee is getting the 
impression that we have taken too much time." 

4.9. When asked whether this implied that the Navy had not been 
iqvided with the necessary equipment required by them, the De- 
Eence Secretary replied: 

"I do not think you need address this question to the Navy. I 
. . will deal with it. I am going to speak on their behalf 

and I may give you their feelings. The services make, 
their projection from their point of view, to make as cer- 
tain as possible that they can defend the country against 

, , any possible danger. But the demands of the services 
have to be dovetailed with the resources that we can mus- 
ter. This is the short point. It is not that the Navy or 
Air Force or Army for that matter is at any time happy. 
There is always a gap between their demands and what 
is actually made available to them. This is a fact of life 
which we have to live with and I presume it is a factor 
which has to be contended with in all countries of the 
world. Even in the advanced and richer countries there 
is always some gap between what the services project and 

, " .  
what is actually made available to them." 

s He added: 

'These hard decisions do get taken and they have to be taken 
all the time. I know that even currently we are in the 
process of same such dectsions. 

5 also want you to refer a little to a couple of annual reports 
submit- to ParMament which would also glve you some 

- idea as to how the actout build-up of the Naw compared 
with the socalled p l h  wMch has been referred to by the 
dCllllEtft8nta 



I - only trying to submit that for the projection of the 
Navy's own expansion and for the projection for dockyard 
expansion made by the consultants, the matching resour- 
ces were not made available or budgeted in the time span 
indicated by the consultants and for that conscious deci- 
sions of Government are there. 

What I am currently dealing with is the overall master plan 
or perspective plan referred to by the consultants. In re- 
lation to that I am saying that at  no time was a decision 
taken by. Government to allocate the total resources need- 
ed or to indicate the time span in which the total plan 
would be completed. So, you cannot really judge the de- 
lay with reference to that. 

As to the actual contracts, they flow from the different alloca- 
tions against portions of these larger plans which Govern- 
ment approved or for which Government earmarked re- 
sources. There, wherever delays have taken place and 
when they cannot be defended I would agree with you. I 
am just completing the major picture. 

I would like to read out just one paragraph from this report 
of 1963-64, just after the 1962 conflict with China, which 
would give you an idea as to how Government looked a t  
it. It reads: 

'The requirements of the Armed Forces in relation to the 
tasks assigned to them were carefully analysed How- 
ever, planning for the build-up of the requbed Defence 
Farces has to be done with due regard to the limitations 
of finance particularly foreign exchange, overall oco- 
nomic situation and availability of technical know-how. 
In following this programme we have set before our- 
selves the following immediate aims-- 

(i') Expansion and modernisation of the Army. 
(ii) Modernisation of the Air Force. 
(iii) Creation of an adequate production base. 
(iv) Improvemeat and expansion in the means of commu- 

nication and transport. 
(v) Replacement of overage ships of the Navy and making' 

it a balanced force'. 



So, the Navy comes last and there is no mention of its expan- 
'. sion. This is the order of priorities which the Govern- 

ment set before itself in 1963-64. The following year, in 
1964-65, the Report reads: 

'As a first steps in this direction a Defence plan to be im- 
plemented over a period of five years has been prepared 
during the year. In brief, the plan is: 

(a)' build-up and maintenance of a well-equipped Army 
with a strength of. ... .men. -. 

. (b) Air Force, maintenance of a . .  .Squadron Air Force, 
including programmes of replacement of old aircraft 

.................. like.. by more modern ones and 
repair and communica,tion facilities. 

(c) A phased programme for replacement of overage 
ships'. 

Replacement means one for one replacement, i t  is not real- 
ly expansion, but certainly the effectiveness of the ship 
improves. 

'(d) improvement of road communications in the border 
areas'. 

The actual figures would show how relatively the Navy fared 
in the earlier years. Naval development was accorded 
low priority. The budgetary expenditure came down from 
10.6 per cent for i t  in 1960-61 to 3.4 per cent in 1963-64. 
From 1964-65, 1 would say that the percentage of the 
Naval expenditure to the total expenditure gradually in- 
cremed. Even from that point of view, the expenditure on 
the Army has been increasing. In 1962 its strength was 

.......... .......... In 1963 it was Later on it was in- 
.......... creased to . . . . . . . . . . . .  and today it is about 

A corresponding expansion of the Navy did not take place 
in the earlier years. Similarly, the Air Force used to have 
.... Squadrono, but after 1962 i t  was accepted that it 

.. should get. ,Squadrons. The Air Force projected their 
requirements a t  a much higher figure, but they had to be .. content w9th an approval of. .Squadrons. 

So, these are the actu J Agures against which you will kindly 
judge tbe period of completion of the overall dockyard 



expansion scheme because this w w  related to the errspan- 
sion of the Navy and funds had to be allocated for both.. 
for the expansion as well as for the dockyard. The delays, 
I submit, should be judged in relation to the actual ap- 
provals and the funds made available for specific parts of 
this particular project." 

4.10. In paragraph 18 of their 8th Report (Second Lok Sabha), the 
Estimates Committee (1957-58) had examined the budget provisions 
and actual expenditure on the Naval Dockyard, Bombay, during the 
years 1952-53 to 1956-57 and had observed that while in 1956-57, the 
expenditure under every sub-head of account fell short of the esti- 
mates, during the previous years also, the actual expenditure was 
consistently less under 'Stores' and 'Dockyard Expansion Schemes 
Again, in paragraph 28 of the Report, the Committee had pinted out 
that the actual expenditure on the development of the Dockyard 
during the First Five Year Plan was only Rs. 45 lakhs, as against the 
estimated expenditure of Rs. 330 lakhs. Since it had been stated ear- 
lier that the execution of the expansion project suffered on account 
of non-allocation of the necessary financial resources, the Committee 
drew attention to these observations of the Estimates Committee 
and asked whether this did not indicate that even when the neces- 
sary funds had been provided, the execution of the project was de- 
fective. The Defence Secretary replied: 

"I would respectfully accept the charge there. When we have 
a specific resource allocation for a particular time and if 
we do not use it, within that time, certainly we will have 
to say that here there was delay which needs to be ex- 
plained. But where we do not have such an allocation or  
time-bound programme approved initially, there we should 
really know the basis on which to calculate the delay. 
Sir, I am submitting with reference to the larger plans. 
I am only giving you the facts as far as I have been able 
to gather." 

He added: 

"That the fund which was actually allocated was not utilised 
is certainly a matter of concern. I must concede that to 
the extent that specific administrative approval was issued 
and budgetary allocation made, we are responsible for our 
failure for not utilising that or for partly utilising t h a t  
There we will stand before you to answer." 



4A1. In this context, the Committee asked whether the peribd 
of nearly 20 years taken to complete Stage I of the project could be 
considered justifiable. The witness replied: 

"It is not that nothing was done. Plenty of work was done 
before that. I would also concede that with greater dili- 
gence that this work could have been completed earlier. 
But, I don't think it will be fair to say that the work has 
taken 20 years." 

4.12. A statement furnished by the Ministry of Defence, at the 
Committee's instance, indicating the budget provision proposed by 
the Navy, budget allocations actually made for the Dockyard pro- 
ject, since 1958-59, and the actual expenditure during this period, is 
reproduced below: 

(Figures in l a b s  of Rupees) 

B-t provision Fiml Actual 
Year o r ~ g ~ ~ ~ l l y  by the &Fd budgft. booked 

provlslon expenditure 

Figures not readily available 

Do. 

Do. 

Do. 

Do. 

Do. 

Do. 

Do. 
Do. 

Do. 

Do. 

Do. 

Do. 

450.00 

347' 00 
630. GO 

350.00 



The Ministry also informed the Committee that the booked ex- 
penditure on the project upto 197475 was Rs. 32.90 crores and the 
provision made in the Plan for the remaining works was approxi- 
mately Rs. 18 crores. \ 



CHAPTER V 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

5.1 It is disconcerting that a project for the expansion of the 
Naval Dockyard at Bombay, conceived as far back as in 1949, and 
whicb, according to the projeotions of the consultants to the project, 
should have taken about 9 years, is yet to be completed fully w e n  
a£ter lwse of more than 25 years. As early as 1958, the Estimates 
Committee (195758) had felt that in an important matter like the 
Naval Dockyard, 'a greater sense of urgency should have been 
shown" and had recommended that 'more effective steps should be 
taken to secure the expeditious execution of the Expansion Project'.' 
Eight years later, the Public Accounts Committee (1965-66) were 
again constrained to comment on the 'tardy manner' in which this 
project had been handled by the authorities at different stages. 
Observing that they could not help getting the impression that 'the 
urgency of the matter was not fully appreciated by those who dealt 
with this scheme', the Committee had been expressed regret that 
despite the Estimates Committee's earlier observations, 'no serious 
attempt' had been made 'to accelerate the progress of work on the 
scheme', and that, in the meanwhile, further delay had continued to 
add to its cosL3 Another decade has passed since then and the 
prospect of the project being really completed is still nowhere in 
sight. Its cost, initially estimated in November 1952, at Us. 24 crores, 
increased by over 50 per cent to Rs. 36 crores and is expected to go 
up still further. This is certainly a most unstatisfactory state of 
affairs. 

5.2. In the preceding chapters of this Report, the Committee have 
tried to examine, at some depth, the reasons for the delay in com- 
pleting the project. It appears, on evidence, that much of the delay 
that had occurred from time to time mas not entirely unavoidable 
and that some of the difficulties alleged could have been well over- 
come with advance planning. It has been conceded by the Defence 

sfbid, pnragraph 33. 

Vublic A::xit:s Committee, 45th Report (3rd LS'. Apr i l ,  1~66, pnragraoh 3.30. 



Secretary that there had been 'proloked delaf in the ascutknr of+ 
tbu project, though at the m e  time the delay was sought to be 
explained away as unavoidable and beyond Government's control. 
I t  would, however, appear that in spite of the strategic importance 
of the project, its execution has been peculiarly leisurely, and the 
time+pmjections made, perhaps, validly, when the project wes con- 
ceived, have been repeatedly upset. 

5.3. For instance, it took more tban two years for Government 
to consider and approve the scheme. for espanaion submitted by the 
Consultants in June, 1950 and another ah years to commence work 
on Stage I of the scheme. The Committee have been informad that 
the initial period d two years was spent in overcoming the objee- 
tions of the Bombay Port Trust, the erstwhile Bombay Govemm6at 
and private interests affected by the Dockyard expansion. While Cba 
Port Trust appears to have been averse to the scheme on accosrnt 
of its clash with its own expansion plans, the objections of the 
Bombay Government and also, it seems, the Tatas had certain 
aesthetic overtones inasmuch as it was feared that the Dockyard 
would mar the beauty of Bombay. The Committee feel that if the 
pianning had been so meticulous as to obviate difficulties experien- 
ced later in execution, the initial delay of two years could, perhaps, 
even be justified in retrospect. This, however, was by no means 
the case, and the Committee regret that a project d a t i v e  to the 
country's defence requirements was thus held up without sufficient 
warrant. I t  appears extraordinary that even as late as 1975 there 
was talk of a not unlikely re-designing of the Naval Dockyard 
Scheme with a view to its being fitted into still hypothetical city 
beautification plans. Whatever the merits of the latter, this is not, 
in the Committee's view, the way in which a long standing national 
project with top Defence priority, should be handled. 

5.4. Though the administrative approval for Stage I works, cost- 
ing Rs. 5.5 crores. was issued in Rovember, 1952 and tenders for 
Contract No. 1 of Stage I were issued in June, 1953, (the interim 
period having been spent in site investigations, surveys, trial borerr, 
etc.), the contract was concluded in September, 1954 only, that is to 
say, after nearly 22 months. The main reason for the dday is 
stated to be protracted nagotiations with the Bombay Port Thmt, 
from December, 1953 to August, 1954, for taking possession of their 
assets and their transfer to Government to enable the contract to 
commence. It  is not clear to the Committee why the negotiatians 
in this regard were delayed till the tenders had been reported apan 



by the Copsuitan&l; in fact this matter should have besor takep up 
mu& ,#rUM &r the irseessity of the scheme brif been accepted 
by O;ovamnent. Thts lapse needs to be explained. 

5.5. Contract No, 1 was to be completed by May 1957, but after 
d y  about 15 per cent of the physical work had been executed, the 
contractor (Hind Construction Ltd.) stopped the work in June 1956 
and finally abandoned the contract in September 1956. The actual 
work on tha contract had also started only in late June 1955, nearly 
nine months after the conclusion of the contract. One of the reasons 
for this delay is stated to be the diversion of the dredging fleet ear- 
marked for the worL elsewhere by the contractor's Italian 
associates. This was an impermissible and ominous beginning, 
which foreshadowed the shape of things to come, culminating finally 
in the forfeiture of the contract in December, 1956 and the almost 
in-inable arbitration proceedings that followed thereafter. 

5.6. It is significant in this context that, initially, global tenders 
had been invited for the work on $he ground that there were no 
Indian contractors with the necessary expertise. Somewhat para- 
doxically. however, the contract was finally awarded to an Indian 
firm without previous experience in dockyard construction, on the 
strength of an assessment by the Consultants of the firm's previous 
experience in dockyard construction, on the strength of an assess- 
ment by the Consultants of the firm's previous experience in the 
Konar Dam. and because they were also the lowest tenderers. An- 
other factor which weighed with the Consultants in selecting the 
firm for the work was that the firm had taken as partners an Italian 
Brm, Societa Italiana Per Lavori Maritimi, presumably endowed 
with the requisite know-how and experience. While the Committee 
certainly welcome prefetence being given to Indian entrepreneurs in 
the execution of national projects, it is a moot point whether at that 
particular point of time when Indian expertise was admittedly not 
available, Government was justified in undertaking a risk that 
turned out to be a protracted and costly experiment in a strategic 
project. 

5.7. After the contract was forfeited in December 1956, Govern- 
ment decided to execute the incornplate portion of the work 
departmentally, at the firm's risk and cost, through a departmental 
organisation to be set up for the purpose. Though an Bngineer- 
Administrator was appointed for this purpose in February 1957, the 



work could not even be recommended till November 1957 for the 
tdlerr3ng .dleged reasons: 

(11) tlmc required to complete survey and Invcpbry anat 
evaluate the assets left behind by the defaulting contrac- 
tor, valued at  approximately Rs. 16 laws; 

(b) renovating and rea~~tivating the equipment and machi- 
nary left by the contractar in a 'deplorable state' and 
which had been inactive from June 1956; and 

(c) assembiing the staff required for the purpose. 

The departmental execution 02 the work, thus tardily started, 
lingered on for nine long yetars and could be completed only in  
November 1966. 

5.8. It has been stated by the representative of the Ministry of 
Defence that the comparative inexpe~ience of the Government 
agency entrusted with the departmental execution might explain 
the delay to some extent. Nine years spent on this work appears, 
however, to be abnormal and the reasons for the delay are neither 
clear nor cogent. Government witnesses before the Committee have 
tried to explain only the initial delay of nine months in reeommend- 
ing the work abandoned by the contractor. The Committee, how- 
ever, find from the award of the arbitrator, on the reference entered 
on 8 January 1962, that between February 1957, when the Engineer- 
Administrator was appointed, and December, 1958, when the project 
was placed under the overail charge of a Director-General, very 
little work was done in spite d the Consultants' constant complaints. 
The arbitrator also went on record that taking into consideration 
the reasonable time required for preparing the inventories, getting 
the plants in working order, etc., he was not satisfied that the 
Engineer-Administrator had acted diligently in not commencing the 
work before November/December 1957. I t  would, therefore, appear 
that the Engineer-Administrator had been lax in ensuring expedi- 
tious completion of the work. The Committee would like to be 
i n f o r d  whether any action had been taken in this matte,  for i t  
appears that Government had also been concerned about the slow 
progress of tho work which prompted them ,to recognise the project 
in November 1958 and place a Director-General in overall charge. 

5.9. As regards the contention of Government that some delay 
could be attributed to the fact that this work was not in the normal 
line of operation of the agency entrusted with the work, the Corn- 
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mittee feel that in view of the project's atrate& bportrureq 
Government should have taken adequate steps to appoint esperlen- 
ced administrators and engineers fiamilirr with maritime works, The 
Committee a h  find from the arbitrator's award rsllerred to in the 
preqling paragraph that Government did in fact appoint such 
officers and engineers. In the circumstances and in v i m  of the fact 
that another main civil engineering component of Stage I, namely, 
the extension of the Ballard Pier, had been successfully executed 
departmentally a t  about the same time, the Committee find i t  
difRcult to accept this explanation. As has been pointed out by the 
arbitrator, Government should have made special efforts to avoid 
all unnecessary delays and ensured completion of the works as soon 
as possible, especially in view of the fact that the cost of carrying 
out these works was also continuously increasing from year to year. 
That this was not done is indicative of negligence in over-all super- 
vision. 

5.10 In this context, the administrative arrangements made for 
the expansion project merit mention. Initially, in spite of the 
magnitude of the project, the progress of work was watched only by 
a Construction Committee consisting of (i) a repkksentative of the 
Ministry of Defence, not below the rank of Joint Secretary, who 
was the Chairman of the Committee, (ii) a representative of the 
Ministry of Finance (Defence) of appropriate rank, (iii) Chief of 
Material (Navy) or his representative, (iv) Engineer-in-Chief, Army 
Headquarters or his representative and (v) the Under Secretary 
(Navy) in the Ministry of Defence who acted as exsfficio Secretary 
to tire Committee. I t  is deplorable that in spite of the existence 
since 1953 of such a Committee, constituted specifically to expedite 
the execution of the project, the progress of work was unsatisfactory. 
The Estimates Committee (1957-58) had noticed that out of the 40 
meetings held by this Committee between April 1953 and November 
1957, only one meeting was held in Bornhag, and had been constrain- 
ed to regret that the Construction Committee had not been effective 
in its work.' I t  would appear that the day-to-day supervision of the 
project had been largely left to the Consultants. Judging from the 
initial delay in the departmental executinii of the incomplete por- 
tion of the work under Contract 3'0. t .  diccusscd in the preceding 
paragraphs, the  Engineer-Administrator subliequently appointed in 
February 1957 had also failed to secure cxperlitious completion of 
the work. I t  was only in December 1958 that Government reallsed 



the neceQlity of a clotwr stlpervisi6n of the pmjset and app@hbd 8 
DirsctorLOsneml, Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme, to be in ovszl- 
a11 charge of the project and responsible diractl~ to Gov~~lllllent. 
The Committee are of the view that for the execution of this vital 
project, Government ought to bave appointed a deiant ly  high 
ranking ofaser wdl-versed in the technicalities of the work and of 
proven leadership right from the inception. 

5.11. If the departmmmtal execution of Contract No. 1 was ineffec- 
tive, its handling of the arbitration proceedings was inept. The 
arbitration proceedings relating to Contract No. 1 commenced in 
December 1959 when the arbitrator held the first haaring. Unfortu- 
nately, before he could proceed with the substantive matters of the 
dispute, he died in March 1961. Thirty-one hearings had been held 
b& the death necessitated appointment of a second arbitrator. Under 
the Arbitration Act, an award requires to be made within four 
months after reference subject to the right of the Court, if invoked, 
to grant extensions. What happened here is that the arbitration 
proceedings dragged on for more than twelve years, during wbich 
period, as many as 779 hearings were held by the second arbitrator, 
a s  many as eight extensions were secured from the Court, and 23 
adjournments of the proceedings were mutually agreed to and grant- 
ed. As on 1 July 1975, a total expenditure of Rs. 19.74 lakhs had 
been incurred on the arbitration by Government as against the net 
amount of Rs. 15.70 lakhs finally awarded to Government by the 
arbitrator in Febrnary 1974. To be fair to the Ministry of Defence, 
its representative frankly conceded that this agony of an arbitration 
had neither been 'profitable nor creditable' to Government. 

5.12. The Committee are not unwilling to concede that after the 
contractor had chosen to invoke the arbitration clause in the con- 
tract, there was not much that Government could do to extricate 
itrelf from the peculiar chain of consequences that followed. The 
Committee are also aware that the case being a complicated om; 
some delay in its examination might have been unavoidable. How- 
ever, the prolongation of the proceedings from four months pres- 
cribed in the Arbitration Act to more than twelve years appears to 
be, prima facie, unconscionable and inexplicable. The Committee 
cannot help the impression that adequate steps had certainly not 
been taken to ensure that the arhitration ~roceedings were not un- 
necessarily protm&ed. The evidence before &ti CommL#ee also 
indicates that the collduct of the case by Counsel whom Govern- 
ment Invishly compensated for their pains. was informed neither by 
a sense of urgency over a nationally important project nor of the 



patriotic responsibility which such rsdgnments call fot. The 
mittee consider that this issue is so grave tbrt Qoverameat drorrld 
examine fhe position in all its implications and decide Jss the rok 
whlcb in such cases should be played by the Mblefry of Law. 

5.18. The Committee find from the arbitrator's award, for ins- 
tance, that at  no stage did any party object to the procedure adopt- 
ed by him for bringing oral and documentary evidence of the parties 
on record. Neither of the parties had also ever objecvd to the proce- 
dure adopted by the arbitrator for hearing their respective argu- 
ments, such procedures having been adopted with the prior con- 
sent of Counsel for both parties. The contractor's stand seems un- 
derstandably motivated by a desire to prolong the proceedings as 
much as possible.  is refusal to accept a suggestion of the arbitra- 
tor that the proceedings could be cut short by conducting the exami- 
nation-in-chief of the witnesses through affidavits filed by the par- 
ties and by the examination of the witnesses by the opposite party 
thereafter, found support, strangely, from Government Counsel 
who agreed to an elaborate procedure which virtually turned the 
arbitration proceedings into something like the Original Side pro- 
ceedings in a court. The Committee can only regretfully conclude 
that the prosecution of the case by Government Counsel was imper- 
missibly inefficient. 

5.14. On the arbitrator's own averment, very little progress was 
made in the case between 1965 and 1969. I t  is also seen from the 
award that the parties at  the initial stages were, apparently, not 
keen to expedite the proceedings, one reason for i t  beeing that Gove- 
rnment was in the course of completing the No. 1 Contract works 
in question. According to the arbitrator's award, the company per- 
haps felt that Government's experience would prove the former's 
case, while Government thought that this experience would demo- 
lish the company's case, and also that Government claims based on 
estimated expenses would then become based on actual expenses. 
Thus, delay in completing the departmental execution of the works 
under Contract No. 1 contributed, in no small 'measure, to delay in 
the progress of the arbitration proceedings. 

5.15. Hearings of the case could take place only occasionally bet- 
ween October 1965 and 1969 on account of the delay in the final pre- 
paration of Government's accounts in support of their claims before 
the arbitrator. The Committee are concerned to note that this pro- 
cess took as long as four years, in spite of repeated exhortations 
from the arbitrator. In fact, at one stage of the proceedings, the 
delay had become m extraordinary that the arbitrator had to order 



Govenmreent to complete the adjustments of accounts other than 
those relating to the dirpolllrl of the assets by 31 March, 1987 or to 
face the'honsequences and be debarred from making any further 
adjustments. The Committee Bnd it very surprising that documents 
in support of a claim of 8s. 1.24 Iakhs could not be made available 
to the company for inspection as they had been allegedly destroyed 
under Government rules. I t  is regrettable that the authorities con- 
cerned had not taken adequate care to preserve these documents 
even though they knew that the litigation was in progress. Similar- 
ly, since the incomplete portion of the work was being executed de- 
partmentally, at the contractor's risk and cost, the authorities were 
aware that on the completiom of these works, they would have ~ 
satisfy the contractor that the expenses incurred on the departmental 
execution were reasonable. Yet, strangely, the authorities concerned 
had not maintained these accounts B/Q item-wise or work-wise but 
had maintained them in accordance with the usual practice in tSds 
regard. Thii, according to the Arbitrator, was wholly unsuitable 
for the purposes of Clause 63 of the contract under whieb Govern- 
ment had a right to recover the extra expenditure incurred on the 
works from the contractor, and had led to d e r a b l e  complications 
in adjudicating upon Government's claims. In the opinion of the 
Committee, these are serious lapses which should be t h ~ ~ ~ u g h l y  in- 
vestigated. The Committee would like to be informed of the action 
taken against the delinquent oflblcials. 

5.16. The Committee are intrigued by a statement made by tbs 
Senior Government Counsel that the delay that had occurred in thh, 
case was beyond his control and that the lacunae in the existing 
Arbitration Act made the arbitrator's position in specding up the 
matter diilicult. The Council had, Bow-, not spelt out what the 
lacunae were, and it appears to be the view of the Law XinMry 
that, prima facie, there are no lacunae in this Act which has been 
long on the statute book. Nevertheless, the Law Ministry seemed to 
admits th8t in pmtia, W r O n ~  advant8ge m a  be bkea of tbrc 
provisions relating to adjournment, extension of the pmcmdqs, etc. 
rrr had apparently happened in this particular caw. BesJdes, as has 
been stated by the Defence Secretary during evidence belore the 
Committee, 'all possible legal mstbods seemed Q have ban ad' fa 
this case to d r y  on the procaedinp. In k t ,  the representative of 
t h e M i a b t r y o d D e f ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ b . s e v e n g o n e t o t b e e x t e n t e f ~  
that in addition to the contractor's own motivation far p r o l ~ ~ g b g  
the p m c d h g g  'there may be other people who may have had thair 
own reasons for prdon~ng it'. Tbc Arbitration Act had bablr hrm- 
ed by Pulirmtrat witb the intention of amring that disputes a r b  
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inq out of contracts are resolved expeditiously without having to ge 
'through other more time-consuming proceases of law. Since the 
purpose for which the Act had been conceived has apparently been 
largely defeated in this case where the proceedings have been pro- 
longed for more than 12 years, the Committee w d d  urge Govern- 
ment to learn from the rather unsavoury experience of this case as 
well as of others which have come to the notice of the Committee 
and examine urgently whether amendments to the Act are neces- 
sary to obviate scope for such abuses. 

5.17. incidentally, the Committee also find that under the Arbi- 
t d h n  Act, the Arbitrator is not bound to give any reasons for the  
award. The result is that often it becomes dimcult to challenge 
such non-speaking awards on any particular ground. The Com- 
mittee are of the view that it should be made obligatory on arbitra- 
tors to give detailed reasons for their awards so that they may, if 
necessary, stand the test of objective judicial scrutiny. The Com- 
mittee desire that this aspect should be examined and the necessary 
provision brought soon on the Statute Book. 

5.18. The mauner in which the ceiling fixed on the arbitrator's 
fees was periodically revised upwards qauses serious concern to 
the Committee. Initially, the fees payable to the Arbitrator, fixed 
on a 'per sitting' basis were subject to a ceiling of Rs. 30,000 for 
the whole case to be shared equally by Government and the con- 
tractor. Subsequently, however, when the number of hearings 
tended to go beyond the anticipated number on which the original 
4- had been based, the arbitrator brought the issue to: the 
potice of the Parties with a view to securing an 
enhaacement of the ceiling. On the basis of such requests made 
by the arbitrator from itme to time and the recommendations made 
in this regard by Governmemt Counsel and on the advice also of 
the Law Secretary who had appointed the arbitrator end fixed his 
fees initially the ceiling was raised to Rs. 60,000 in June 1962, 
Ils. 1 lakh in February 1864, Bs. 1.75 lakhs in May 1965, Rs. 250 
lakbs in November 1868 and fimlly Rs. 3.65 lakks in October 1972. 
No doubt, Government had been placed in an unenviable predica- 
ment with arbitration proceedings dragging on endlessly, and that 
too partly on aceaunt of their own default in not expediting the 
departmental execution of the work abandoned by the contractor. 
However, i;n tha absence of any evidence to the coatrary, the Corn- 
mi- cannot escape the unhappy concEuoiea thd,  prior te 1972, 
when the h a 1  ceiling of Bg. 3.65 lakhs was fixed, the mamting ex- 
penditure on tbe arbitration had not unduly disturbed Government 
and no c o n c ~ t e  steps had been taken to ensure that the feel pay- 
able to the arbitrator war restricted within reasonable limits. 



5.19. What is even more disturbing is the statement made br 
the Ministry of Defence that in deciding to enbance the eejling ad 
fm payable to the arbitrator, there seemed to have been a f s i n g  
that %y refusing to revise the ceiling, the Government's case might 
even get prejudiced'. This is a serious reflection on the Arbitrator's 
judicial frame of mind. While the Committee for obvious reasuns, 
do not wish to go into this matter at any length, they cannot help 
feeling that this is perhaps indicative of the kind of unwholesome 
psychology which was at work at  that time. I t  is also strange that 
even before the arbitration had commenced, the Arbitrator objec- 
ted to the original ceiling of &s. 30,000 when he had been given to 
understand by the Law Secretary' that the matter would be re- 
viewed from time to time and the c e i l i  suitably revised in con- 
sonance with the time taken for the completion of the hearing. 
It is surprising that instead of making an attempt to the complete 
the arbitration within the period of four months prescribed in the 
Arbitration Act, an assumption should have been made even before 
the commencement of the proceedings that these would take a very 
much longer period of time. This assurance, unwisely given to the 
arbitrator, must have influenced subsequent decisions. 

5.20. What irks the Committee most in this distasteful episode 
is that the Arbitrator suspended the pfocaedipgs at  ons stage mtil 
the parties made up their mind to revise the ceiling of his fees. 
The Committee was told by the Law Secretary that i t  was not open 
to the arbitrator to suspend the proceedings in this manner merely 
because his fees had not been enhanced. He added, however, that 
a refusal to agree to the enhancemnt might have meant appointing 
aqother arbitrator and starting the proceedings de novo. Gevern- 
ment, unfortunately, appear to have been caught on tbe horns of 8 
dilemma and faced with a predicament, and chose what was thought 
the lesser of the two evils- I t  pains the Committee that a person of 
the eminence of a retired Chief Justice of a High Court s b d d  have 
behaved in this manner in the middle of a lolp~drawa atbibtiom 
proceedings. 

5.21. While Government's share of the arbitrators' fees amounted: 
to Rs. 1.95 lakhs, the Senior and Junior Counsel appinted to conduct 
Government's case before the arbitrator were paid such large sums 
as Rs. 11.52 lakhs, as on 1 July 1975, out of which Rs. 9.04 lnkhs re- 
present the Senior C o u n d s  fees. No ceiling had, however, beem 
fixed in regard to the Counsels' fees. The Committee have been in- 
farmed that the Senior Government Counsel, an advocate of tbe 
Suprepe Court, was &d at the rate of 5 1600 per he* for the 
first $'O hepings and Rs. 1003 per hearing thereaftem. Cornmitt- 



feel strongly that in our country this kind of expetnditure is an ex- 
travagance whiih the public exchequer cannot be ex- to bear, 
The decision to brief, at a very heavy price, a Senior Counsel practis- 
ing in the Supreme Court appears to have been taken an the baisb 
of the largeness of the contractor's claim (Rs. 84 lakhs) before the 
arbitrator. The stakes were, no doubt, heavy in this cam, but tho 
Committee cannot countenance the idea that except at  stupemdous 
mst the defence of Government's case before the arbitrator muld not 
have been properly performed. Arbitration proceedings, in any 
case, do not normally require the most expensive type of counsel, 
and in thb case, judging from its results, and also the manner of 
Government Counsel's functioning, the Committee are &aid that 
the selection was unsound. The Committee furthar feel that, after 
this unhappy experience, Government shold evolve procedures 
whereby competent but not too expensive advocates, practising in 
the High Courts or even in lesser tribunals, can be requisitioned for 
more purposive espousal of Government cases. 

5.22. It is strange that in selecting Government Counsel, the Law 
Ministry should have ignored its own standing counsel who, the 
Committee presume, are appointed on the basis of certain well- 
defined criteria. In this conection, the Committee have been inform- 
ed that while the Law Ministry does not normally engage wunsel 
from outside the panel, the wishes of the administrative Ministry 
concerned are taken into account in appointing counsel. The Com- 
mittee are of the view that, as far rn possible, arbitration proceedings 
like the one under examination should be conducted with arbitrators 
who are persons of proven integrity, judicially inclined, fair and 
competent enough but not too expensive and with munsel who 
should be drawn from those echelons of the legal profesdon which 
are experienced and well vtrsed in these matters but not unconscion- 
ably expensive. The Law Ministry, in particular, should be able to 
draw vahuMe lessom horn the experience of this case and plag a 
more positive role in the conduct of Government c a w  before arb& 
tratons and other judicial bodies. Government should also seriolasly 
consider the possibility of reprrlahg the fees of arbitrators d 
.eotmsel on a fixed lumpsum basis, depending upon the complexities 
of each case, instead of regulating sucb fees w&h reference to the 
number of bearings. . 

5.23. The Commftted are concerned that here appears b be no 
spscitic machinery witbin Wvernment to monitor and su~mise em- 
.narsntly tbe conduct and progre~ of arbitration  proceeding^ to which 
Qovernsat  k a party. The Coarmiftce 1-t ~ 4 t h  mth  
tram tbt Law Beerchry tbat 80 far an arbibtim are -ed, the 



Law Ministry suggests the names of counsel only and does not watch 
the progress and expenses, and that apart from rendering advise on 
specific legal issues which may be referred to it bg. the administra- 
tive Ministries concerned, the Ministry does not keep itself abreast-of 
what is happening in regard to the arbittation. Such a passive role, in 
the opinion of the Committee, is hardly W m i n g  of an agency entrus- 
ted with the responsibility of safeguarding Government's legal 
interests. The Law Ministry d d  and should play a more positive 
role in such matters instead of remaining content with leaving the 
matter to the administrative Ministries which in any cases, lack the 
necessary expertise and wherewithal and have to necessarily rely on 
former. This is also not the first occasion when the Committee 
have found the Law Ministry's performance in legal matters some- 
what wanting, The Committee are keen that Government should 
take very serious note of this deficiency and ensure that the Law 
Ministry, instead of being a largely passive agency, invariably main- 
tains a careful and thorough check on the conduct of arbitration and 
other legal proceedings involving Government. The country will 
suffer gravely if this is not done in a meaningful and purposive man- 
ner. "7 

5.21. In this particular case, though the Ministries concerned felt 
from time to time that, prlma facie, there was something 
wrong with the conduct of the arbitration proceedings they appear 
to have somewhat helplessly reconciled themselves to the delay. A 
number of shortcomings on the part of Government have also been 
pointed out by the Arbitrator in his award. A11 this indicates that 
the conduct of the entire proceedings was far from satisfactory. Now 
that the arbitration proceedings have at  last come to a close, a 
detailed probe must be undertaken not only into the causes of the 
peculiarly prolonged arbitration proceedings but also of the delay 
in the departmental execution of the work. Responsibility of the 
delinquent officials should also be fixed and remedial measures 
adopted. . . 

5.25. Even after the prolonged arbitration proceedings, resulting 
in a net award of Bs. 15.70 lakhs to Government, the Committee 
learn that the contractor has decided to contest the award in Court 
and that consequently the amount has not been decreed for re- 
covery. Without implying any disrespect to our Judicial processes, 
the Committee fear that this is yet another ruse by the con- 
tractor to trap Government into further expenditure and delay. 
The Committee can onlv hope that commonsense and g o o d d  
should prevail and that the court proceedings would end soon and 
the agony ot the law's delay be minimised. 
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5.26. The Committees learn that apart from Contract No. 1, the 
0th- components of Stage I ~f the project have baen completed 
without any difiiculty and that no unhappy experience has been re- 
ported in regard to the contractors entrusted with these works. The 
Committee, however, find that the other major work of Stage I, the 
construction of the Crusier Graving Dock, scheduled to be completed 
in January 1959, was actually completed only in November 1960. 
One of the reasons for the deviation from the original schedule is 
stated to be 'delays for which the contractor was wholly responsible 
and for which he was liable for liquidated damages'. The Com- 
mittee would welcome some additional details in regard to the con- 
tractor's lapses in this case and would like to know the amount of 
liquidated damage levied and recovered. 

5.27 There appears to have been some confusion over the provi- 
sion proposed earlier, of a railway line inside the dockyard. The 
Committee find that out of a total length of 1622 metres of railway 
line laid under Stage I at a cost of Rs. 7.81 lakhs, 690 metres laid at 
a cost of Rs. 2.74 lakhs, between February 1970 and December 1970, 
has not been utilised so far. Various views on the utility of the rail- 
way line were expressed on different occasions by the then Commo- 
dore Superintendent of the Naval Dockyard and the Navai Headquar- 
ters. Though the Consultants had recommended the laying of rail- 
way lines to feed the existing workshops to be modernised and the 
new ones to be established on the reclaimed land within the Dock- 
yard, and the idea had also been accepted by Government, the plan 
for the construction of workshops in the Dockyard prepared subsc- 
quently, in November 1969, by the National Industrial Development 
Corporation, necessitated further consultations and discussions to 
revise the layout of workshops and roads so as to permit the linking 
of the railway lines from the area reclaimed under Stage I to that 
being reclaimed under Stage 11. In the interim period, some ad-hoc 
facilities constructed to meet the Navy's immediate requirements 
appear to have precluded the use of the railway line so far laid. The 
Committee feel that all this could have been avoided had the various 
eornpommts d the project been synchmnised carefully with a little 
h a n e e  planning and steps taken to coordinate, in an integrated 
manner, the various activities in the Dockyard, both present and 
future, by means of perspective plan. . . 

5.28 The Committee have been assured in this connection by the 
representative of the Ministry of Defence that there would be enough 
traffic to justify the railway line once the entire project is comple- 
t e d  The Committee trust that all necessarv steps wowld be taken to 
ensure tbe optimum utilisation of this facility in the none-too-distant 



future and that the expenditure thereon would not ultimately prove 
to be infructuous. s 

5.29 As regards Stage I1 of the Dockyard Expansion Scheme, the 
Committee are concerned to observe that though the Defence Com- 
mittee of the Cabinet had envisaged a period of ? years (1964-65 to 
1970-71) for the completion of the works under this stage, ail the 
works are yet to be completed and that the administrative approval 
for this stage had not even specified any time schedule for the com- 
pletion of these works. This indicates a serious lacuna in program- 
ming the works. For instance, though works 'A' under Stage I1 have 
been completed, also after the scheduled date stipuiated in the eon- 
tract, in October 1973 and the basin is ready, the facilities provided 
could be put only to limited use by the Naval ships as the dredging 
of the basin to be executed under works 'B' had not been completed. 
This, to say the ieast, represents a Sorry state of affairs. 

5.30. The Committee find that there has been considerable vacilla- 
tion over the execution of works 'B'. Though a decision had been 
taken as early as October 1966 to execute these works departmen- 
tally by acquiring suitable plant and vuipment, no tangible pro- 
gress had been made in the matter tiJ December 1968 when a pro- 
posal was mooted by the Director General of the Expansion Scheme 
for executing the works through contractors. It  took almost a year 
fop this proposal to be approved by* Government and after a further 
lapse of four to six months, Government's approval to the Director 
General's proposal was finally communicated in April 1970. Thus, 
for almost four years no worth-while progress had been made in 
regard to these works. It took another gear to advertise for global 
tenders and to receive a single tender from a Yugoslav firm, and 
after examination of this tender and further negotiations, the con- 
tract was accepted only in January 1912. It is distressing that a vital 
ddence project should have been thus delayed on account of in- 
decision and vpcillation. The Committee take a serious view of the 
delay of about 16 months in the Defence Ministry in communicating 
Government's approval to the proposal made by the Director General 
in December 1968 and deske that reasons therefor should be investi- 
gated with a view to fixing responsibility. 

8.31. The contractor for works 'A' and 'B' of Stage II is the same 
Yugoslav firm and apparently no element of competitive tenders 
was involved in entrusting works W to a contractor. The Com- 
mittee feel that the decision to entrust these works on contract could 
have well 'been taken in November 1967 aleng witb works 'A' or at 
least in December 1968 itself when formal proposals in this regard 



were made by the Director General. It has, however, been catended 
by Government spokesmen that these works could not be carried 
out simultaneously as all the dredging adjacent to the break-water 
and in the wwking area of works 'A' could only be carried out after 
the break-water was completed and because works 'B' also involved 
a certain amount of dredging in rocky strata requiring blasting. The 
Committee would like to know whether the consultants had also 
envisaged, a t  the time of splitting the works under Stage II into 
three groups 'A', 'B' and 'C' in October 1966 (after the attempts to 
execute all the works as one contract had proved abortive) that 
works '33' would have to be taken up only after the completion of 
works 'A', and whether the possibility of dredging those areas away 
from the break-water, excluding rock-biasting, had been explored so 
as to ensure that at least some dredging was carried out simulta-- 
neously with works 'A'. 

5.32. The works under Stage I1 were divided into groups 'A', 'B' 
and 'C' on the advice of the Consultants. Since such a division 
apparently created more complications and made synchrunisation of 
works 'A' and 'B' not technically feasible, the Committee would 
like to be informed whether any action has been taken or contem- 
plated against the Consultants. 

4.33. As pointed out earlier, some delay had also occurred in the 
completion of works 'A'. The Committae find that though these 
works were to be completed in GO months, that is, by November 1972, 
the execution did not proceed according to schedule, on account of 
various difficulties, necessitating the revision of the time schedule 
peripdically. While an extension of 115 days was considered 
necessary on account of existence in the sea-bed of rocks requiring 
blasting, which had not beel detected during s%0 investigations, 
a further extension of 185 days was granted to the contractor on 
account of the changes introduced, after the conclusion of the con- 
tract, in the design of the caissions required for the break-water. 
The Committee are surprised that though detailed bore-hole data 
to determine the sea-bed conditions had been collected with the 
help of a specialist firm (Cementation Co. Ltd.), the existence of 
rocks had not been detected during site investigation. Another in- 
stance where the bore-hole data furnished by this same firm for the 
expansion of Mormugao Port ultimately proved wrong has also been 
brought to the Committee's notice. Such reourrently in comet  
estimates, leading to disputes and avoidable extra expenditare, 
would lead the Committee to conclude that the performance of this 
flrm has been far from satisfactory. The Committee, therefore, a& 
for an inquiry into the circumstanas leading ta incoircct estimation 



of the am-bed conditions, and for adoption 01 uppropriate corrective 
measures. 

5.34. As regards the change in the design of the caissions, the 
Committee learn that this arose out of the revised electrical and 
mechanical requirements which were not projected earlier. The 
Committee find that a review of the scope of these services was 
undertaken only in mid-1968 and was refmed to the Connultrrnts 
only ,a  year later. Since the, delay is somewhat conspicuous, the 
Committee would like to know when the 'new acquisitions' ef the 
Navy had been thought about and whether Gavernment bad not 
considered it necessary to review the requirements in this regard 
in the light of the experience of the 1965 war. The reasons for one 
whole year's delay in referring the matter to the Consultants alao 
needs to be explained. 

5.35. Apart from the delay in the completion of works 'A', the 
Committee find that on account of the changes in dasign, the eon- 
sequent delay and increase in expenditure for the execution of the 
contract, the Yugoslav firm have preferred a claim for Rs. 1.38 crores, 
This claim is stated to be under examination by a Negotiating Com- 
mittee constituted in December 1974. Now that more than a year 
has elapsed since this Committee was constituted, the pegotiations 
shouid, by now have been completed, if. it has not already been done, 
and adequate steps taken to safeguard the financial interests of 
Government. 

5.36. More than 9 years have elapsed since the works under Stage 
11 were split up into three groups. Yet, works 'C' have not yet even 
been taken up for execution. The Committee have been informed 
(August 1975) that the Consultants' report and estimates were re- 
ceived in April 1975 and that these were under examination for the 
issue of administrative approval. While the Committee trust that 
these works would at least now be completed with the required ex- 
pedltion. they would like to know why it had not been possible to 
finalise the scope and quantum of these works for as long a period 
as 9 years after the Consultants had suggested that these works 
should be taken up separately as a separate group. 

5.37. Though the major portion of the civil engineering works 
have after long delay been completed. various mechanical and elec- 
trical services are yet to be provided to make the said works fully 
useful. The Committee are concerned that considerable delay has 
occurred in the provision of these facilities. It is not clear to the 
Committee why these services were sanctioned only on a provi- 
sional basis in 1964 and why re-c?valnatfon of the services, in the 



light of the changing requirements of the Navy, could not have been 
undertaken earlier than 1968-69. that is to say, considerably after 
the 1965 war. I t  is distressing that even after this 'ra-evaluation', it 
took about 3 years for Government to give the 'Go ahead' sanction 
and yet another Zf years to conclude the first contract for a portion 
of the work. The contract for the electrical services has been con- 
cluged only as recantly as July 1975 and that for the mechanical 
equipment and pipe work services is still to be processed. The Com- 
mittee are perplexed by this apparently lackadaisical approach and 
would like to be satisfied that all this delay in completing a strategic 
project which, presumably, has been urgently required by the Navy, 
was really unavoidable. 

5.38. While the representative of the Ministry of Defqace con- 
ceded that with greater diligence the Expansion Project could have 
been complerted earlier, he contended at the same time that the 
execution of the Expansion Project has been as per the budgeted 
allocation of resources. In this context, the Committee have to draw 
attention regretfully to the Report of the Estimates Committee 
(1957-58) wherein they had pointed out that against the estimated 
expenditure of Rs. 330 lakhs on the development of the Dockyard 
during the First Five Year Plan, the actual eccpenditure was Hs. 45 
lakhs only.' 

5.39. Viewed in retrospect, it is evident that there has been a 
truly disturbing delay in completion of an essential national project. 
Admittedly, this delay has resulted jn the postponement of the ad- 
vantages initially anticipated. Though the extent to which the 
operational efficiency of our Navy might have been adversely 
allected by this delay may not be exactly quantifieki, the fact re- 
mains that the facilities envisaged have not been adequately avail- 
able, and there had to be much avoidable utilisation of the ships' own 
machinery, resulting in greater maintenance effort and longer re- 
fit periods. This is a sad reflection on the performance of our plann- 
ing and of our administration. The Committee trust that Govern- 
ment would conduct a careful review of what went wrong at differ- 
ent stages of the Project, derive a lesson from this unhanpy saga 
of delays and doldrums. and ensure that ~ u c h  defaults do not recur 
a t  least in national projects of strategic importance. 

NEW DELHI: 
March 30. 1976. 
-.- - - - - - - -. - 

Chaitra 10. 1898 (S). 

H. N. MUKERJEE, 
Chairman, 

Pub2i.c Accounts Committee. 
- -. - 

'Estimltes Comrn~tte-, 8th Report (2n4, L S), March 1958, Paragraph re. 



APPENDIX I 
Recmmndations of the Cmultunts,  Sir Alexan&r Oibbs & Part- 

ners, on the Termination of Contract Nu. 1 (* paragraph 3.18) 

(a) If i t  has not already done so, Government should immediate- 
ly give seven day's notice to Hind Constructions Ltd. to remove 
from the site, and should thereafker enter #on the site and takq over 
the Contractor's plant etc. as provided in Clause 63 of the Conditions 
of Contract. 

(b) On expiry of the notice, Government should immediately au- 
thorise the Engineers to arrange for CITRA to take over a small 
amount of work in their contract area which was left uncompleted 
by Hind Constructions Ltd. and which may otherwise give rise to 
unnecessary claims under Contract No. 2. 

(c) On confirmation of (a) above, the Engineers should discuss 
with the Naval Authorities whether i t  would be practicable for this 
.Authority to undertake certain work. 

(d) Final approval of the design for the Ballard Pier Extension 
to be expedited (Bombay Port Trust) and any necessary re-grouping 
works in State I of the Dockyard Develcpment should then be con- 
sidered. 

(e) Apart from any work carried out under (c) above, Govern- 
ment should not undertake any oE the Stage I construction works 
departmentally. and should immediately authorise the Engineers to 
approach suitable and approved contracting firms. 

( f )  The future of the SILMiEGYCO dredging fleet now in Bom- 
bay should be decided in relation to the outcome of the matters enu- 
merated above. 

(g) Any necessary steps should be taken to ensure that construc- 
tion plant or materials on site are not unlawfully removed from the 
site by Hind Constructions Ltd. or their sub-contractor. 
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APPENDIX I1 

Points h Dispute Refenred to the Avbitrator in the matter of Arb& 
trcr,tion between Hind Constructiolt Co. Ltd and tlte Union of India 

Id* paragraph 2.201 

Re: Naval Dockyard, Bombay. 

Points in dispute in the present reference as suggested by both 
the parties. 

1. Is the Preliminary Statement a part of the Contract, if not, 
can it be used in any way in the construction of the Con- 
tract? 

2. Can the Company rely on the preliminary statement? 

3. What information, if any, in the greliminary statement is 
incorrect or misleading and if so what is its effect? 

4. Was time the essence of the Contract? If so, what is its 
effect? 

5. Was the Company ready and willing to carry out its ,obliga- 
tions in accordance with the terms of the Contract 

6. Were the various sections of work to be carried out under 
the Contract inter-dependent and if so to what extent? 

7. What is the sccqe of the Engineer's authority and their func- 
tions with regard to the works under the Contract? 

8. Were the Engineers agents of the Government, and if so, to 
what extent? 

9. Is the Government responsible for the defaults, if any, com- 
mitted by the Engineers in matters in which they were 
not acting for and on behalf of the Government? 

10. If the reply to paint No. 9 is in the affirmative, then were 
the defaults etc. committed by the Engineers of such a na- 
ture as to discharge ihe Company from performing its 
obligations under the Contract 



11. Did the Government and/or the Engineers refuse and/or 
neglect to perform their obligations under the Contract? 
If so, was the Company entitled to put an end to the Con- 
tract? 

' 12. Did the Government andlor the Engineers by their acts and1 
or defaults prevent the Company from fulfilling its part of 
the Contract? If so, was the Company discharged 5 r o ~  its 
obligations under the Contract? 

13. Is the Company entitled to any damages and/or compensa- 
tion by reasons of breaches and/or preventions on the part 
of the Government and/or its Engineers? If so, what is 
the amount of such damages or compensation? 

14. If it be held that the Engineers refused andjor neglected t o  
perform any part of their obligations under the Contract 
and were guilty of acts of preventions, was the Govern- 
ment entiled to enforce any of the terms of: the Contract 
against the Company? 

15. Is any claim not made by the Company in the notice under 
Sec. 80 of the C .P. C.  outside the scope of the present re- 
ference? 

16. Did the Engineers withhold and/or refuse certificates in res- 
pect of any work done or services rendered by the Com- 
pany as stated in para 31 of the Statement of Claim of 
the Company. If so, what is the effect thereof? 

17. Has the Company waived its rights to make any claims on 
the basis of any delays, defaults, preventions or breaches 
on the part of the Government and/or the Engineers? 

18. Is the Company estopped from making any claim on the 
basis of Engineers' delays, defaults, preventions or brea- 
ches as set out in para 55 of the Claim of the Company? 

19. Could this Contract be frustrated in part? 

20. Was the contract frustrated wholly or partly on the grounds 
mentioned in the Company's Statement of Claim? If so, 
on what basis and from what date are the rights and lia- 
bilities of the parties to be determined? 

21. Can any part of. the works to be done under the contract be 
separated to determine if the contract was only partly 
frustrated? If so, with what effect? 



22. Should the company be directed to specify the date or dates 
d frustration in regard to the entire contract or in regard 
to various items of work under the Contract? 

23. Does the evidence prove that the contract was void ab 
initio partly or in its entirely on the ground of mutual 
mistake or impossibility of performance as distinct horn 
frustration of contract? If so, with what effect? 

24. Is the determination of point No. 23 within the scope of the 
present reference? 

2 5  If it be held that .the contract was frustrated, is the Com- 
pany entitled to be paid in terms of cl. 65 of the Contract? 
If so, what is the amount? 

26. Is the Company in case of frustration, entitled to be paid on 
any basis independently of C1. 65 of the Contract. If so, 
what is the amount? 

27. Did the Corn?any abandon all or any of the work under the 
Contract? If so, what is its effect? 

28. Were the Engineres justified in issuing their certificates of 
4th October 1956? 

29. Was the Government justified in forfeiting the contract on 
27128th December 19561 

30. Was the forfeiture of the contract on the part of the Govt. 
wrongful? If so. to what relief. is the Company entitled? 

31. Was the Government entiled to seize and take possession 
of the plant and machinery etc. lying on the site at  the 
time of forfeiture of the contract? If not, what is the ef- 
fect thereof? 

32. What are the items of plant and machinery, building and 
construction materials. buildings etc, taken by the Govt. 
at the site of the work and what is their value? 

33. Did the Company give requisite cooperation after fbrfeiture 
of the contract in the preparation of Inventories of the 
items lying on the site and which fell into Government's 
~ossesion? If not. what is its effect? 

34. Did the Government seize and 'take possession of the dred- 
ging Beet as alleged by the Company? If so, was the sei- 
zure wrongful and what is its effect? 



35 What claims, if any, have been made by SILM and/ar 
SEDECEGYCO ih respect of the alleged wrongfd seizure 
of the dredging fleet? Is the Government liable for any of 
these claims? If so, to what extent? 

36. Is the Government entitled to use building constructed or  
erected by the Company for the works without paying any 
compensation to the Company? If so, is the Government 

4 entitled to any other rights in regard to these buildings? 
37. What are the quantities of works carried out and services 

rendered by the Company under the Contract till 27/28th 
December. 1956? 

38. What were the terms and methods, if any, provided in the 
Contract for concreting the foundation of the Boat Pond 
Wall? Could or was the Company liable to do under-water 
concreting by any method other than that provided in the 
Contract? 

39. When was the Company entitled to be paid as and by way 
of advance a sum equal to 75 per cent of. the amount paid 
by the Company towards Customs Duty? Did the Engi- 
neers commit any breach in respect of the same, and if so, 
what are the consequences thereof? 

40. Have the disputes set out in para 25C of the Coqany ' s  
Statement of Claim. i.e. regarding Boat Pond Wall foun- 
dation been referred to the Arbitrator and has the Arbi- 
trator jurisdiction to adjudicate on the same? 

41. Did the Company satisfy the provisions of the Contract re- 
garding insurance of the Dredging fleet and pumping plant? 
If no, what is its effect? 

43. Did the Company sign the Contract with the Pull knowledge 
that it would not be able to fulfil essential conditions of 
the Contract in regard to vesting of plant and joint insu- 
rance as regards the Dredging fleet and pumping plant 
proposed to be provided by it? If so. what is its effect? 

43. Is the Company entitled to recover from the Govarnment 
a sum of Rs, 15,45.000,/- as per particulars given in Exhibft 
'F' of the Company's Statement of claim? 

44. Is  the Company entitled to recover a sum of Rs. 45,69.395/- 
from the Government as per ~ar t icu lars  given in parts I 
and I1 of Exhibit 'B' of the Company's Statement oE Claim? 



4!5. Is the Company entitled to recover a sum, of Rs. 4,485,140 
from the Government as stated in para 35 of the Company's 
Statement of Claim? 

46. Is the Company entitled to the return of plant and machinery 
etc. as claimed? In the alternative, is the Company enti- 
.tied to the value thereof? If so, what is the amount of such 
value? 

47. What amount, if any, is the Company entitled to on account 
of detention and deterioration of plant and machinery etc. - and the use thereof by the Government? 

48. Is the Government entitled to sell the assets of the Company 
a t  any time or to set off the proceeds of sale in or towards 
the satisfaction of any sum alleged to be due from the 
Company? 

49. Is the Company entitled to be paid insurance monies receiv- 
ed or receivable in respect of the policies in the joint nam- 
es of the Company and the President of India? 

50. Is the Company entitled to be indemnified in reqec t  of the 
claim of SILM and,/or SEDECEGYC'O regarding the Dred- 
ging fleet? 

51. Is the Company entitled to interest on any of the amounts 
claimed by it? If so, a t  what rate? 

52. Are the claims relating to items in Exhibi't 'B' part 11 of the 
Company's Statement oc claim and specified in para 4 of 
the Government's 'Preliminary Objections' within the scope 
of this arbitration? 

53. If any amounts are found due to the Company, to what ex- 
tent are they to bc set off against the amount claimed by 
the Government as set out in Exhibit 'B', 'C' and 'El of 
the Government Statement? 

54. What were the terms a g r e d  by and between the parties in 
reqec t  of the work of dredging? 

55. Was use of any particular type of dredger contemplated or 
provided for in the contract? 

56. Was it the basis of the Contract that almost the entire work 
of dredging under items 1, 2 and 11 the Bill of Quantities 



would be of such a nature as could be done ~y Suction 
dredger? 

57. Did the Company while doing the work of, dredging encoun- 
ter substantial quantity of materials which were not capa- 
ble of being dredged by Suction dredger? 

58. Did the Company while doing the work of dredging en- 
comter materials which were of entirely different cha- 
racter and composition from what was agreed or contem- 
plated a t  the time of Contract? If so, what is the effect 
thereof? 

59. Has the Arbitrator jurisdiction to decide whether the ma- 
terials met with during dredging were of an entirely dif- 
ferent character and composition than what was contem- 
plated under the Apreemcnt? 

60. Under the circumstances as set out in the Company's State- 
ment of Claim with regard to the work of dredging, was 
the Contract frustrated? If so, on what date was the Con- 
tract frustrated? 

61. What is the quantity of materials dredged by the Company? 

62. What amount, if any, is the Company entitled to in respect 
of the work of dredging done under the Contract or stated 
in the Statement of Claim filed by the Company? 

Did the Company. carry out and fulfil its duties and/or ob- 
ligations and/or responsibilities and/or requirements un- 
der the Contract in regard to the Dredging and Reclama- 
tion work? If not. what is its effect? 

64. Was the C o w a n y  justified in ceasing dredging operations 
on 9th June 1956? If not, what is its effect? 

65. Did the Company commit any breach 0% Contract in regard 
to the vesting of plant and joint insurance of the dredging 
and pumping plant provided by it? If so, what is its effect? 

66. What amount, if. any, is the Government entitled to recover 
in respect of claims set out in Exhibit 'E' of the State- 
ment of Claim? 

67. Is the Government entitled to refund of Rs. 1,45,850/- being 
the refundable advance paid to the Company on account 
of Customs duty on the Dredging fleet? 



68. Did the parties enter into the Contract relating to rock-brea- 
king on the basis that its character and composition~were 
such that i t  could be broken up within the terms of the 
Cbntract by the BPT rockbreaker as described in the State- 
ment of Claim of the Company? If so, did its character 
and composition turn out to be of different character? 
What was the extent of the difference and what is the 
effect thereof? 

69. Has the Arbitrator jurisdiction to decide whether the rock 
was unbreakable and/or of entirely different character and 
composition than what was contemplated under the agree- 
ment and/or it was impossible to break the rock within 
any reasonable time as stated in the para 12 of the Com- 
pany's Statement? 

70. Was the Contract relating to rockbreaking and rockldredg- 
ing frustrated on any of the grounds set out in the Com- 
pany's Statement of Claim? If so, on what date was the 
Contract frustrated? 

71. What.js the quantity of rock broken by the Company? 

72. What amount, if any. is the Company entitled to for break- 
ing of the rock under the Contract or on any other ground 
stated in the Statement of Claim filed by the Company? 

73. Did the Company carry out and fulfil its duties and/or ob- 
ligations and/or responsibilities and/or requirements un- 
der the contract in regard to rock-breaking and rock-dredg- 
ing? If not. what is its effect? 

74. Was the Company justified in ceasing rockbreaking opera- 
tions on 9th June, 1956 and grabbing operations in July, 
1956? If no!, what is its effect? 

75. What were the duties and/or obligations and/or responsi- 
bilities and/or requirements of the Company under the 
Contract in regard to rockbreaking on the line of Frigate 
and Boat wharves? Did the Company carry out and ful- 
fil them? If not, what is its effect? 

76. If the answer to point 75 is in the negative, did the Company 
further refuse to agree to the Government carrying out 
this work a t  the Company's cost by other agency? If so, 
what is its effect? 



77. What amounts, if any, is the Government entitled to in res- 
pect of the claims set out in para 67 of its Statement Part 
C ? 

78. What were the terms agreed by and between the parties witb 
regard to the work of construction of wharves? 

79. What were the terms, basis, length and method of driving 
or sinking of cylinders agreed upon by and between the 
parties? 

80. Did any situation fundamentally different from what was 
agreed upon unexpectedly emerge? If so, what is the effect 
thereof? 

81. Has the Arbitrator jurisdiction to decide whether a situation 
fundamentally different from what was agreed upon un- 
expectedly emerged? 

82. With regard to the work of construction of wharves under 
the circumstances mentioned in the Company's Statement 
of Claim, was the Contract frustrated? If so, or what date 
was the Contract frustrated? 

83. Did the Company make provisions for necessary plant and 
machinery on the basis that the lengths of cylinders would 
not exceed 50 ft .  and the depths to which the cylinders 
were to be sunk or  driven would not exceed 10 ft.? What 
is its effect? 

84. As a result of the borings taken in February 1956, was i t  
found that the lengths of cylinders would exceed 50 ft. 
and depths to which they were to be driven or sunk would 
be much more than 10 ft.? If so, what is the effect thereof? - 

85. Was the Company required to do the work of pile driving 
in respect of cylinders under the Agreement? 

86. Was the Company required to construct cylinders of lengths 
exceeding those agreed w o n  by the parties in the Con- 
tract? 

87. Did the Company carry out and fulfil its duties, obligations, 
responsibilities and requirements under the Contract in 
regard to the construction of the wharves? If not, what is 
the eflrect thereof? 



88. Did the Company refuse to comply with the Engineer's ins- 
tructions dated 22-3-56 and 5-456 in regard to this work? 

I If so, what is its effect? 

89. Did the Company carry out and fulfil its duties, obligations, 
responsibilities and requirements under the Contract in 
regard to the construction of Boat Pond Wall and Customs 
Basin walls? If not, what is the effect thereof? 

90. Was the Company justified in ceasing operations on these 
works in May 1956? If not, what is the effect? 

91. Did the C.ompany commit breach of contract so as to justify 
the Government to carry out the contract works which 
were not started or not completed by the Company? 

92. Was there any lack of collaboration or disputes between the 
Company and SILM? If so, what was its effect on the per- 
formance of the Contract by the Company? 

93. Did the Company secure necessary technical collxboration 
from SILM? Were there any disputes between the Com- 
pany and STLM? If so, did such disputes have any effect 
on the performance of the Contract? 

94. What is the date on which the Arbitrator entered upon re- 
ference in respect of Government's claims as a substantive 
claim? What quantities of work under the Contract were 
carried out by Government from 28-12-56 (a) till the afore- 
said date and (b) thereafter? 

95. Has the Government incurred any extra cost in completing 
the works under the Contract? If so, is the Company liable 
for the same and to what extent? 

96. To what amount, if any, is the Government entitled in res- 
pect of the claim set out in  Exhibits 'B', 'C', 'D' and 'E' of its 
claim? 

97. Is the damage claimed by the Government in its Statement 
contained either in Part 'C' or 'Dl remote in law? If so, 
is the Government entitled to the same? 

98. Has the Government suffered loss on account of any delay 
of the Company in carrying out its obligations under the 
Contract? 



99. Has the Government waived its right to make any claim on 
the basis of any delay or defaults on the part of the Com- 
pany? 

100. Was the delay, if any, in commissioning dredging fleet and/, 
or starting dredging operations caused by reason of cir- 
cumstances beyond the C ~ m p a n y ' ~  control? What is its 
effect? 

101. Whnt is the effect of approval by or on behalf of the Govt 
of programmes, designs, plant, materials and labour sub- 
mitted and/or brought on site and/or provided by the 
Company? 

1102. Did the craft hired from the Naval authorities sustain any 
damage in the hands of the Company? Is the Company 
liable to pay to the Government in these proceedings any 
sum on account of alleged hire charges or repair charged. 
Has the Arbitrator jurisdiction to entertain such a claim? 

103. Were the Engineers not entitled to invoke C1. 46 of the Con- 
ditions of Contract by their letter dt. 19-12-55 (7-10-55) in 

.the circumstances of the case? If not, what is its effect? 

104. In what respects are the time, conditions and circumstances 
under which the Government has completed or is comple- 
ting the works different from those provided in the Con- 

'tract? What is the effect of such differences on the claim 
af the Government? 

'105. Did the Government construct the cylinders or drive or 
sink the same in accordance with the provisions of the Con- 
tract? If not, what is the difference and what is its effect? 

'106. Was the work in connection with the Contract No. 2 held 
up? -Was the same due to any defaults and/or negligence 
of the'eompany? 

107. Is Government entitled to interest on its claims and if so, 
to what extent? 

108. Is Government entitled to refund of the sum of Rs. 4,68,520/- 
being the outstanding amounts of advance on plant and 
.machinery due by the Company? 



APPENDIX I11 

Details of Hearings held in Connection with the Arbitration betweerr 
Hind Construction Co. Ltd. and Union of India. (Vide paragraph 
236) 1 

Wore late Shri J. N. Majumdar 

All 31 hearings were held at CALCUTTA which was his residence. 

Before Shri Bishan Narain 

A total of 608 hearings were held at  Delhi, 87 at Calcutta and 84 
at Bombay. The dates and places of hearings are indicated in para 3 
below. The venue is indicated by the letters B.C.D. which stand f o r  
Bombay, Calcutta and Delhi respectively. 

No.. of 
Dates heanngs Place 

IS Apr 61 
12 to M Aug 61 . 
9 to 17 Oct 61 
g to 18 Jan 62 . . 
20 to 27 Mar 62 
18 to 22 Apr 62 . 
4 to I I May 62 
18July62 . . . . 
11 to 25 Scp 62 
5 to 25 Nov 62 . 
14 to 16 Jan 63 . 
22 Feb 63 
15 to 22 Mar 63 . 
16 to 27 Aug 63 . 
10 to 30 Oct 63 . 
4 to IS Nov 63 . 
q to 13 Jan 64 . 
10 to 1g Feb 64 . . ,. 
28 Mar to X I  Apr 64 
15 to 28 June 64 . 
27 to 31 Jul bq . . . 
1s to 21 Sep Q . 
g to 22 Nov 64 . 



Dates 
No. of 
hearings Place 

1 to 6 Dec 64 . . . . 
23 to 27 Dec 64 . . . 
21 to 27 Peb 65 . . . 
6 to 17 Apr 65 
8 to 16 Aug 65 . 
24 to 31 Aug 65 . 
28 Nov to 4 Dec 65 
21 Feb 66 . . 
26 Mar to 2 Apr 66 
20 to 26 Apr .66 
~ o t o  15 Oct 66 . . . . 
14 Dec 66 
31 Dec 66 
28 Fcb to 9 Mar 67 
I to 24 Jul 67 . . . 
I1 to 23 Sep 67 . 
6 to 16 Dec 67 . 
12 Jan 68 
16 to 31 Jan 68 
3 t o 2 6 F c h 6 8  . 
28 Mar to I Apr 68 
27 Jul to q Aug 68 . 
29 Oct to 5 Nov 68 . 
24NovforDec68 , 
24 Dec 68 to 3 Jar 69 . 
26 Feb to 13 Mar 69 . 
r j  Jun to 6 Jul69 
29 Jul to I Aug 69 . 
14 to 21 & p  69 
21 to 29 Oct 69 . 
I to 19 Dec 69 . 
21 to 28 Jap 70 . . 
10 Feb to 17 Mar 70 
26 & 28 Jul 70 . 
21 Oct to 7 Nov 70 
I to 8 Dec 70. 
y to 29 Jan 71 . 
23 Mar to 9 Apr 71 
I to 15 Jul 71 . 
2 to 16 Scp 71 . 
15 to Dec 71 . 
I to ,12 Apr 72 . 
25 J u ~  to 6 Jul 72 . . 



Dates 
No. of 
hearing? Plact 

2.6 Aug to 9 Sep 72 
z8 Oct to 11 Nov 
27 Dec 72 to 6 Jan 73 . 
7 Fcb to 17 Feb 73 
28 Marto I May 73 . 
21 Jun to 3 Jul 73 
17 Aug to 31 AW 73 - 

TOTAL 



APPENDIX IV 

Note furnished by the Ministry of Defence indicating the reasons 
for delay in implemenlation of the Naval Dockgard Expansion 

Scheme [vide paragraph 4.21 

Stage I 

The Project Report of Sir A. G. P., Consulting Engineers was 
received in May 1950 and was under consideration by the Govern- 
ment till November 1952, when necessity was accepted, Consultancy 
Agreement signed and administrative approval issued for what was 
known as Stage I Works at a cost of Rs. 5.55 cmres. 

2. Thereafter, site investigations in the form of borings and nu'- 
veys were conducted and completed by May 1953, tenders advertised 
for Contract I in June 1953, received in October 1953, and considered 
and reported upon by the Consultants by early December 1953. How- 
ever, the contract could not be accepted till 2nd September, 1954 
mainly for the reason that it took this interval from December 1953 
to August 1954 to negotiate with Bombay Port Trust and get posses- 
sion of their various assets to enable this Contract to commence. 

3. Contract I which was accepted on 2nd September, 1954 was to 
be completed by May 1957 but after only 15 per cent of the physical 
work was executed, the contractors stopped the work in June 1956 
and abandoned the Contract in September 1956. This resulted in the 
forfeiture of the Contract in December 1956, at which time Govt. 
decided to get the balance of works done through a departmental or- 
ganisation to be set up for the purpose. Though athe administrator 
for this purpose was appointed in February 1957, he could not restart 
the work till November 1957 for the following easons:- 

(a) time required to complete survey and inventory and eva- 
luate the assets left behind by the defaulting contractor 
valued at  approximately Rs. 16 lakhs. 

(b) renovating and reactivating the equipment and machinery 
left by the Contractor in a deplorable state and which had 
been inactive from June 1956. 

(c) assembling the staff required for this purpose. 



4. The works remained under the ~ t m l  ot this Engin= Ad- 
ministrator till October/November 1958, when the Government con- 
cerned about the slow progress of the work, reorganised the Praject 
and appointed a Director General in overall charge of the Project 
responsible to Government direct. 

5. Apart from Contract 1;, the other major work of Stage I was the 
construction of the Cruiser Graving Dock. This was advertised in 
November 1954, tenders received in February 1955, accepted at a sum 
of Rs. 2.77 crores in August/Octobef 1955 when works started. This 
contract, which was initidly to be completed in January 1959, was 
actually completed in November 1 W ,  the delay being occasioned by 
the following factors:- 

(a) consequence of default of Contract No. 1; 
(b) decision to extend dock by 20 feet in November, 1959; 

(c) delays for which the Contractor was wholly responsible 
and for which he was liable for liquidated damages. 

6. The other main civil engineering works, namely, extension of 
the Ballard Pier, was sanctioned in 1963, and commenced immediately 
thereafter and completed in January, 1967, the work being executed 
departmentally. 

7. During this period, various machinery contracts required to 
service the wharves, were taken up and completed. The last of 
such machinery contracts was completed in May, 1968 and the re- 
maining minor works of Stage I vere all completed by December 
1970. 

Works A 

Stage I I  

The balance of works, for which necessity was accepted in 1952 
and which were not included in Stage I were administratively ap- 
proved by Government in September, 1964 as Stage I1 at a cost of 
Rs. 14.59 crores. A decisioh was taken to execute all the civil engi- 
neering works of this Stage as one contract, Global tenders were 
advertised as per World Bank Procedures, tenders received in Mag, 
1966 and rejected in October, 1966 as they were too high' and qualified 
by unacceptable conditions. It was then decided to split the civil 
engineering works into three parts and go out to tender for the first 
part designated Works A. At this time a Yugoslav firm already work- 
ing in lndia on some other projects, evinced interest. Ultimately the 



work was entrusted to this firm in November 1967 a t  a cost of Rs. 14% 
cross to be completed in November 1972. The work was substantially 
oompleted in October 1973, the extended period being covered by 
-valid extensions to the contract. 

Works B 

Dredging and reclamation was initially to be done departmentally 
by acquisition of suitable equipment. However, as nothing tangible 
materialised for a considerable time, it was decided in April 1970 to 
go out to contract for these works also. Again World Bank procedures 
w e e  followed, global tenders advertised and received in March 1971. 
After negotiations which were finalised in November 1971, the con- 
tract was accepted, in January 1972 for a sum of Rs. 6.89 crores tq 
be completed in January 1975. The works are still in progress and 
a r e  expected to be completed by the end of 1975. Extension of time 
has been granted on valid grounds by the Engineer. 

This leaves Works 'C' of the Civil Engineering Works for imple- 
mentation. Government requested reappraisal and revised estimate 
of this work from the consultants and their report has been received 
in April 1975. This is under examination. 

Services for Works 

To make the civil Engineering Works fully useful, it is necessarg 
to provide various mechanical and electrical services. In the 1964 
Administrative approval, these Services were sanctioned only on a 
provisional basis- After Works 'A' were contracted out user require- 
ments for the services were re-evaluated during 1968-69 in 
the light of acquisition programme of the N a w  subsequent to 1964 
and estimates based on this re-evaluation were called for from the 
Consultants. These were received in November 1970 and projected 
to Government in March 1971. Government gave the 'Go-ahead' 
sanction to the D.G. in January 1972 to proceed with these works 
pending formal administrative approval. 

The first contract, was concluded in November 1974 and completed 
in June 1975. Contract for was concluded in December 1974 and is 
to be completed by March 1977. Contract for miscellaneous civil en- 
gineering structures was concluded in April 1975 and scheduled to 
be completed by April 1977. Contract for electrical services totalling 
3s. 2.57 crores was concluded in July 1975 and is scheduled to  be 



completed by 1978. This leaves only the contract for the mechanic& 
equipment and pipe work services to be progressed. The tenders for 
the mechanical services have since been received and are under: 
scrutiny. 

This would leave the services for Works 'C' to be dealt with which 
can be taken up after the civil engineering Works 'C' is examined. 
and approved. 

Cost 

Stage I, which was originally approved in November 1952 for. 
Rs. 5.55 crores, was revised to Rs. 10.72 crores in 1963 and to Rs. 11.32 
crores in 1967. It is estimated that the completion cost of Stage I 
would be Rs. 12.10 crores. The increase arose out of the change in 
scope of these works during the intervening years, general escalations 
in cost and compensation payable to BPT. 

Stage 11, which was originally approved for Rs. 14.59 crores in 1964 
was revised in December 1967 to Rs. 24.70 crores. It is now expected 
that this Sta.ge will cost substantially more. Reasons for the escala- 
tion are same as for Stage I, and in addition, the devaluation in June 
1966. 

Validity of Project Report 

The original project remains basically valid today and the only 
changes that have had to be made are:- 

(i) The omission of the main gra%lng dock for the present, and 
(ii) updating the service facilities for the ships keeping in 

view the later acquisitions and changes in technology 
which were not known at  the time the original project was 

I prepared. 
Change in Scope 

According to the acceptance of necessity letter issued by Govt. in  
November 1952, the works accepted were valued at R s  24 croresat 
the then existing price levds. Subsequently, none of the works then 
accepted have been deleted except the main Graving Dock. On the 
other hand the following additions have had to be made to t he  
scheme: - 

(a) construction of a patent slipway. 

(b) extension of the Ballard Pier. 



(c) enlar~ement in the scope of Services for both Stage I an& 
Stage 11. 

The main changes in scope have occurred in respect of Services 
both in Stage I and I1 necessitated by the changes in acquisition pat- 
tern of Naval Ships and progress in technology in the intervening 
years. 



Statement showing the Conclusions~Recornn~endatioris of the 
Commit tee 

--- -- -- 
SI. No. Pam No. of Ministry Concerned Conclusion.lKecommendations 

the Report --  ---- - -- --- 

1 2 3 4 _-- --- .- -- -- - -- -- 
I. 5 . 1  M/o Defence I t  is disconcerting that a project for the expansion of the Naval 

Dockyard at Bombay, conceived as far back as in 1949, and which, 
according to the projections of the consultants to the project, should 
have taken about 9 years, is yet to be completed fully even after 
lapse of more than 25 years. As early as 1958, the Estimates Com- 
mittee (1957-58) had felt that in an important matter like the Naval 
Dockyard, 'a greater sense of urgency should have been shown1 and 
had recommended that 'more effective steps should be taken to secure 
the expeditious execution of the Expansion Project'' Eight yeam 
later, the Public Accounts Committee (1965-66) were again con- 
strained to comment on the 'tardy manner' in which this project 
had been handled by the authorities at different stages. Observing 
that they could not help getting the impression that 'the urgency of 
the matter was not fully appreciated by those who dealt with this 
scheme', the Committee had then expressed regret that despite the 
Estimates Committee's earlierwbservations, 'no serious attempt' had 
been made 'to accelerate the progress of work on the scheme' and 
that, in the meanwhile, further delay had continued to add to its 



t o s t . 9 n o t h e r  decade h& passed since then and the prospect of 
the project being really completed is still nowhere in sight. Its 
cost, initially estimated, in November 1952, a t  Rs. 24 crores, increased 
by over 50 per cent to Rs. 36 crores and is expected to go up still 
further. This is certainly a most unsatisfactory state of affairs. 

In the preceding chapters of this Report, the Committee have 
tried to examine, at  some depth, the reasons for the delay in com- 
pleting the project. I t  appears, on evidence, that much of the delay 
that had occurred from time to time was not entirely unavoidable 
and that some of the difficulties alleged could have been well over- 
come with advance planning. It has been conceded by the Defence 
Secretary that there had been 'prolonged delay' in the execution of 
the projcct, though a t  the same time the delay was sought to be 
explained away as unavoidable and beyond Government's control. 
I t  would, however, appear that in spite of the strategic importance 
of the project, its execution has been peculiarly leisurely, and the 
time-projections made, perhaps, validly, when the project was con- 
ceived, have been repeatedly upset. 

For instance, it took mare than two years for Government to 
consider and approve the scheme for expansion submitted by the 
Consultants in June 1950 and another 24 years to commence work - . -- --. - 

1. %timatea Committee, 8th Report (2nd LS), Mar+ 1951, Paragraph 28. 

1. Ibid, Petagraph 33. 
8. Public Accocmt8 Committee, 48th Rcport (3rd L.S.), April 1966, Paragraph 3'30 
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on Stage I of the scheme. The Committee have been informed that 
the initial period of two years was spent in overcoming the objec- 
tions of the Bombay Port Trust, the Bombay Government and other 
private interests affected by the Dockyard expansion. Whi!e the 
Port Trust appears to have been averse to the scheme on account of 
its clash with its own expansion plants, the objections of the Bombay 
Government and also, it seems, the Tatas had certain aesthetic over- 
tones inasmuch as it was feared that the Dockyard would mar the 
beauty of Bombay. The committee feel that if the planning had 
been so meticulous as to obviate difficulties experienced later in 
execution, the initial delay of two years could, perhaps, even be 
justified in retrospect. This, however, was by no means the case, 
and the Committee regret that a project relative to the country's 
defence requirements was thus held up without sufficient warrant. 
I t  appears extraordinary that even as late as 1975 there is talk of a 
not unlikely redesigning of the Naval Dockyard Scheme with a view 
to its being fitted into still hypothetical city beautification plans. 
Whatever the merits of the latter, this is not, in the Committee's 
view, the way in which a long standing national project, with top 
Defence priority, should be handled. 

4- 5'4 Mlo Defence Though the administrative approval for Stage I works, costing 
Rs. 5.5 crores, was issued in November 1952 and tenders for Contract 
No. 1 of Stage I were issued in June 1953, (the interim period haviq 



been spent in site investigations, surveys, trial bores, etc.), the MI- 
tract was concluded in ~eptember  1954 only, that is to say, after 
nearly 22 months. The main reason for the delay is stated to be the 
protracted negotiations with the Bombay Port Trust, from December 
1953 to August 1954, for taking possession of their assets and their 
transfer to Government to enable the contract to commence. It is 
not clear to the Committee why the negotiations in this regard were) 
delayed till the tenders had been reported upon by the Consultants; 
in fact this question should have been taken up much earlier after 
the necessity of the scheme had been acceptd by Government. This 
lapse needs to be explained. 

Contract No. I was to be completed by May 1957, but after only 
about 15 per cent of the physical work had been executed, the con- 
tractor (Hindi Construction Ltd.) stopped the work in June 1966 and 
finally abandoned the contract in September 1956. The actual work 
on the contract had also star'ted only in late June 1955, nearly nine 
months after the conclusion of the contract. One of the reasons for 
this delay is stated to be the diversion of the dredging fleet ear- 
marked for the work elsewhere by the contractor's Italian associates. 
This was an impermissible and ominous beginning, which foreshadow- 
ed the shape of t h in6  to come, culminating finally in the forfeiture 
of the contract in December 1956 and the almost interminable arbi- 
tration proceedings that followed thereafter. 

6. 5.6 -Do - I t  is significant in this context that, initially, global tenders had .' . ,  been invited for the work Qn the ground that there were no Indian 



7- 5 - 7  Mlo Defence 

contractors with the necessary expertise. Somewhat paradoxically, 
however, the contract was finally awarded to an Indian firm without 
previous experience in dockyard construction, on the strength of an 
assessment by the Consultants of the firm's previous experience in 
the Konar Dam, and because they were also the lowest tendem% 
Another factor which weighed with the Consultants in selecting tbe 
firm for the work was that the firm had taken as partners an Italian 
Arm, Societa Italiana Per Lavori Maritimi, presumably endowed 
with the requisite know-how and experience. While the Committee 
certainly welcome preference being given to Indian entrepreneurs 
in the execution of national projects, it is a moot point whether at 
that particular point of time when Indian expertise was admittedly ii 
not available, Government was justified in undertaking a risk that 
turned out to be a protracted and costly experiment in a strategic 
project. 

After the contract was forfeited in December 1956, Govemnent 
decided to execute the incomplete portion of the work departmental- 
ly, at the firms' risk and cost, through a departmental organisation 
to be set up for the purpose. Though an Engineer-Administrabr 
was appointed for this purpose in February 1957, the work could not 
wen be recommended till November 1957 for the following alleged 
reasons: 



evaluate the assets left behind by the defaulting contrac- 
tor, valued at approximately Rs. 16 l a m ;  

(b) renovating and reactivating the equipment and machinery 
left by the contractor in a 'deplorable state' and which had 
been inactive from June 1956; and 

(c) assembling the staff required for the purpose. 

The departmental execution of the work, thus tardily started, 
lingered on for nine long years and could be completed only in 
November 1968. 

It has been stated by the representative of the Ministry of 
Defence that the comparative inexperience of the Government 
agency entrusted with the departmental execution might explain 
the delay to some extent. Nine years spent on this work appeam, 
however, to be abnormal and the reasons for the delay are neither 
clear nor cogent. Government witnesses before the Committee have 
tried to explain only the initial delay of nine months in recommeno 
ing the work abandoned by the contractor. The Committee, how- 
euer, find from the award of the arbitrator, on the reference entered 
on 8 January 1962, that between February 1957, when the Engin- 
Administrator was appointed, and December 1958, when the project 
was placed under the overall charge of a Director-General, 
little work was done in spite of the Consultant's constant complaints. 
The arbitrator also went on w o r d  that taking into consideration the 



6. 5.9 N o  Defence 
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reasonable time required for preparing the inventories, getting the 
plants in working order, etc., he was not satisfied that the Engineer- 
Administrator had acted diligently in not commencing the work 
before NovemberlDecember 1957. It would, therefore, appear that 
the Engineer-Administrator had been lax in ensuring expeditious 
completion of the work. The Committee would like to be informed 
whether any action had been taken in this matter, for it appeilrs that 
Government had also been concerned about the slow progress of the 
work which prompted them to reorganise the project in November 
1958 and place a Director-General in overall charge. 

C1 z As regards the contention of Government that some delay could 
be attributed to the fact that this work was not in the normal line 
of operation of the agency bntrusted with the work, the Committee 
feel that in view of the project's strategic importance, Government 
should have taken adequate steps to appoint experienced administra- 
tors and engineers familiar with maritime works. The Committee 
also find from the arbitrator's award referred to in the preceding 
paragraph that Government did in fact appoint such officers and 
engineers. In the circumstances and in view of the fact that another 
main civil engineering component of Stage I, namely, the extension 
of the Ballard Pier, had been successfully executed departmatelly 
at  about the same time, the Committee find it difEcult to accept this 
explanation. As has been pointed out by the arbitrator, Government 



hotild have made s p e d  elforts to avoid all unh- d&f$ &id 
ensured the completion of the works ss soon as possible, especially 
in view of the fact that the cost of carrying out these works was 
Also continuously increasing from year to year. That this was not 
done is indicative of negligence in over-all supervision. 

In this context, the administrative arrangements made for the 
expansion project merit mention. Initially, in spite of the magnitude 
of the project, the progress of work was watched only by a COILS~C-  
tion Committee consisting of (i) a representative of the Rdinistry of 
Defence, not below the rank of Joint Secretary, who was the Chair- 
man of the Committee, (ii) a representative of the Ministry of 
Finance (Defence) of appropriate rank, (iii) Chief of Material 
(Navy) or his representative, (iv)% Engineer-in-Chief, Army Head- 5 
Quarters or his representative and (v) the Under Secretary (Navy) 
ih the Ministry of Defence who acted as exsfacio Secretary to the 
Committee. It is deplorable that in spite of the existence since 1859 
of such a Committee, constituted specilacally to expedite the e m -  
tion of the project, the progress of work was unsatisfactory. * 
Estimates Committee (1957-58) had noticed that out of the 40 mee$- 
ings held by this Committee between April 1953 and Novembht lW7, 
only one meeting was held in Bombay, and had been coostrained to 
regret that the Construction Committee had not been 'effective in 
its work'.' It would appear that the day-today supervteion of the 
project had been largely left to the Consultants. Judging from the 
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initial delay in the departmental execution of the incomplete portim 
of the work under Contract No. 1, discusssed in the preceding para- 
graphs, the Engineer-Administrator subsequently appointed in Febr- 
uary 1957 &d also failed to secure expeditious completion sf the 
work. It was only in December 1958 that Government realised tfie 
necessity of g closer supervision of the project and appointed a 
Director-General, Naval Dockyard Expansion Scheme, to be in over- 
all charge of the project and responsible directly to Covenunerk 
The Committee are of the view that for the execution of this vital 
project, Government ought to have appointed a sufficiently high 
ranking officer well versed in the technicalities of the work and of 
proven leadership right from the inception. 

If the departmental execution of Contraet No. 1 was i&Tective, 
its handling of the arbitration proceedings was inept. The arbitra- 
tion proceedings relating to Contract No. 1 commenced in December 
1959 when the arbitrator held the first h e a ~ g .  Unfortun~t*~ 
before he could proceed with the substantive matters of the diilpute, 
he died in March 1961. Thirty-one hearings had been held but the 
death necessitated appointment of a second arbitrator. Under the 
Arbitration Act, an award requires to be made within four m6tlths 
after reference subject to the right of the Court, if invoked, to grant 
extensions. What happened here is that the arbitration proceedin@ 
a a ~ g e d  on for more than twelve yqars, during which peSiq W! 



many as 779 hearings were held by the second arbitrabr, as many 
as eight extensions were extracted from the Court, and 23 adjou* 
ments of the proceedings were mutually agreed to and granted. As 
on 1 July 1975, a total expenditure of Rs. 19.74 lakhs had been incur- 
red on the arbitration by Government as against the net amount of 
Rs. 15.70 l a k h  finally awarded to Government by the arbitrator in 
February 1974. To be fair to the Ministry of Defence, its represen- 
tative frankly conceded that this agony of an arbitration had neither 
been 'profitable nor creditable' to Government. 

The Committee are not unwilling to concede that after the con- 
tractor had chosen to invoke the arbitration clause in the contract, 
there was not much that Government could do to extricate itself 

)-r from the peculiar chain of consequences that followed. The Com 
mittee are also aware that the case being a complicated one, some* 
delay in its examination might have been unavoidable. However, 
the prolongation of the proceedings from four month prescribed 
in the Arbitration Act to more than twelve years appears to be, 
prima facie, unconscionable and inexplicable. The Committee can- 
not help the impression that adequate steps had certainly not been 
taken to ensure that the arbitration proceedings were not unneces- 
sarily protracted. The evidence before the Committee also indicates 
that the conduct of the case by Counsel whom Government lavishly 
compensated for their pains, was informed neither by a sense of 
urgency over a nationally important project nor of the pabriotic res- 
ponsibility which such assignments call for. The Committee can- 
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sider that this issue is so grave that Government should examine the 
position in all its implications and decide also the role w w h  in such 
cases should be played by the Ministry of Law. 

The Committee find from the arbitrator's award, for instance, 
that at no stage did any party object to the procedure adopted by 
him for bringing oral and documentary evidence of the parties on 
record. Neither of the parties had also ever objected to the proce- 
dure adopted by the arbitrator for hearing their respective argu- 
ments, such procedures having been adopted with the prior consent 
of Counsel for both parties. The contractor's stand seems under- r 
rtandably motivated by a desire to prolong the proceedings as mucb J 
as possible. His refusal to accept a suggestion of the arbitrator that 
the proceedings could be cut short by conducting the exnminati011- 
in-chief of the witnesses through a5davits filed by the parties and 
by the examination of the witnesses by the opposite party thereafter 
found support, strangely, from Government Counsel who agreed to 
an elaborate procedure which virtually turned the arbitration pro- 
ceedings into something like the neverending Original Side p&- 
ings in a high court. The Committee can only regretfully conelude 
that the prosecution of the case by Government Counsel was im)?er- 
rnissibly inefficient. 

On the arbitrator's own averment, very little progress wasmade 
in the case between 1965 and 1989. It is also seen from the award 



that the parties at the initial stages were, apparently, not keen to 
expedite the proceedings, one reason for it being that Government 
wm in the course of completing the No. 1 Contract works in ques- 
tion. According to the arbitrator's award, the company perhaps felt 
that Government's experience would prove the foimer's case, while 
Government thought that this experience would demolish the corn- 
pany's case, and also that Government claims based on estimated 
expenses would then become based on actual expenses. Tht~s, delay 
in completing the departmental execution of the works under Con- 
tract No. l contribded, in no small measure, to delay in the progress 
of the arbitration proceedings. 4 
' Hearings of the case could take place only occapionally between 
October 1 M  and 1989 on account of the delay in the final preparation 
02 Government's accounts in support of their claims before the arbi- 3 
trat~r. The Committee are concerned to note that this process took 
as long as four years, in spite of repeated exhortations from the 
ubihtor. In fact, at one stage of the proceeding, the delay had 
become so extraordinary that the arbitrator had to order Govern- 
ment to compIete the adjustments of accounts other than those relab 
ing ta the disposal of the assets by 31 March, 1967 or to face the con- 
+sequence8 and be debarred from making any further adjustmenh. 
'I'he Committee And it very surprising that documents in support of 
a claim of Rs. 1.24 lakhs could not be made available to the com- 
pany for inspection ae they had been allegedly destroyed under Gov- 
ernment rules. It is regrettable that the authorities concerned had 
not taken adequate care to preserve these documents even though 
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they knew that the litigation was in progress. Similarly, since the 
incomplete portion of the work was being executed departmentally, 
at the contractor's risk and cost, the authorities were aware that on 
the completion of these works, they would have to satisfy the con- 
tractor that the expenses incurred on the departmental execution 
were reasonable. Yes, strangely, the authorities concerned had not 
maintained these accounts. B/Q item-wise or work-wise but had 
maintained them in accordancewith the usual practice in this regard. 
This, according to the arbitr'ator, was wholly unsuitable for the pur- 
poses of Clause 63 of the contract under which dovenunent had a 
right to recover the extra expenditure incurred on the-works from r 

the contractor, and had led tb. considerable complications in adjudi- 
cating upon Government's claims. In the opinion of the Committee, 
these are serious lapses which should be thoroughly investigated. 
The Committee wolfld like to be informed of the action taken against 
the delinquent officials. 

The Committee are intrigued by a statement made by the Senior 
Government Counsel that the delay that had occurred in this case 
was beyond his control and that the lacunae in the existing Arbitra- 
tion Act made the arbitrator's position in speeding up the matter 
diflcult. The Counsel had, however, not spelt out what the lacunae 
were, and it appears to be the view of the Law Ministry that, prima 
facie, there are no lacunae in this Act which has been long on the 
statute book. Nevertheless, the Law Ministry seemed to admit that 

+ .  

16. 5-16 M/o Defence 



in practice, wrongful advantage could be taken of the provisidnd 
relating to adjournments, extension of the proceedings, etc. as had 
apparently happened in this particular case. Besides, as has been 
stated by the Defence Secretary during evidence before the Com- 
mittee, 'all possible legal methods seemed to have been used' in this 
case to drag out the proceedings. In fact, the representative of the 
Ministry of Defence has even gone to the extent of conceding that 
in addition to the contractor's own motivation for prolonging the 
proceedings 'there may be other people who may have had their 
own reasons for prolonging it'. The Arbitration Act had been 
framed by Parliament with the intention of ensuring that dispuaeis 
arising out of contractti are resolved expeditiously without having 
to go through other more timeconsuming processes of law. Since 
the purpose for which the Act had been conceived has apparently 
been largely defeated in this case where the proceedings have been 4 

prolonged for more than 12 years, the Committee would urge Gov- 
ernment to learn from the rather unsavoury experience of this case 
as well as of others which have come to the notice of the Committee 
and examine urgently whether amendments to the Act are necessary 
to obviate scope for such abuses. 

~ncidentall~, the Committee also find that under the Arbitration 
Act, the Arbitrator is not bound to give any reasons for the award. 
The reiult, is that often it becomes difficult to challenge such non- 
speaking awards on any particular ground. The- Committee are of 
the view that it should be made obligatory on arbitrators to give 
detailed reasons for their awards so that they may, if necessary, 



atand the test of objective judicial scrutiny. !l'he Committee 
that this aspect should be examined and the necessary p-0~ 
brought soon on the Statute Book. 

The manner in which the ceiling fixed on the arbitrator's fees was 
pcriodieally revised upwards causes serious concern to the Commit- 
tee. Mtially, the fees payable to the Arbitrator, fixed an a * 
ritting' bash were subject to a ceiling of Rs. 30,000 for the whole ease 
to be shared equally between Government and the contractor. Sub- , 

sequently, however, when the number of hearings tended to go be- 
yond the anticipated number on which the original ceiling had beem 
based, the arbitrator brought the issue to the notice of the partier 3 
with a view to securing an enhancement of the ceiling. On the 
bas% of such requests made by the arbitrator from time to time and 
the recommendations made in this regard by Government Counsel 
and on the advice also of the Law Secretary who had appointed the 
atbitrator and fixed his fees initially, the ceiling was raised to 
Rs. 80,000 in June 1962, Rs. 1 lakh in February 1964, Rs. 1.75 lakb 
in May 1965, Rs. 2.M lakhs in November 1968 and finally Rs. 3.S 
lakha in October 1972. No doubt, Government had been placed i~ 
an unenviable predicament with the arbitration proceedings dragging 
on endleasly, and that too partly on account of their own default 
in not expediting the departmental execution of the work abandoned 
by thr, aontretor. However, in tbe absence of my evidence to tb8 



contrary, the Committee cannot escape the unhappy conclusion that 
prior to 1972 when the ha1 ceiling of Rs. 3.65 lakhs was flxed, the 
mounting expenditure on thd arbitration had not unduly disturbed 
Government and no concrete steps had been taken to ensure that 
the fees payable to the arbitrator was restricted within reapnabla 
limits. 1 . . ..q 

I What is even more disturbing is the statement made by the 
Ministry of Defence that in deciding to enhance the ceiling of f t ~  
payable to the arbitrator, there seemed to have been a feeling that 
'by refusing to revise the ceiling, the Governmeno case might even 
get prejudiced'. This is a serious reflection on the Arbitrator's judb 
cia1 frame of mind, While the Committee, for obvious reasons, do , 
not wish to go into this matter at any length, they cannot help feel- 3 
ing that this is perhaps indicative of the kind of unwhoIesome psy- 
chology which was at work at that time. It is also strange that even 
before the arbitration had commenced, the Arbitrator objected to 
We original ceiling of Rs. 30,000 when he had been given to under- 
stand by the Law Secretary that the matter would be reviewed from 
time to Ulne and the ceiling suitably revised in consonance wZth the 
time taken for the completion of the hearing. I t  is surprising that' 
instead of making an attempt to complete the arbitration within the 
pwbd of four months prescribed in the Arbitrat'ion Act, an asgump 
tfa &odd have been made even before the commencement of the 
proceedings that these would take a very much longer period of 



-- 
time. This assurance, unwisely given to the arbitrator, must have 
influenced subsequent decisions. 

21. 5-21 do; 

What irks the Committee most in this distasteful episode is that 
the Arbitrator suspended the proceedings at one stage until the 
parties made up their mind to-revise the ceiling of his fees. The 
Committee was told by t h e l a w  Secretary that it was not open to 
the arbitrator to suspend the proceedings in this m&er merely 
because his fees had not be& enhanced. He added, however, that 
a refusal to agree to the enhancement might have meant appointing 
another &bitrator and startkg the proceedings de novo. Govern- 
ment, unfortunately, appear to have been caught on the horns of a 
dilemma and faced with a predicament, chose was thought the lesser 
of the two evils. It pains the Committee that a person of the emi- 
nence of a retired Chief Justice of a High Court should have khaved 
in this manner in the middle of a long-drawn arbitration proceedings. 

While Government's share of the arbitrators' fees amounted io 
Rs. 1.95 lakhs, the Senior and Junior Counsel appointed to conduct 
Government's case before the arbitrator were paid such large-sums 
as Rs. 11.52 lakhs, as on 1 July 1975, out of which Rs. 9.04 1- 
represent the Senior Counsel's fees. No ceiling had, however, been 
fixed in regard to the Counsels' fees. The Committee have been 
informed that the Senior Government Counsel, an advocate of the 



Supreme Court, was paid at the rate of Rs. 1600 per hearing for the 
first 30 hearings and Rs. 1000 per hearing thereafter. The Commit- 
tee feel strongly that in our country this kind of expenditure is an 
extravagance which the public exchequer cannot be expected to 
bear. The decision to brief, at a very heavy price, a Senior Counsel 
practising in the Supreme Court appears to have been taken on the 
basis of the largeness of the contractor's claim (Rs. 85 lakhs) before 
the arbitrator. The stakes were, no doubt, heavy in this case, but 
the Committee cannot countenance the idea that except at stupen- 
dous cost the defence of Government's case before the arbitrator 
could not have been properly performed. Arbitration proceedings, 
in any case, do not normally require the most expensive type of 
counsel, and in this case, judging from its results, and also the man- 
ner of Government Counsel's functioning, the Committee are afraid s 
that the selection was unsound. The Cofnmittee further feel that, w 

after this unhappy experience, Government should evolve procedures 
whereby competent but not too expensive advocates, practising in 
the High Courts or even in iesser tribunals, can be requisitioned for 
more purposive espousal of Government cases. 

I 

It is strange that in selecting Government Counsel, the Law 
Ministry should have ignored its own standing counsel who, the 
Committee presume, are appointed on the basis of certain well- 
defined criteria. In this connection, the Committee have been 
infohed that while the Law Ministry does not normally engage 
counsel from outside the panel, the wishes of the administrative 



Mfnirtry concerned are taken into account in appointing counsel. 
The *mittee are of the view that, as far as poesible, arbitration 
proceedings like the one under examination should be conducted 
with arbitrators who are persons of proven integrity, judicially 
fnclined, fair and competent enough but not too expensive, and witb 
counsel who should be drawn from those echelons of the legal pro- 
feesion which are experienced and well versed in these rnauers but 
not unconscionably expensive. The Law Ministry, in particular, 
should be able to draw valuable lessons from the experience of thi8 
ca8e and play a more positive role in the conduct of Government's 
case8 W o r e  arbitrators and other judicial bodies. Government 
should also seriously consider the possibility of regulating the fees 
of arbitrators and counsel on a fixed lump-sum basis, depending 
upon the complexities of each case, instead of regulating such fees 
with reference to the number of hearings. 

5. 3 M/aOslina The Committee are concerned that there appears to be no specific 
machihery within Government to monitor and supervise concurrently 
thc conduct and progress of arbitration proceedings to which Gov- 
ernment is a party. The Committee learnt with consternation from 
the Low h t a r y  that so far as arbitrations are concerned, the Law 
Ministry suggests the names of counsel only and does not watch 
the progresa and expenses, and that apart from rhdering advice on 
qxdflc leg@ fssues which may be referred to it by the administratbq 



idinistries concerned, t'he Ministry does not kedp its& abreast ot 
what was happening in regard to the arbitration. Such a passive 
role, in the opinion of the Committee, is hardly becoming of an 
agency entrusted with the responsibility of safeguardihg Govern- 
ment's legal interests. The Ministry could and should play a more. 
positive role in such matters instead of remaining content with 
leaving the matter to the administrative M,inistries which, in any 
case, lack the necessary expertise and wherewithal and have to 
necessarily rely on the former. This is also not the first occasion 
when the Committee have found the Ministry's performance in legal 
matters somewhat wanting. The Committee are keen that Gov- 
ernment should take very serious note of this deficiency and ensure 
that the Law Ministry, instead of being a largely passive agency, 
invariably maintains a careful and thorough check on the conduct 
of arbitration and other legal proceedings involving Government. 
The country will suffer gravely if this is n6t done in a meanhgihl 
and purposive manner. 

In thB particular cad, though tlqe Ministries concerned felt from 
time to time that, pTim facie, there was something wrong with the 
conduct of the arbitration proceedings they appear to have some- 
what helplessly reconciled themselvek to the delay. A number of 
shortcomings on the part of Government have also been pointed out 
by the Arbitrator in his award. All this indicates that the conduct 
of the entire proceeidings was far from sawactory. Now that t@ 
arbitration proceedings have at last come to a close, a detailed probe 



must be undertaken not only into the causes of the peculiarly pro- 
longed arbitration proceedings but also of the delay in the depat- 
mental execution of the work. Responsibility of the delinquent 
officials should also be fixed and remedial measures adopted. 

. 5.26 do- 

Even after the prolonged arbitration proceedings, resulting in a 
net award of Rs. 15.70 lakhs to Government, the Committee learn 
that the contractor has decided to contest the award in Court, and 
that consequently the amount has not been decreed for recovery. 
The Committee fear that this is yet another ruse by the contractor 
to trap Government ino further expenditure and delay. The Corn- 
mitt* can only hope that commonsense and goodwill should prevail 
and that the court proceedings would and soon and the agony of 
the law's delay be minimised. 

The Committee learn that apart from Contract No. 1, the other 
components of Stage I of the project have been completed without 
any difficulty and that no unhappy experience has been reported in 
regard to the contractors entrusted with these works. The Com- 
mittee, however, find that the other major work of Stage I, the 
construct%on of the Cruiser Graving Dock, scheduled to be corn- 
pleted in January 1959 was actually completed only in November 
1960. One of the reasons for the deviation from the original schedule 
is stated to be 'delays for which the contractor was wholly respon- 



sible and: for which he was liable for liquidated damages'. The 
Committee would welcome some additional details in regard to thi, 
contractor's lapses in this case and would like to know the il~ldoZtIlt 
of liqutdated damages levied and recovered. 

There appears to have been some confusion over the provision 
proposed earlier, of a railway line inside the dockyard. The Com- 
mittee find that out of a total length of 1136 mdtres of railway me 
laid under Stage I at  a cost of Rs. 7.81 lakhs, 690 metres laid a t  a 
cost of Rs. 2.74 lakhs, between February 1970 and December 1970, 
has not been utilised so far. Various views on the utility of the 
railway l i ne  were expressed on different occasions by the #en 
Commodore Superintendent of the Naval Dockyard and the Naval 
Headquarters. Though the Consultants had recommended the laying 
of railway lines to feed the existing workshops to be moderniseil 
and the new ones to be established on the reclaimed land within 
the Dockyard, and the idea had also been accepted by Government, 
the plan for the construction of workshops in the Dockyard prepared 
subsequtmtly, in November 1989; by the National ' Industrikil 
Pedelopment Corporation, ndes ia ted  f ~ h e r  consultations and 
cEiscussions to revise the layout of workshops and roads so as to 
permit the Unking of the railway lines from the area reclaimed 
under Stage I to that being reclaimed under Stage XI. In the intePtm 
period, some ad-hoc facilities constructed to meet the Navy's imme- 
diate requirements appdar to have precluded the use of the railway 
line so far laid. The Committee feel that all this could have been 



avoided had the various components of the project been synchro- 
n i d  carefully with a little advance planning and steps taken tu 
coordinate, in an integrated manner, the various activities in the 
Dockyard, both present and future, by means of a perspective plan. 

The Committee have been assura in this connection by the re- 
presentative of the Ministry of Defence that there would be enough 
traffic to justify the railway line once the entire project is completed. 
The Committee trust that all necessary steps would be taken to 
ensure the optimum utilisation of this facility in the none-too-distant 
future and that the expenditure thereon would not ultimately prove 
to be infructuous. 

As regards Stage I1 of the Dockyard Expansion Scheme, the 
Committee are concernd to observe that though the Defence Com- 
mittee of the Cabinet had envisaged a period of 7 years (1964-65 to 
1970-71) for the completion of the works under thh stage, all the 
works are yet to be completed and that the administrative apparoval 
for this stage had not even speciffed any time schedule for the cam- 
pletion of these works. This indicates a serious lacuna in pro- 
gramming the works. For instance, though works 'A' unde~  Stage 
I1 have been completed, also after the scheduled date stipulated in 
the contract, in October 1973 and the basin is ready, the facrrrties 
provided could be put only to lirnitg use by the Naval ships as tht 



dredging of the basin to be executed under works 'B' had not beeP 
completed. This, to say the least, represents a sorry state of a&oirs. 

The Committee find that there had been considerable vacillation 
over the execution of works 'B'. Though a decision had been taken 
as early as October 1966 to execute these works departmentally by 
acquiring suitable plant and equipment, no tangible progress had 
been made in the matter till D e c e m h  1968 when a proposal was 
mooted by the Director General of the Expansion Scheme for exe- 
cuting the works through contractors. It took almost a year for 
this proposal to be approveld by Government and after a further 
lapse of four to six months, Government's approval to the Director 
General's proposal was finally communicated in April 1970. Thus, 
for almost four years no worthwhile progress had been made in 

tenders and to receive a single tender from a Yugoslav fkm, and 
i regard to these works. It took another year to advertise for global 

after examination of this tender and further negotiations, the con- 
tract was accepted only in January 1972. It  is distressing that a 
vital defence project should have been thus delayed on account of 
indecision and vacillation. The Committee take a serious view of 
the delay of about 16 months in the Defence Miniatry in communi- 
cating Government's approval to the proposal made by the Director 
General in December 1968 and desire that reasons therefor should 
be investigated with a view to fixing responsibiliQ. 

3'. 5.31 -do- The contractor for works 'A' and 'B' of Stage 11 is the m e  
Y U ~ O S ~ V  flrm and apparently no element of competitive ten& 
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was involved in entrusting works 'B' to a contractor. The Corn- 
mittee feel that the decision to entrust t h e e  works on contrm 
could have well been taken in November 1967 along with works 'A' 
or at least in December 1968 itself when formal proposa& in th& 
regard were made by the Director Feneral. It  has, however, been 
contended by Government spokesmen that these works could not 
be carried out simultaneously as all the dredging adjacent to-the 
break-water and in the working area of works 'A' could only be 
carried out after the break-water was completed and because works 
'B' also involved a certain amount of dredging in rocky strata re- 
quiring blasting. The Conimittee would like to know whethet tbe # 
consultants had also envisaged. a t  the time of splitting the works 
under Stage I1 into three groups 'A', 'B' and 'C' in October 1966 
(after the attempts to execu t  all the works as one contract had 
proved abortive) that works 'B' would have to be taken up only 
after the completion of works 'A'. and whether the possibility of 
dredging those areas away from the bred-water, excluding rock- 
blasting, had been explored so as to ensure that at least some d N g -  
ing was carried out simultaneously with works 'A'. 

32. 5-32 hl o Defence The works under Stage I1 were divided into groups 'A', 'B' and 
'C' on the advice of the Consultants. Since such a division appa- 
rently created more complications and made synchronisaticm of 
works 'A' and 'B' not technically feasible, the Committee would like 



to be informed w.hether any action has been taken or contemplated 
against the Consultants. 

As pointed out earlier, some delay had also occurred in the corn: 
pietion of works 'A'. The Committee find that though these works 
were to be completed in 60 months, that is, by November, 1972, the 
execution did not proceed according to schedule, on account of 
various difficulties, necessitating the revision of the time schedule 
periodically. While an extension of 115 days was considered neces- 
sary on account of existence in the sea-bed of rocks requiring 
blasting, which had not been detected during site investigations, a 
further extension of 185 days was granted to the contractor on- 
account of the changes ihtroduced, after the conclusion of the con- 
tract, in the d&ign of the caissons required for the break-water. The , 
Committee are surprised that though detailed bore-hole data to $ 
determine the sea-bed conditions had been collected with the hdlp 
of. a specialist firm (Cementation Co. LM.), the existence of rocks 
had not been detected during site investigation. Another insQ,nce 
w'here the bore-hole data furnished by this same firm for the a- 
pansion of Mormugao Port ultimately proved wrong has also been 
brought to the Committee's notice. Such recurrmtly incorrect esti- 
mates, leading to disputes and avoidable extra expenditure, would 
lead the Committee to conclude that the perfomce of thfs f k i  
has been far from satisfactory. The,Committee, thereim,  ask far an 
inquiry into the circumstances leading to incorrect estimaffon bf Hie 
sea-bed condftions, and for adoption of appropriate cdfiectfve 
measures. 
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M. 5-34 M ' o  Detcn~r As regards the change in the design of the caissons, the Com- 

mitted learn that this arose out of the revised electrical and m e c b  
nical requirements which were not projected earlier or were catered 
for ashore and had to be transferred to the caissons, consequeht 
upon the expansion of the Indian Navy and augmentation of the 
Naval Fleet with new acquisitions. The Committee find that a 
review of the scope of these services was undertaken only in mid- 
1968 and was referred to the Consultants only a year later. Since 
the delay is somewhat conspicuous, the Committee would like to 
know when the 'new acquisitions' of the Navy had been thought 
about and whether Government had not considered it necessary to 
review the requirements in this regard in the light of the e!xperie~# 8 
of the 1965 war. The reasons for one whole year's delay in referring 
the matter to the! Consultants also needs to be explained. 

Apart from the delay in the completion of works 'A', the Com- 
mittee find that on account of the changes in design, the consequent 
delay and increase in expenditurd for the execution of the conttact, 
the Yugoslav Arm have preferred a claim for Rs. 1.38 crores. This 
claim is stated to be under examination by a Negotiating Committee 
constituted in Deceknk 1974. Now that more than a yeor has 
elapsed since this Committee was constituted, the negotiationo 
should by now have been completed, if it has not atready been done, 
and adequatd steps taken to safeguard the financial interests of 
Government. 



More than 9 years have elapsed since the works under Stage I1 
were split up into three groups. Yet, works 'C' have not yet even 
been taken up for execut3on. The Committee have been informed 
(August, 1975) that the Consultants' report and estimates were re- 
ceived in April, 1975 and that these were under examination for the 
issue of administrative approval. While the Committee trust that 
these works would at least now be completed with the required 
expedition, they would like to know why it had not been possible 
to finalise the scope and quantum of these works for as long a period , 
as 9 years after the Consultants had suggested that theise works 
should be taken up separately as a separate group. 

Though the major portion of the civil engineering works have 
after long delay bekn completed, various mechanical and electrical 
services are yet to be provided to make the said works fully useful. 
The Committee are concerned that considerable dday has occurred 
in the pro~i 's io~ of these facilities. It  is not clear to the Committee 
why these services were sanctioned only on a provisional basis in 
1964 and why re-evaluation of the services, in the light of the 
changing requirements of the Navy. could not have been undertaken 
earlier than 1968-69, that is to say, considerably after the 1965 war. 
It is distressing that even after this 're-evaluation', it took about 3 
years for Government to give the 'Go ahead' sanction and yet an- 
other 2; years to conclude the 1st contract for a portion of the 
work. The contract for thel electrical services has been concluded 
only as recently as July, 1975 and that for the mechanical equipment 
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and pipe work services is still to be processed. The Committee are 
perplex& by this apparently lackadaisical approach and would 
like to be satisfied that all this delay in completing a strategic project 
which, presumably, has been urgently required by the Navy, was 
really unavoidable. 

38 5.38 7 &I o Defence While the representative of the Ministry of Defence conceded that 
with greater diligence the Expansion Project could have been 
completed earlier, he contended at the same time that the execution 
of the Expansion Project has been as per the budgeted allocation of 
resources. In this con te t ,  the Committee have to draw attention 
regretfullp to the Report of the Estimates Committee (1957-58) I 
wherein they had pointed out that against the estimated expenditure 
of Rs. 330 lakhs on the development of the Dockyard during the 
First Five Year Plan, the actual expehditure was Rs. 45 lakhs 
only." 

Viewed in retrospect, it is evident that there has been a t a y  
disturbing delay in completion of an essential national project.' 
AdmittcMlg, this delay has resulted in the postponement of the 
advantages initially anticipated. Though the extent to which tlPe 
operational efficiency of our Navy might have been adversely affeci 
ted by this delay may not be exactly quantified, the fact remains 



that the facilitie~ envisaged have not been adequately available, and 
there had to be much avoidable utilisation of the ships' own 
machinery, resulting in greater maintenance effort and longer re- 
fit periods. This is a sad deflection on the performance of our plan- 
ning and of our administration. The Committee trust that Govern- 
ment would conduct a careful reyiew of what went wrong at 
different stages of the Project, derize a lesson from this unhappy 
saga of delays and doldrums, and ensure that such defaults do not 
recur at least in national projects of strategic importance. 
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